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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards i0f7

Expressed in RMB millions

5t

Year Ended 31 December

Revenues

Other
operating income and

gains

Operating expenses

Operating profit/loss

Finance income/cost net

Profit/loss before income tax

Prof it/loss for the
year attributable to

equity holders of the Company

Earning/loss per share attributable

to
equity holders of the Company

RMB1

At 31 December

Cash and cash equivalents

Net current liabilities

Non-current assets

Long term borrowings including

current portion

Obligations under finance leases

including current portion

Total share
capital and reserves
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2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

1515

27380 37557 42534 41073 38989

245 424 488 672 1288

27562 40695 42894 56828 38456
63 2714 128 15083 1821

578 757 162 267 1549
528 3338 378 15256 249

418 3035 379 15269 169

0.09 0.62 0.08 3.14 0.026

1864 1987 1655 3451 1735

25548 24588 26098 43458 28641
52106 51725 57949 62652 64988

12659 14932 14675 15628 16928

10588 11949 16452 20809 19370

5561 2534 2361 13097 1235

The calculation of aarnings/ loss per share for 2005 2006 2007 and 2008 are based on the

consolidated profit/loss attributable to shareholders and 4866950000 shares in issue The

calculation of
earnings/ loss per share for 2009 is based on the consolidated pro flt/ loss

attributable to the then shareholders divided by the weighted average number of

6436828000 ordinary shares
outstanding

Z5151E 15iE2f
486695o00o5Q5f 15A5i15bF

i/15fl5 15i5-rf.PI
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SUMMARY OF ACGOUNTNG AND BUSNESS DATA 000

Prepared in accordance with PRC Accounting Standards .ffl 2IJfj

PROHT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009 J1

.ij

8MB million

Net Profit Ij 540

Income from Main Operations 1783

Income from Other Operations fth 800

Income from Investments 23
Net Income outside Business 1590

MAJOR ACCOUNTNG DATA HNANCAL DNDCATORS

Expressed in 8MB Million .b

2008 2009

j\s1E il14
Operation Revenue 41842.36 39831.33

Net Loss/Prof it Jf Ij 13927.66 539.74

Total Assets 73184.01 72018.68

Shareholders Equity 11065.15 3613.13

Loss/Earnings per
Share RMB if 2.86 0.08

Net assets
per

share RMB I1A 2.38 0.32

Notes

Calculation of major financial indicators

Earnings/loss per
share net

pro fit/loss weighted average number of ordinary shares QJ/ idt/
outstanding

Net assets per share shareholders equity at the end of the
year

total number of ordinary

shares at the end of the year
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SELECTED ARLINE OPERA11NG DATA

For the period of

January 2009to

31 December 2009

For the period of

January 2008 to

31 December 2008 Change

Capacity

ATK available tonne-kilometres D1 ATK
millions 12505.53 11642.23 7.42%

Domestic routes 7100.62 5658.36 25.49%

International routes 4846.17 5294.76 -8.47%

Regional routes iIi 558.14 689.10 -18.92%

ASK available seat-kilometres ASK
millions 84456.39 75964.28 11.18%

Domestic routes Jj 59235.02 47588.37 24.47%

International routes 21386.31 23813.57 -10.19%

Regional routes 3835.05 4562.34 -15.94%

AFTK available freight tonne-kilometres lt D1 AFTK

millions 4904.46 4805.44 2.06%

Domestic routes lA 1769.46 1375.41 28.65h

International routes lM 2921.40 3151.54 -7.30h

Regional routes th lt 213.59 278.49 -23.30%

Hours flown thousands /j\ H4 838.27 755.17 11.00%

Traffic

RIK revenue tonne-kilometres D4 RTK
millions 1908.69 7218.99 9.55%

Domestic routes 4694.69 3780.27 24.19%

International routes 2900.78 3056.25 -5.09%

Regional routes itlIM 313.22 382.46 -18.10%

RPK revenue passenger-kilometres RPK
millions 60942.09 53785.27 13.31%

Domestic routes 44375.10 35352.44 25.52%

International routes Ji 13993.70 15374.98 -8.98%

Regional routes lI ftj 257269 305786 15 87%

RFTK revenue freight torine kilometres 13 D4 RFTK

millions 247419 420 14 223%

Domestic routes 73313 621 89 17 89%

International routes 65619 687 45 85%

Regional routes itIM 8488 11080 2339%

Number of passengers carried

thousands 44042.99 37231.48 18.30%

Domestic routes ft 31984.73 30398.76 24.95%

International routes 4173.07 4696.34 -11.14%

Regional routes JtIMf 1885.19 2136.38 -11.76%

Weight of freight carried kg l3 if

millions 943.89 889.48 6.12%

Domestic routes 530.15 463.44 14.39%

International routes 347.76 350.13 -0.68%

Regional routes itt lti 65.97 75.91 -13.09%

Load factors

Overall load factor 63.24 62.01 1.23pts

Domestic routes 66.12 66.81 -O.69pts

International routes 5986 5772 l4pts

Regional routes ititlltf 56.06 55.50 O.S6pts
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SELECTED AIRLINE OPERATING DATA

For the period of

January2009 to

31 December 2009

nfljtç

L.ME

For the
period

of

January 2008 to

31 December 2008 Change

fl
Passenger load factor

12.16 70.80 1.36pts

Domestic routes
14.91 74.29 0.62pts

International routes ftit
65.43 64.56 0.8lpts

Regional routes 61.08 67.02 O.O6pts

Freight
load factor% l3 50.45 50.36 0.O9pts

Domestic routes fi 41.43 45.21 -3.l8pts

International routes 56.69 53.54 3.l5pts

Regional routes iAMW 39.14 39.79 -0.O5pts

Break-even load factor 65.95 90.71 -24.l6pts

Yieldsandcosts

Revenue tonne-kilometers yield Aol

8MB 4.61 5.38 -13.20%

Domestic routes ftit
5.30 5.87 -9.11%

International routes
3.41 4.65 -25.38%

Regional routes tAlMl 6.32 6.41 -1.40%

Passenger-kilometers yield

8MB 0.54 0.62 -12.90%

Domestic routes 2q
0.54 0.61 -11.48%

International routes
0.51 0.66 -22.13%

Regional routes ll 0.63 0.64 -1.56%

Freight
tonne-kilometers yield VI

BM8 1.61 2.21 -24.43%

Domestic routes ftitVI 1.13 1.26 -10.32%

International routes
1.18 2.42 -26.45%

Regional routes FIb
4.13 4.42 -6.56%

Available tonne-kilometers unit cost VI

8MB 3.08 4.88 -36.89%
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CHAIRMANS STATEMENT

Dear shareholders

am pleased to present the report on the operating results of China Eastern

Airlines Corporation Limited the Company and its subsidiaries collectively

the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009 On behalf of all the staff of

the Group would like to extend my sincere thanks to the shareholders for

their support of the Group

The financial crisis continued its effect in 2009 and substantially impacted the
global

economy The global civil aviation industry experienced the most serious recession since

World War Il and the international demand for aviation especially freight transportation

sulstantially decreased 2009 was also the most
challenging year for the development

of the Chinese economy since the turn of the century With this external environment

the Company adjusted its operating strategies in timely manner by responding to the

needs of the market and re allocating some of its international capacity to serve

domestic routes that were in greater demand Various departments of the Company

worked strenuously towards better operating results

In terms of passenger traffic the Group gathered its capacity to focus on core and key

markets with
high return and of focal importance to adjust the structure of its capacity

built up the brand of express and sub-express routes strengthened its network sales

capability
and focused on developing its transit services to

great
extent The number of

passengers using its transit services reached 1.56 million for the whole year It also

promoted its website direct-sale and telephone payment business The

Eastern Miles frequent flyer program was further developed and by the end of 2009

the frequent flyer program had approximately 6.03 million members

In terms of freight transport we have increased our cargo and freight operations Such

measures include
consolidating the management of bellyhold cargo space in passenger

aircraft and freight operations with cargo and implementing price bidding policy for

seat selling In addition we increase our efforts in marketing high-revenue cargo

operations and strenuously developed connecting flight transfer products We added

truck
flights services and pallet shipping services as well as the

signing of strategic

cooperation framework agreements with various entities which contributed to an

increase in our cargo marketing capability

In terms of services the Company attached importance to implementing brand strategy

and enriching the substance of its service to enhance service
quality and win trust in the

community It adhered to the notion of Customer-Oriented

and Dedicated Service Promotion of the Ling-yan brand was stepped up to

meet customer requirements and to create new service products Differentiated products

such asjffA Ewere
launched The service processes were refined to strengthen its transit services

Punctuality rate was stressed as measures to rectify the problem of flight delays

According to the statistics of the Civil Aviation Administration of China the
punctuality

rate of the Groups flights was 83.45% in the year ranking the Group No among civil

aviation operators for the second consecutive year

As the first cooperation partner
of the World Expo 2010 Shanghai the designated carrier

for passenger aviation and the designated airline for the World Expo Shanghai Forum

the Group adheres to the notion of f%iM Participating

in Promoting and Serving the World Expo Shanghai and has launched series of

marketing products and service initiatives including and

With
respect to environmental

protection and technological application adhering to the

social notion of balancing corporate efficiency and environmental protection and the

national
policy

of energy conservation and emission reduction the Group strived to

reduce its fuel consumption and implemented low-carbon emission
policy

with the aim

of achieving both economic and social benefits through corporate social
responsibility

ij ff

fjtj ffif

ft iL

ti t1tfft
fft fl
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CHAIRMANS STATEMENT

OUTLOOK FOR 2010
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The Group would like to caution readers of this report that the operations of the

Company as an air
transport enterprise that performs public

service functions is linked

closely to the development of the political and economic situations both internationally

and locally As such the operation of the Group and of the whole sector is to

significant extent subject
to the risks associated with geopolitics

and the incidence of

unexpected events The 2009 annual report of the Group includes but is not limited to

certain forward-looking statements such as those on the economies of the world

including the PRC and the aviation market Such forward-looking statements are subject

to many uncertainties and risks

The Group expects an ongoing recovery of the
global economy in the first half of 2010 in

which Asian economies will take the lead in the
global recovery From the perspective

of

the industry
with the gradual recovery of the international market arid the continual rise

of the domestic market it is anticipated that 2010 will witness the stabilisation and

improvement of the international market whilst the
freight transportation market will

see an overall recovery From the perspective of the Group there will be significant

opportunities
for the Groups development as the World Expo 2010 Shanghai is expected

to draw customers to the Shanghai market and the synergy resulting from the

completion of the absorption of Shanghai Airlines by the Group In 2010 the operating

targets of the Group including Shanghai Airlines are to achieve total traffic volume of

11912 million tonne-kilometers number of passenger carried of 67.06 million weight of

freight to be transported of 1.41 35 million tonnes passenger
load factor of 74.59% and

freight load factor of 65.32%

Based on these strategic targets and by implementing such strategies the Group has

defined seven battles that it must win including the successful completion of the

absorption of Shanghai Airlines provision of the best service to the hub construction and

information-based construction for the World Expo 2010 Shanghai All staff members

have already signed their performance-based contracts which clearly define the

allocation of work duties and functions

To achieve its pre-set goals the Group will focus on the following aspects in 2010

Maintain continuous safety
and uphold the importance of safety

Adhere to efficiency and enhance competitiveness By meeting industry

benchmarks the Group will strive to improve the profitability of its passenger

transportation on an ongoing basis The Group will enhance its capability on

international routes in the earliest possible timeframe Measures will be taken to

enrich and promote the Groups offerings The Group will expand its marketing

channels establish new product offerings build up marketing system focusing

on customers In addition the Group will focus on the organisational

transformation of its marketing structure By doing these the Group is poised to

change the situation of its freight transport
within short timeframe

Accelerate structural adjustment and improve cost control This will include

optimising
the structure of the Groups fleet to reduce operating costs adjusting

the structure of assets and liabilities to reduce finance costs adjusting the

structure of resource allocation to enhance the resource utilisation rate and

adjusting the structure of routes in order to increase margins
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Foster management on detailed basis and take pragmatic approach to

consolidating management This will include measures to enhance rapid

improvement of the Groups management and the overall rationalisation of its

management processes It will systematically focus on more advanced companies

strengthen its risk management and leverage information technology to increase

management efficiency and

Highlight strategic themes consolidate communication and implementation

strengthen strategic communication focus on handling strategic support and

strategic implementation

On behalf of the board of directors of the Company the Board would like to express

my gratitude to all of the shareholders

Liu Shaoyong

Chairman

Shanghai the PRC

19 April 2010
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In 2009 the Group operated approximately 6994 scheduled flights per week serving

total of 21 countries and regions including 146 domestic and foreign cities In addition

the Group was able to provide more comprehensive air transportation services to major

markets around the world through international cooperation efforts such as code sharing

and special prorate agreements In 2009 the Group has completed Ii the purchase and

finance-lease of total of 21 aircraft to add to its fleet including ten A320 aircraft

seven 8737-700 aircraft and four 9737-800 aircraft ii the operating-lease of two

9737-800 aircraft and di the surrender of the lease of six aircraft including five

9737-300 aircraft and one 9737-600 aircraft As at 31 December 2009 the Group

operated fleet of 257 aircraft including 231 passenger jets each with capacity of

over 100 seats and 11 jet freighters

In 2009 the Groups flights accounted for 37.02% and 29.21% of all flights at Hongqiao

Airport and Pudong Airport respectively in terms of flight take-off and landing statistics

and accounted for 36.31% and 28.86% of all flights at Hongqiao Airport and Pudong

Airport respectively in terms of passenger carried The daily average utilization rate of

aircraft was 9.4 hours representing an increase of 0.3 hours compared to the same

period in 2008

nTWJL
6894Hih

146Ifttho lfft
SPAtflMP

-niIAfl
-tff105A320f5if 74B737-700

45B737-900fffl

QB737-90054 UH UT6Q
59737-300fff fff ffB737-800fff ff5 ISIS ISWWic ETh f5

2S7IS5IfIS IS7tff231IS100IStkfl
ISIS

fl 7L It IS IS IA IS IS IS

ISIS sIASIIIS 37.02%Sf5

2811% ISThISe
t53ff4%%ty36.31%1528.86%

IS ff15 IS9.4 It it IS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND /-L
flJW

Number of aircraft for the year ended 31 December 2009

flWLfl E-f-- H4IW
Method of Introduction

ISftfl
Self-owned and Under

No Model under finance leases operating leases Subtotal

i-it

A340600

A340300

A330300 15

A330200

9737700 24 15 39

9737800 13

A320 57 26 83

A319 10 15

A321 15 15

10 9767300

11 MDSO

12 9737300 16 17

13 CRJ200

14 EMB145L9 10 10

15 A3006009 passenger aircraftISIS

16 A3006001l cargo aircraftISIS

17 MDliE

18 8747400E9

Totalt-It 180 77 257

Proportion ft 70.04% 29.96% 100%
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REVEW OF OPERATONS AND MANAGEMENTS DDSCUSSON AND ANALYSOS

REVUEW OF OPERA11NG RESULTS

The following discussion and analysis should be read together with our audited financial

statements and the accompanying notes prepared in accordance with International

Financial Beporting Standards IFRS that are included elsewhere in this annual report

The financial data presented in this section are derived from our audited financial

statements prepared in accordance with IFFS

Operetional Revenues

Compared to the same period in 2008 the Groups total traffic volume increased by

5% to 7909 million tonne kilometers in 2009 Traffic revenues decreased by

RMB1 919 million to RM836 925 million
representing

494% decrease compared to

the same period in 2008 This was mainly due to the decrease in per unit revenue as

result of the decrease in fuel surcharges income as well as the lack of demand
resulting

from the financial crisis

The Groups passenger revenues amounted to RMB32 800 million in 2009 representing

decrease of 2.05% over the same period in 2008 and accounting for 88.83% of the

Groups total traffic revenues in 2009 The volume of passenger traffic was 60942

million passenger-kilometers representing 13.31% increase compared to the same

period in 2008 It was primarily due to the decrease in fuel surcharges income

The Groups domestic passenger traffic volume excluding passenger traffic volume in

Hong Kong Macao and Taiwan routes was 44376 million passenger-kilometers

representing 25.52% increase compared to the same period in 2008 Compared to the

same period in 2008 revenues increased by 12.38% to RMB24038 million accounting

for 73.29% of the Groups passenger revenues Such increase in traffic volume and

revenue was mainly due to the positive adjustment of our transportation capacity and

the remarkable growth in and allocation to domestic passenger traffic capacity which

increased by 24.47% compared to the same period in 2008

The passenger traffic volume on the Groups regional routes Hong Kong Macao and

Taiwan routes was 2573 million passenger-kilometers representing 15.87% decrease

compared to the same period in 2008 Compared to the same period in 2008 revenues

decreased by 16.96% to RMB1 630 million accounting for 4.97% of the Groups

passenger revenues The passenger traffic capacity on the Groups regional
routes

decreased by 15.94% compared to the same period
in 2008 This was mainly due to the

increased competition and more significant
decrease in

transport capacity which led

to slight decrease in the passenger-kilometers yield

The Groups international passenger traffic volume was 13994 million passenger-

kilometers representing 8.98% decrease compared to the same period in 2008

Compared to the same period in 2008 revenues decreased by 29.61% to RMB7133

million accounting for 21.74% of the Groups passenger revenues The passenger traffic

capacity on international routes decreased by 10.19% compared to the same period in

2008 This was mainly due to the intensified effect of the global financial crisis on

international air transportation as result of which the Group continued to reduce the

number of flights on long-distance routes to Europe USA and other destinations and the

substantial decrease in international fuel surcharges

The Groups cargo and mail traffic volume was 2474 million tonne-kilometers

representing 2.23% increase compared to the same period in 2008 Compared to the

same period in 2008 the cargo and mail traffic revenues decreased by 2303% to

RMB4124 million accounting for 11.17% of the Groups total traffic revenues in 2009

Revenue from air and mail traffic via bellyhold cargo space in passenger aircraft was

RMB1725 million representing 41 .83% of the freight revenue and 4.67% of

transportation revenue The tonne-kilometers yield for cargo and mail traffic decreased

by 24.43% compared to the same period
in 2008 which was resulted from the financial

crisis which caused substantial decrease in international and regional freight

transportation capacity of the Company and caused
significant

decrease in cargo and

mail revenue There were initial signs of recovery for the freight transportation market in

the fourth quarter of 2009 however this was not sufficient to offset the impact of the

financial crisis on the Companys freight transportation business

79.09%O

A%A369.25tt
19.191%PC 4.94%iJ

L7O

A32B.OOftA

Afft88.83%
i6O9.42f%
13.31%

LA Aftlt25.52%
24Q.38ft.A

12.38% PA73.29%

tjflGS

f25.73%

Aft%-15.87%
A16.30%
16.96%

15.94%

139.94%i tbA
1A71.33%

ft1J21.74%

5ffP10.19% tL
240

f2.23% AA
41.245A

11.17%J5A
f517.25ftA 4Aty41.83%
Ab4.67%
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Operating expenses

In 2009 the Group implemented stringent controls over its capital expenditures and

actively adjusted its debt structure to strengthen fund management and reduce finance

costs

Compared to the same period
in 2008 the Groups total operating costs decreased by

32.33% to RMB38456 million

Expenditure on aviation fuel was RMB1 2255 million representing decrease of 33.71%

compared to the same period in 2008 This was mainly due to decrease of

approximately 38.57% in the average price of aviation fuel compared to the same period

in 2008 The Groups total aviation fuel consumption in 2009 was approximately 2.63

million tonnes representing an increase of 8.23% compared to the same period
in 2008

In 2009 the expenditure on aviation fuel accounted for 31.87% of the Groups total

operating costs

Takeoff and landing charges were RMB5460 million representing an increase of 3.41%

compared to the same period in 2008 primarily due to the increased number of take-offs

and landings of approximately 14.87% as compared to the same period in 2008

Depreciation and amortization was RMB5203 million representing an increase of 8.80%

compared to the same period
in 2008 primarily

due to the expansion of the scale of the

Groups operations and an increase in the number of aircraft

Wages salaries and benefits expenses amounted to RMB5149 million representing an

increase of 13.29% compared to the same period in 2008 mainly due to the Group

continuing to expand its core businesses

Office administration and other operating expenses were RMB3752 million

representing
decrease of 7.50% over the same period

in 2008 primarily due to the

Groups stepped-up efforts in its control over controllable costs which led to general

decrease in various costs and expenses

Maintenance costs amounted to RMB3019 million representing decrease of 7.76%

over the same period in 2008 This was primarily due to decrease in maintenance costs

realised by not sending aircraft to foreign countries for maintenance as result of the

increase in domestic maintenance capacity

Aircraft operating lease expenses were RMB2518 million representing decrease of

7.93% over the same period in 2008 This was primarily due to the surrender of
operating

leases for six aircraft

Impairment losses for assets amounted to RMB1O9 million representing decrease of

96.34% over the same period
in 2008 This decrease was primarily due to the impairment

provisions made in 2008 for goodwill and certain models of aircraft and relevant flight

equipment to be phased out and the impairment provisions
made for the fixed assets

held for sale

Selling and marketing expenses were RMB1978 million representing an increase of

26.55% over the same period of 2008 This was mainly result of an increase in the

number of passengers carried and the corresponding increase in agency business

handling fees

Food and beverage expenses were RMB1 201 million representing decrease of 9.08%

compared to the same period
in 2008 This was primarily

due to the substantial decrease

in the unit cost of food and beverage compared to the same period
last year as result

of the Groups stringent control over the procurement costs of food and beverage and

related supplies

The amount of civil aviation infrastructure levies payable to the Civil Aviation

Administration of China amounted to RMB89O million representing an increase of

15.58% compared to the same period in 2008 which was primarily due to the substantial

increase in the number of domestic take-off and landing compared to the same period in

2008 as result of the Groups adjustment of its capacity towards domestic routes
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Other operating leases rentals amounted to RMB4O7 million representing an increase of

10.30% over the same period in 2008 which was primarily due to the rentals of the

newly leased premises for passenger traffic and freight transport businesses at the

Shanghai Pudong Airport

Ground services and other charges were RMB29O million representing an increase of

7.81% over the same period
in 2008 which was primarily

due to the expansion of the

Companys logistics business

Changes in financial derivatives fair value through profit or loss resulted in reversal of

RMB3775 million compared to loss of RMBG401 million during the same period in

2008 It was mainly due to the increase of 79.54% in international oil prices as at the

end of 2009 compared with the end of 2008

Other Operating Income and other gains

The Groups other operating income and other gains primarily
includes government

subsidies and income from disposal of aircraft and relevant assets Other operating

income and other gains increased from RMB672 million in 2008 to RMB1 288 million in

2009 primarily
due to refund of civil aviation infrastructure levies of RMB832 million in

2009 There was no other
operating

income and other
gains

in 2008

Finance Costs

In 2009 the Groups finance revenue was HMB2O5 million and finance costs were

RMB1 755 million primarily
due to the substantial decrease in

foreign exchange gain

compared to the same period
of last year

Profit

As result of the above the Groups profit attributable to shareholders for the year

ended 31 December 2009 was RMB169 million

Liquidity and Capital Structure

As of 31 December 2008 and 2009 the Groups cash and cash equivalents amounted to

RMB3 451 million and RMB1 735 million
respectively

In 2008 and 2009 the net cash

generated from the Groups operating activities amounted to RMB2 856 million and

RMB3 429 million respectively In 2008 and 2009 the net cash used in the Groups

investment activities amounted to 8MB925 million and RMB7 236 million respectively In

2008 the net cash outflow from the Groups financing activities was RMB92 million

mainly for the repayment of long-term loans finance leases and short-term loans The

net cash inflow from the Groups financing activities in 2009 was RMB2086 million

mainly bank loans and the issuance of new shares

The Group generally operates with net current liabilities As at 31 December 2009 the

Groups current liabilities exceeded its current assets by RM828 648 million Details of

the gearing ratio and the basis on which the gearing ratio is computed are set out in note

3b to the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS
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As of 31 December 2DD8 and 20D9 the total amount of the Groups short-term loans

were RMB1 9474 million and RMB84D7 million respectively
and the Groups long-term

loans were RMB1 5628 million and RMB1 6928 million respectively
As of 31 December

2DD8 the Groups long-term loans payable within two years from three to five years and

beyond five years were RMB11187 million RMB3666 million and RMBJ75 million

respectively as compared to RMB6637 million RMB6166 million and RMB4125 million

respectively as of 31 December 2DD9

The Groups obligations under finance leases as of 31 December 2DD8 and 2DD9 were

RMB2O8D9 million and RMB1937D million respectively As of 31 Decomber 2D08 the

Groups lease obligations payable within two years from three to five years and beyond

five years were RMB3933 million RMB62D3 million and RMB1D673 million

respectively as compared to RM84219 million RMB6785 million RMB8366 million as

of 31 December 2DD9

The Group generally finances its purchase of aircraft through finance leases and bank

loans secured by its assets As of 31 December 2DD9 the total value of the Groups

mortgaged assets amounted to RMB1 3678 million representing an increase of 56.8D%

from RMB8723 million as at the end of 2DD8

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in note 47 to the financial

statements prepared in accordance with IFRS

Details of the acquisition and disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies in

2DD9 are set out in item in the session headed Significant Events in the Report of

Directors

2$HflflflA
1944tftAHAAA84.O7MAO ftftj

lA156.28MAt LA 169.28

111.87

MA A36.66AAA7.75MA
if AflYLAnftE HAAIA

AAAA55.37MA AMA
61.66 tA 41.25

AnftAn
AflflAAJflAAAAA

A2D8.09A.APAAA193JOAAAAH-n HAAflAAA
fti mi fti fti

AtAAiAAAA39.33AA AMA
62.O3AAAAMA1OG.73AA 7t1AA
flYLAH-flH AAAIMA
AifiAAMA42.19AA AMA67.8SAAA
ALA A83.66AA

AflMAOflA AAWAJ
AAflALAMAAAo fl-WYL
AnlifHlif AflAAflMA
AMA136.78AA
A87.23AjctRAAJt T56.8D%

AM
AA8iOAAA8AAA47

AAAAflSAAAIMAAI
SMAMA AAAAAA7A

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANPASV
Eflfl 4i4fi

tAMAMAA -5ftrA



000013
REVEW OF DPERATONS AND MANAGEMENTS DSGUSSON AND ANALYSS

CAPITAL EXPENEUTLIRES

According to the contracted agreements as at 31 December 2009 we expect our capital

exponditures for aircraft engines and related equipment to be in aggregate

approximately RMB741B1 million including RMB1O480 million in 2010 and RMB11082

million in 2011 in each case subject to contractually stipulated
increase or any increase

relating to inflation We plan to finance our capital commitments through combination

of funds generated from operation existing credit facilities bank loans leasing

arrangements and other external financing arrangement

CRFHCAL OIJNTNGPOUCES

Critical accounting policies are defined as those that are reflective of significant

judgments and uncertainties and potentially result in materially different results under

different assumptions and conditions

Dur audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with

IRIS Our principal accounting policies are set forth in Note to our audited consolidated

financial statements IFRS
requires

that we adopt the accounting policies and make

estimates that our Directors believe are most appropriate
in the circumstances for the

purposes of giving true and fair view of our results and financial position However

different policies estimates and assumptions in critical areas could lead to materially

different results The critical accounting policies adopted and estimates made in the

preparation
of these financial statements are identified as follows

Estimated impairment of property plant and equipment and intangible

assets

The Group tests whether property plant
and equipment and intangible assets

have been impaired in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2m
to the financial statements The recoverable amounts of cash generating units

have been determined based on value-in-use calculations These calculations use

cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management and

certain key assumptions such as passenger kilometres yield level load factor

aircraft utilisation rate and discount rates etc

jbj Revenue reoognition

The Group recognises traffic revenues in accordance with the accounting policy

stated in Note 2e to the financial statements Unused tickets are recognised in

traffic revenues based on current estimates Management annually evaluates the

balance in the SlAG and records any adjustments which can be material in the

period
the evaluation is completed These adjustments result from differences

between the estimates of certain revenue transactions and the timing of

recognising revenue for any unused air tickets and the related sales price and are

impacted by various factors including complex pricing structure and interline

agreements throughout the industry which affect the timing of revenue

recognition

cj Erequent flyer programme

The Company operates frequent flyer programme called Eastern Miles that

provides travel awards to programme members based on accumulated miles

portion
of passengers revenue attributable to the award of frequent flyer benefits

is deferred and recognised when the miles have been redeemed or have expired

The deferment of revenue is estimated based on historical trends of redemptions

which is then used to project the expected utilisation of these benefits Any

remaining unutilised benefits are recognised as deferred revenue
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Deprecia LIOP of components related to ovetao costs \d

Depreciation of componenfs related to airframe and engine overhaul costs are

based on the Groups historical experience with similar airframe and engine

models and taking into account
anticipated

overhauls costs timeframe between

each overhaul ratio of actual flying hours and estimated flying hours between

overhauls Different judgments or estimates could significantly affect the

estimated
depreciation charge and the results of operations

00001
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el Provision for costs of retorn condition checks for aircraft and engines

ender operating leases

ci AL

Provision for the estimated costs of return condition checks for aircraft and

engines under operating leases is made based on the estimated costs for such

return condition checks and
taking

into account anticipated flying hours flying

cycle and timeframe between each overhaul These judgments or estimates are

based on historical experience on returning similar airframe and engine models

actual costs incurred and aircraft and engines status Different judgments or

estimates could significantly atfect the estimated provision for costs of return

condition checks

if Retirement henef its

The Group operates and maintains defined retirement benefit plans which provide

retirees with benefits
including transportation subsidies social activity subsidies

as well as other welfare The cost of providing the aforementioned benefits in the

defined retirement benefit plan is actuarially determined and recognised over the

employees service period by utilising various actuarial assumptions and using the

projected
unit credit method in accordance with the accounting policy stated in

Note 2w to the financial statements These assumptions include without

limitation the selection of discount rate annual rate of increase of per capita

benefit payment and employees turnover rate The discount rate is based on

managements review of local
high quality corporate bonds The annual rate of

increase of benefit payments is based on the general local economic conditions

The employees turnover rate is based on historical trends of the Group Additional

information
regarding

the retirement benefit
plans

is disclosed in Note 3G to the

financial statements

Deferred income tax

In assessing the amount of deferred tax assets that need to be recognised in

accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note
2jjj to the financial

statements the Group considers future taxable income and ongoing prudent and

feasible tax planning strategies In the event that the Groups estimates of

projected future taxable income and benefits from available tax strategies are

changed or changes in current tax regulations are enacted that would impact the

timing or extent of the Groups ability to utilise the tax benefits of net operating

loss
carry

forwards in the future adjustments to the recorded amount of net

deferred tax assets and taxation expense would be made

jhj Usefel lives of property plant and eqoipment

The Groups management determines the estimated useful lives and related

depreciation charges for its property plant and equipment This estimate is based

on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property plant and

equipment of similar nature and functions It could change significantly as

result of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to severe

industry cycles Management will increase the depreciation charge where useful

lives are less than
previously

estimated lives or it will write-off or write-down

technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold
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SK ANALYSiS

Interest Rate Fluctuation Risk

The Groups total interest-bearing liabilities as of 31 December 2008 and 2009

were RMB55910 million and RMB4405 million respectively including long-

term and short-term loans and finance leases payable of which short-term

liabilities accounted for 50.85% and 32.34% respectively and part of the long-

term interest-bearing
liabilities were liabilities with variable interest rates Both

were affected by the fluctuation in current market interest rates

The Groups interest-bearing liabilities were mainly denominated in US dollars and

Renminbi As of 31 December 2008 and 2009 the Groups liabilities denominated

in US dollars accounted for 58.04% and 68.81% of the total liabilities respectively

while the liabilities denominated in Renminbi accounted for 41.56% and 30.94%

of the total liabilities respectively The fluctuations in the US dollar and the

Renminbi interest rates significantly affected the Groups financing costs

Exchange Rate Fluctuation Rsl

Since 21 July 2005 the Chinese government reformed the Renminbi exchange

rate system and established floating exchange rate system in which the

exchange rate would be adjusted and managed based on market supply and

demand with reference to basket of foreign currencies The fluctuation in

Renminbi exchange rate is affected by the domestic and international economy

the political situation and the currency supply and demand of the currency and

thus the Renminbi exchange rate in the future may therefore be very different

from the current exchange rate

The Group operates its business in many countries and territories The Group

generates its revenue in different currencies and its foreign currency liabilities at

the end of the period are much higher than its
foreign currency assets The Groups

major liability item purchases or leases of aircraft is mainly priced
and settled in

currencies such as US dollars In addition fluctuations in exchange rates will

affect the Groups costs incurred from foreign purchases such as aircraft flight

equipment and aviation fuel and take off and landing charges in foreign airports

As of 31 December 2009 the Groups total interest bearing liabilities denominated

in
foreign

currencies converted to Renminbi amounted to RMB3O876 million of

which the US dollar liabilities accounted for 99.63% Therefore in circumstances

with
large

fluctuations ri exchange rates the exchange loss arising on the

translation of
foreign currency denominated liabilities will be greater which in

turn affects the
profitability

and development of the Group The Group usually uses

hedging contracts for foreign currencies to reduce the risks in exchange rates for

foreign currency revenue from ticket sales and expenses which are to be paid in

foreign currencies Foreign currency hedging mainly involves the sales of

Japanese Yen or the purchase of US dollars at fixed exchange rates As of 31

December 2009 the foreign currency hedging contracts held by the Group which

are still open amounted to notional amount of US$82 million 31 December

2008 US$121 million which will expire between 2010 and 2017

The Group recorded decrease in net exchange gains during
the reporting period

As of 31 December 2008 nd 2009 the Groups exchange gains were RMB1 958

million and RMB49 million respectively Due to the large
value of

existing net

foreign currency liabilities the Groups results will be adversely affected if the

Renminbi depreciates against the US dollar or the rate of appreciation of the

Renminbi against the US dollar decreases in the future
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Fuel Herlging Risk

In order to control fuel costs the Group entered into fuel hedging transactions

using
financial derivative products linked to the

price
of

underlying assets such as

United States Wil crude oil and Singapore jet
fuel

during previous years In the

face of continuing increases in fuel prices the Group reduced the impact of the

fluctuation in aviation fuel prices through various financial derivative instruments

For the years 2008 and 2009 the Group hedged 41.58% and 52.59% of its annual

fuel consumption respectively

The Group engaged in aviation fuel hedging for the purpose of locking
in aviation

fuel costs By selecting appropriate instruments the Group locked in costs within

hedged price range However high fluctuations in aviation fuel
prices exceeding

the locked-in price ranges has resulted in the Group incurring actual realised and

unrealised settlement losses

POUCY MPACT

On 11 November 2009 the National Development and Reform Commission of the

Peoples Republic of China the NDRC and the Civil Aviation Administration of China

jointly
issued the

hereinafter referred to as

the Notice which became effective on 14 November 2009 The notice clarified the

relationship
between fuel surcharges and the consolidated purchase cost of aviation fuel

in the PAC and provided standard for
calculating

the cap amount of fuel surcharges

Airline companies may within prescribed scope make its own decision as to whether

to impose fuel surcharges determine the
pricing structure for fuel surcharges and

determine the time of implementation all of which shall be implemented upon

publication
of such decisions to the general public and filing with the NDRC and the

Civil Aviation Administration of China
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 December 2009 the Group had approximately 45938 employees the majority

of whom worked in the PRC The Groups employee compensation is primarily composed

of basic salary and performance-based bonus There were no material labor disputes

between the Group and its employees and the Group did not experience significant

loss of employees or encounter any major difficulties in recruiting new employees

TAXAT ON

The Company is subject to income tax at the rate of 20% 2008 18% Our effective tax

rate however may be higher
than the rate of 20% because some of our subsidiaries

were incorporated
in

jurisdictions
where the

applicable
income tax rate is 25% rather

than 20% in 2009 We had carried forward tax losses of approximately RMB12586

million as of 31 December 2009 2008 RMB1 1465 million which can be used to set off

against future taxable income between 2010 and 2014
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The Board is pleased to present the audited financial report of the Group for the year

ended 31 December 2009

OUP cTvmlES AM3 RESUL.TS

The Company is one of the three largest air carriers in the PRC based on tonne

kilometres and number of passengers carried in 2009 and is the primary air carrier

serving Shanghai the
largest economic trading and financial centre of the PRC The

results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009 and the financial
position

of

the Company and the Group as at that date prepared in accordance with IFRS and PRC

Accounting Standards are set out in the financial statements

Details of the Companys principal subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the financial

statements of the Group prepared in accordance with IFRS

The geographical analysis
of the Groups revenue from its business is as follows

NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2009 the total number of registered shareholders of the Company

was 143059 of which 142245 are holders of shares and 813 are holders of shares

lEA jAElE

WvitThlA
51

EH- iEliI

PRC Accounting

Standards

RMBOOO

IFRS

8MB 000

RR143058
142245 Hff5813

Domestic 27482611 26887613

Regional Hong Kong Macao and Taiwan 5f 1988964 1947273

International 10361756 10154773

Total fIR II- 39831331 38989659

DVWENDS

According to the financial statements prepared in accordance with PRC Accounting fIR fIR Ru fIR RI fR

Standards the Company incurred net profit of RMB54D million for the year 2009 and fIR 2I HI 51 51

the total accumulated losses of the Company as at 31 December 2009 amounted to 515.4051 7L HI

RMB1B995 million The Board does not recommend payment of any dividend for the lRf 5151 5151169.9551 $51
financial year ended 31 December 2009 5151 51515151 HI51RR

SHARE CAPTAL STRUCTURE 51 51

As at 31 December 2009 the share capital structure of the Company is set out as 5151 HI 51 HI 51

follows

Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares shareholding

Ashares A151

Listed shares with trading moratorium 51 5151 51 fIfI SR 5151 5691375000 59.40

Listed shares without
trading

moratorium 515151 51 SR SR 5151 396000000 4.13

shares 51 3494325000 36.47

Total number of shares 15151 fIR fIR 9581700000 100.00
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS

SUBSTANTAL SHAREHOLDERS

nnnO ci

JULJ

So far as the directors of the Company the Director are aware each of the
following

persons not being Director chief executive supervisor of the Company or member

of the Companys senior management had as at 31 December 2DD9 an interest and

or short position in the Companys shares or underlying shares as the case may be

which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited the Hong Kong Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions and of

Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance the SF01 or was otherwise as at 31

December 2009 interested in 5% or more of any class of the then issued share
capital

of

the Company or was otherwise as at 31 December 2DC9 substantial shareholder as

defined in the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited the Listing Rules of the Company

fl$31

Based on the in formation available to the Directors as at 31 December 2009 including such

information as was available on the website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and so far as they

are aware of and understand as at 31 December2009

Such shares were held by 31313131 3131 3173%2 31 CES Global Holdings

Hong Kong Limited CES Global in the capacity of beneficial owner which in turn is

100% held by CEA Holding

Among the 3471070039 shares held by HKSCC Nominees Limited 1927375000

shares frepresenting approximately 55 1G% of the Companys then total issued shares

were held by CEA Global in the capacity of benefimal owner which in turn was owned as to

100% by CEA Holding

Among the 3471070039 shares held by HKSCC Nominees Limited 1B907B000 shares

representing approximately 5.41% of the Companys then total issued shares were held

by China National Aviation Corporation Group Limited in the capacity of beneficial owner

which in turn was ultimately 100% controlled by China NationalAviation Holding Company

31A%131$
31311 31 311W 31.31 31313131313 31

31
31311W 313103131313131 313103313131

31331313131313133
31 XV 31312331313131A1WAt23131
31313131313131 Aft 31 3134
3131 31/1W3khIA 313133
n3131i31n3 31 3312fr31%fl
11031 3131313 4315% 31313131
31 31313133n31313131n3E

31311331311313131313131313131

3131313131 3131 313

Interest

As at 31 December 2009
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Approximate Approximate Approximate

percentage percentage percentage

shareholding in shareholding in shareholding in

the Companys the Companys the Companys

Number ot total issued total issued total issued

shares held share capital shares shares
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Shod position

China Eastern Air Holding Company

tEA Holding shares

31 I31fr31$313131 3131 48313754tt 50A2% 79.37%

CEA Holding Note shares

31031 Qft.j311 H31 1927375ttO 20.12% 55.16%

HKSCC Nominees Limited Notes to shares

t31tf3313131WAff 315

131 3123 3471t70039 36.23% 99.33%

Notes
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Save as disclosed above based on the information available to the Directors and so far

as they are aware as at 31 December 2009 among the 3471070039 shares held

by HKSCC Nominees Limited no other person had any interest or short
position

in the

Companys shares or underlying shares as the case may be which would fall to be

disclosed to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange under the
provisions

of

Divisions and of Part XV of the SF0

According to the relevant disclosure requirements laid down by the China Securities

Regulatory Commission CSRC as at the end of the reporting period the 10 largest

registered
shareholders and the 10

largest registered
listed stock shareholders on the

register of members and their respective shareholdings are as follows

The largest registered shareholders of the Compaoy sod their respeotive

shore heidi
rigs

ft ft Oft ft ft dl ft ft 11 ft ft ft ft

ftOOftg ftnftftJsftn Hf
if tAJAftftfttAft

ft3471070O39ftHftt

ft ft ft to ft ft ft ft fT ft ft ft ft ft ft ft

ft ft ft ft ft ft ft ft ft ft ft ft ft ft

TXVftft2ft3ftftIT Aft ft ftIOAAA
Oftfl

AtAt ftftftflftftt ftft
Jftftftftftftt Skftftft

ft ft ft ft ft ft ft 10 ft ft ft ft ft ft ft 10 ft ft

LftftftftftftftinftdOft

/\1T
nj5r iu-

Name of

shareholders

CEA HOLDING

ftftn

HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED

including CES GlobaI

ft ft ft ft

China National Aviation Fuel

Holding Co

ft ft ft ft ft ft ft ft ft ft

Aerospace Capital Holding

Co Ltd

ft ft ft ft ft ft ft ft

ftftftft

Aerospace Science Technology

Finance Co Ltd

ftftftftnftft
ft ft ft ft

Sinotrans Air Transportation

Development Co Ltd

tOtftftftTftftft

ftftftft

Dongguan Caixin Oevelopment

Co Ltd

ftftAAtftftftftftftft

Teda Beijing Investment

Company Limited

ftft3bfttAftftftftft

KeXiping

10 Zhongze Jiameng Investment

Co Ltd

tftftftftftftftftft

Increase

Decrease

in shareholding

in the year

AflU ftfltt ftH% tWft

1927375000 4831375000 50.42 listed subject to

moratorium

ft ft ft ft
1931052900 3471070039 36.23 listedthe

1437375000

shares held

by CES Global

are subject to

moratoriumj

ft ftftft ft

ft ft ft

ft ft ft

1437375000

ft ft ft ft ft

421052532 421052532 4.39 listed subject to

moratorium

ft ft ft ft

210526315 210526315 2.20 listed subject to

moratorium

ft ft ft ft

94736846 0.99 listed subject to

moratorium

ft ft ft ft

83157894 0.87 listed subject to

moratorium

ft ft ft ft

0.11 listed subject to

moratorium

ft ft ft ft

0.11 listed subject to

moratorium

ft ft ft ft

0.11 listed subject to

moratorium

ft ft ft ft

0.11 listed subject to

moratorium

ft ft ft ft

Charged or

locked-up Nature of

shares shares held

ftflt

Nil shares subject

to moratorium

ft ft
Unknown shares the

ft 1437375000

shares held

by CES Global

are subject to

moratorium

Hftftft

1437375000

ftftA

Unknown shares

Aft Aft

Unknown shares

Aft Aft

Unknown shares

Aft Aft

Unknown shares

Aft Aft

Unknown shares

Aft Aft

Unknown shares

Aft Aft

Unknown shares

Aft Aft

Unknown shares

Aft Aft

Oescription of any related party or concert
party relationship among the 10

largest

shareholders The Company is not aware of any related party or concert party

relationship among the above shareholders

ftioftftftftftftihftTft
ftftAftftftftftftifftftftftft
ft fT ft

Shareholding

atthe end

of the year

Percentage Type ot

shares

94736846

83157894

10526315

10526315

10526315

10526315

10526315

10526315

10526315

10525315
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Thn 10 orgest mgisternri isterl stock shareho hers of the Company ank Lheir

respective shareholdings

000025

Name of shareholders

HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED

including CES Global

31

Shareholding of

listed stocks at

the end of

the year

3471070039

Nature of

shares held

shares

shares

Af
shares

shares

shares

shares

shares

shares

shares

shares

Description of any related party or concert party relationship among the 10 largest listed

stock shareholders The Company is not aware of any related party or concert party

relationship among the above listed stock shareholders

CONTRO LUNG SHAREHOLDER

There has been no change in the Companys controlling shareholder in the year

CEA Holding is the parent company of the Company and its registered capital amounts

to RMB1 1780365000 Mr Liu Shaoyong is the
legal representative of CEA Holding

CEA Holdings scope of business includes the management of all State-owned assets

and State-owned equity of its group and its investment enterprises which are formed

by State investment As at 31 December 2009 no share of the Company held by CEA

Holding was pledged

PURCHASE SALE OR REDEMPTON OF SECURTES

Save as otherwise disclosed during the year ended 31 December 2009 neither

the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased sold or redeemed any of its

listed securities securities having the meaning ascribed thereto under paragraph

of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules without taking into account any issue of new

securities

.J

A.11780365000tt
fff

4X ikh9I H-
HThJijIj-2

ZHONG YUAN

101 kif

Ir
131

WU SHUK LING OLIVIA

FEY LIM CHENG

tbtfII101

10

2929807

2700000

2278424

2223250

2178315

2000000

2000000

1990026

1430098
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IX II

SGNIFICAN.T DFFERENCES BETWEEN THE CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE COMPANY AND THE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES REQWRED TO BE

FOLLOWED BY US COMPANES UNDER THE NEW YORK STOCK

EXCHANGES USTING STANDARDS

As company incorporated in the PRC and listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange

the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange the NYSE the

Company is subject
to not

only applicable
PRC laws and

regulations including
the PRC

Company Law the PRC Securities Law the Corporate Governance Standards for Listed

Companies and Guidance Opinions regarding the Establishment of the Independent

Director System in Listed Companies the Independent Director Guidance but also

Hong Kong laws and regulations including the Listing Rules the Companies Ordinance

and the SF0 as well as applicable Federal securities laws and regulations

including the Securities Exchange Act of 934 as amended and the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002 Based on NYSE listing standards the NYSE imposes series of

corporate governance standards for companies listed on the NYSE However the NYSE

permits foreign private issuers to follow their respective home country practices and

grants waivers for compliance with certain corporate governance standards One of the

conditions for such waiver is for the foreign private issuer to disclose in its annual
report

how the corporate governance practices in its home country differ from those required

of U.S companies under the NYSE listing standards

In accordance with the requirements of Section 303A.1 of the NYSE Listed Company

Manual the following is summary of the significant differences between the

Companys corporate governance practices
and those

required to be followed by U.S

companies under the NYSEs listing standards

Section 303A.O1 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies

must have majority of independent Directors As company listed in the PRC the

Company is subject to the requirement under the Independent Director Guidance that at

least one-third of the Board be independent as determined thereunder As company

listed in Hong Kong the Company is also subject to the requirement under the Listing

Rules that at least three members of the Board shall be independent and at least one

of whom must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise The Company currently
has five independent Directors

out of total of ten Directors The standards for establishing independence set forth

under either the Independent Director Guidance or the Listing Rules differ from those set

forth in the NYSE Listed Company Manual

Section 303A.03 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies

must schedule regular executive sessions in which non-management directors meet

without management participation The Company is not required under either the

applicable PRC law or the applicable Hong Kong law to hold such executive sessions
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Section 303A.04 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides
that listed oompanies

must have nominating/corporate governance committee composed entirely of

independent directors The establishment of the Nomination Committee was considered

and resolved and its charter was passed at the third
regular meeting of the fifth session

of the board of the Company held on 28 April 2009 The merge of the Nomination

Committee and the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee into the Nomination

and Remuneration Committee was agreed at the 36th ordinary meeting of the fifth

session of the Board of the Company held on 19 March 2010 and the Working Rules

of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee was passed The Nomination and

Remuneration Committee consists of three members two of whioh are independent

non-executive Directors of the Company Section 303A.04 of the NYSE Listed Company

Manual also provides that the nominating/corporate governance committee of listed

company must have written charter that addresses the committees purpose and

responsibilities which include among others the development and recommendation of

corporate governance guidelines to the listed companys board of directors The Board is

directly responsible for developing the Companys corporate governance guidelines

Section 303A.05 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides
that listed companies

must have compensation committee composed entirely of independent directors

Under the
Listing Rules majority

of the members of the remuneration committee must

be independent non-executive directors The merge of the Nomination Committee and

the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee into the Nomination and Remuneration

Committee was agreed at the 36th ordinary meeting of the fifth session of the Board of

the Company held on 19 March 2010 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee of

the Company is composed of two independent non-executive Directors and one Director

Section 303A.10 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies

must adopt and disclose code of business conduct and ethics for directors officers

and employees As required under the Sarbanes-Uxley Act of 2002 the Company has

adopted code of ethics that is applicable to the Companys Directors Supervisors

President Chief Financial Dfficer and other senior managers

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Under the articles of association of the Company and the PRC laws no pre-emptive

rights exist which require the Company to offer new shares to existing
shareholders on

pro rata basis

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge

of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual

report the Directors believe that the Company has at all times
during

the year ended

31 December 2009 maintained the relevant applicable
minimum percentage of listed

securities as prescribed by Rule 8.08lXa of the Listing Rules
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SAREHCLDO\GC CF OmECTIORS SUPERV.SDRS AND SE MS

Names relevant information of and shares held by the Directors the Supervisors and SI An Aft .0

members of senior management of the Company as at 31 December 2009 are as follows

Number of listed

shares of the Capacity in Effective date and

Company held which the expiry date of

Name Position Age personal interest shares were held appointment

fifr 1t wi

flIAfl
Liu Shaoyong Chairman 51 February 2DD9-June 201

ISA 2009.22010.6

Li Jun Vice Chairman 57 June 2DD7-June 2010

2007.62010.6

Ma Xulun Director President 46 December 2DD8-June 2D1D

IS ASS 2DD8.122010.6

Luo Chaogeng Director 6D 66DD Note Beneficial Dwner June 2DD7-June 2D1

195 IS B6D0A51 SAISA 2007.6-2010.6

Luo Zhuping Director Company Secretary 57 11616 Note Beneficial Owner June 2DD7-June 2D1

ISA ISAAOI 11B16A52 SASSA 2D07.6-2WD.6

Hu Honggao Independent non-executive Director 56 June 2DD7-March 2D1D

ASS ft$MCI5 2007.62010.3

Wu Baiwang Independent non-executive Director 67 June 2DD7-June 2D1

2DD7.62010.6

Zhou Ruijin Independent non-executive Director 71 June 2007-March 2010

515 IffAMhIS 205152010.3

Xie Hong Independent non-executive Director SB June 2007-June 2010

SAASIS 2007.62010.6

Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu Independent non-executive Director 62 June 2009-June 2010

____________________________________________________
2009.62010.6

24 ANNUAL REPORT 2009 CHINA EASTERN AIRUNES CORPORATION LIMITED



REPORT OF UtRECTORS
OC029

Number of listed

shares of the Capacity in Effective date and

Company held which the expiry date of

Name Position Age personal interest shares were held appointment

Spit1X
Liu Jiangbo Chairman of the Supervisory Committee 60 June 2007-June 2010

20076-2010.6

Xu Zhao Supervisor 41
June 2007-June 2010

2007.62010.6

Yan Taisheng Supervisor 56 March 2009-June 2010

2009.3-2010.6

Feng Jinxiong Supervisor 48 March 2009-June 2010

2009.32010.6

Liu Jiashun Supervisor 53 3960 Note Beneficial Owner June 2007-June 2010

jIl 3960If3 2007.62010.6

Zhang Jianzhong Vice President 55 June 2007-June 2010

2007.62010.6

Li Yangmin Vice President 47 3960 Note Beneficial Owner June 2007-June 2010

39603 2007.62010.6

Fan Ru Vice President 61 3696 Note Beneficial Owner June 2007-June 2010

3696f4 2007.62010.6

Zhao Jinyu Vice President 53 Oecember 2009-June 2010

2009.122010.6

Wu Yongliang Chief Financial Officer 47 3696 Note Beneficial Owner March 2009-June 2010

IK 36964 2009.32010.6

Note representing approximately 0.000069% of the Companys total issued shares as at 31 I$ hlE15
December 2009 t934%t4 0.000069%

Note2 representing approximately 0.00012% of the Companys total issued shares as at 31 J-If5
December2009 0.00012%

Note representing approximately
0.000041% of the Companys total issued shares as at 31

December2009 1fff7 0.000041%

Note representing approximately 0.000039% of the Companys total issued shares as at 31

December2009 bfffY 0.000039%
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As at the date of this report and in 2009 brief biographical details in respect of each of

the Directors Supervisors and senior management officers of the Company are as

follows

Mr Liu Shaoyong is currently the Chairman of the Company and Deputy Party Secretary

and General Manager of CEA Holding Since Mr Liu
joined

the civil aviation industry in

1978 he has been appointed the Deputy General Manager of China General Aviation

Corporation Deputy Director of Shanxi Provincial Civil Aviation Administration General

Manager of the Shanxi Branch of the Company and Chief of the
Flying Model Division of

the Civil Aviation Administration of China the CAAC Mr Liu served as General

Manager of the Company from December 2000 to October 2002 Vice Minister of the

GAAC from October 2002 to August 2004 General Manager of China Southern Air

Holdimg Company from August 2004 to December 2008 Chairman of directors of China

Southern Airlines Co Ltd share stock code 1055 from November 2004 to December

2008 Since December 2008 Mr Liu has been appointed Deputy Party Secretary and the

General Manager of CEA Holding and has
Just become the Chairman of the Company

since February 2009 Mr Liu graduated from the China Civil Aviation Flight College and

achieved an EMBA degree of Tsinghua University in 2005 Mr Liu holds the title of First

Glass Pilot He is currently the Director General of China Air Transport Association the

Director of International Air Transport Association and the Director of Association for

Relations Across the Taiwan Straits

Mr Li Fenghua was the Director of the Company during the reporting period Mr Li joined

the civil aviation
industry

in 1968 and was deputy head and subsequently became head

of the 26th Fleet of the CAAC from 1987 to 1992 From 1992 to 1996 Mr Li served as

vice president and then became president of the Hubei Branch of China Southern

Airlines Group Since 1996 he became vice president of China Southern Airlines

Company Limited and vice president of China Southern Airlines Group In 2000 Mr Li

became party secretary and vice president of China Southern Airlines Company Limited

From October 2002 to September 2004 he served as the
president

of the Company and

vice
president of CEA Holding From September 2004 to December 2008 he served as

the president and deputy party secretary of CEA Holding The resignation of Mr Li

Fenghua as director and chairman of the fifth session of the Board due to reallocation of

appointment was passed by way of resolution in the 17th meeting of the fifth session of

the Board held on 12 December 2008 and the first 2009
extraordinary general meeting of

the Company held on February 2009
respectively

Mr Li graduated from the China Civil

Aviation Senior Aviation School and holds the title of First Class Pilot

Mr Li Jun is
currently the Vice Chairman of the Company and the

party secretary
of CEA

Holding Mr Li
joined the civil aviation industry in 1972 Since 1977 Mr Li served as

officer in the Political Department and office secretary of CAAC Mr Li served as person

in-charge of Policy Research Department in the Civil Aviation Bureau in 1984 deputy

director of
Policy Research Department in the Civil Aviation Bureau in 1986 deputy

manager of Planning Department in CAAC in 1989 manager of Planning Department in

CAAC in 1994 director of the General Office in CAAC in 1996 manager of Personnel

Education Department in CAAC in 2000 and deputy head and
party

committee member

of CAAC in 2001 Since 2006 Mr Li has served as party secretary of CEA holding and

has served as Vice Chariman of the Company since June 2007 Mr Li graduated from the

Party School of the Central Committee of the CRC and holds bachelor degree of

Economic Management and is qualified senior political work instructor and Economist
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Mr Ma Xulun is currently the Director the General Manager and the Deputy Party

Secretary of the Company the Deputy Party Secretary of CEA Holding Mr Ma joined the

civil aviation industry since 1997 He has been appointed Deputy General Manager of

China Commodities Storing and Transportation Corporation Deputy Director General of

Finance Department of the CAAC Vice President of Air China International Corporation

Limited In 2002 after the restructuring of civil aviation industry
he was appointed the

Vice President of the general affairs of Air China International Corporation Limited Later

on Mr Ma served as President and Deputy Party Secretary of Air China International

Corporation Limited stock code 753 from September 2004 to January 2007 Mr Ma

became Party member of China National Aviation Holding Company from December

2004 to December 2008 and Deputy General Manager of China National Aviation

Holding Company from January 2007 to December 2008 Since December 2008 Mr Ma

started working as General Manager and Deputy Party Secretary of the Company and

Deputy Party Secretary of CEA Holding Since February 2009 Mr Ma has become

Director of the Company Mr Ma Xulun became director of China Cargo Airlines Co
Ltd subsidiary of the Company with effect from January 2009 and became the

chairman of such company with effect from January 2009 Mr Ma graduated from

Shanxi University of Finance and Economics and Huazhong University
of Science and

Technology Mr Ma holds master degree and is qualified accountant

Mr Luo Chaogeng is currently Director Mr Luo joined the civil aviation industry in

1970 Mr Luo was flight mechanic of the instructing team of the Lanzhou Civil Aviation

Administration Bureau from August 1970 to August 1972 From August 1972 to March

1989 he was the flight mechanic and vice instructor of the 8th Civil Aviation Flight
Team

From March 1989 to August 1994 he was the deputy commissar commissar and party

secretary
of the Xian

Flight
Team of China Northwest Airlines From August 1994 to

October 1996 he was the
party secretary of the aircraft maintenance plant of China

Northwest Airlines From October 1996 to March 1997 he was the party secretary and

deputy general manager of the aircraft maintenance base of China Northwest Airlines

From March 1997 to December 2000 he was the deputy director of the Civil Aviation

Administration Bureau of China Northwest Airlines From December 2000 to November

2001 Mr Luo was the general manager of Yunnan Airlines and the director and deputy

party secretary of Civil Aviation Administration Bureau of Yunnan From November 2001

to September 2002 he was the general manager and deputy party secretary of Yunnan

Airlines From September 2002 to present he has been the
party

constitution member

and vice president of CEA Holding From September 2002 to September 2004 he has

also served concurrently as the general manager of Yunnan Airlines of CEA Holding

From September 2004 to the present he has been the party constitution member and

vice
president

of CEA Holding and from September 2004 to October 2006 was President

and deputy party secretary
of China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited Mr Luo serves

as non-executive directors of TravelSky Technology Limited share stock code 696

from March 2009 From September 1998 to June 2001 Mr Luo attended the

postgraduate course in economics and management for incumbent leading cadres of

Shaanxi Province at the Central Party
School Mr Luo has first class competency in flight

mechanics
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Mr Cao Jianxiong was Director and President during the reporting period Mr Gao

joined
the civil aviation industry in 1982 From 1992 he served as president of Shanghai

Eastern Airlines Development Company and in 1994 he became president of Eastern

Airlines Futures Brokerage Company In early 1996 he served as assistant president of

the Company From 1997 he served as vice president and chief financial officer of the

Company Since December 1999 he served as vice president of CEA Group From October

2002 to December 2008 he served as vice president of CEA Holding and he also was

the party secretary of China Eastern Air Northwest Company from December 2002 to

September 2004 From October 2006 to December 2008 he served as president
of the

Company The resignation of Mr Cao Jianxiong as director of the fifth session of Board

and president due to reallocation of duties was passed by way of resolution in the 17th

meeting of the fifth session of Board held on 12 December 2008 The resignation of Mr

Ceo Jianxiong as director of the fifth session of the Board due to reallocation of

appointment was passed by way of resolution in the first 2009 extraordinary general

meeting of the Company held on February 2009 Mr Cao graduated from the Civil

Aviation Management Institute with major in labour economics Mr Cao also received

master degree in
global

economics from Eastern China Normal Universitys Department

of International Finance Mr Cao holds the title of Senior Economist

Mr Luo Zhuping is currently Director and the Company Secretary Mr Luo
joined

CEA in

1988 He was deputy chief and then chief of the enterprise management department of

China Eastern Airlines from 1992 to 1997 He was deputy head of the share system

office from 1993 to 1996 In 1997 he became the
secretary

of the board of China Eastern

Airlines Corporation Limited and from 1997 to 2008 also served as the head of the

secretariat of the board of the Company He became Director of the Company in June

2004 Mr Luo graduated from the Faculty of Philosophy and the
Faculty of Law of Anhui

University in 1979 and 1985 respectively In 1994 Mr Luo received Master degree

from the Economics Department of Eastern China Normal University majoring in global

economics In 1998 he participated in the training programme for senior managers of

large state-owned enterprises organised in the U.S.A by the State Economic and Trade

Commission and Morgan Stanley

Mr Hu Honggao was appointed as an Independent Non executive Director of the

Company from 1996 to March 2010 He is currently
the deputy dean of the School of

Law the director and professor of the Civil and Commercial Law Research Centre and

tutor to doctoral students majoring in civil and commercial law at Fudan
University He is

also senior lawyer at the Shanghai Shen Yang Law Office Mr Hu is managing

director of China Commercial Law Research Society managing director of China

Economic Law Research Society nj member of the

Legislative Consultation Committee of the Shanghai Municipal Government member

of the Legislative Profession Consultation Committee of the Shanghai Standing

Committee of the Peoples Congress mA77777
vice chairman of the Shanghai Economic Law Research Society and an arbitrator of the

Shanghai Arbitration Committee Mr Hu also serves as an independent non-executive

director of Chine Shipping Development Company Limited share stock code 1138 and

an independent director of R57Aff Giti Tire Corporation share

stock code 600182
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Mr Peter Lok was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company

from 1998 to June 2009 Mr Lok went to the College of Air Traffic Control in England for

further studies after joining
the Hong Kong Civil Aviation Department in December 1956

He studied air transport air acoident investigation and administration and management

of civil aviation in England from 1968 to 1973 In 1982 he became assistant director of

the Hong Kong Civil Aviation Department From 1985 during
his time in office at the air

services division of the Hong Kong Civil Aviation Department he participated in

negotiations with various countries regarding air traffic rights He became deputy

director in 1988 and subsequently became director in 1990 of the Hong Kong Civil

Aviation Department Mr Lok retired in 1995 and has served as consultant at the

Flights Standards Department of the CAAC Mr Lok is the first Chinese director of the

Hong Kong Civil Aviation Department and was at one time an instructor at the College of

Air Traffic Control of Hong Kong

Mr Wu Baiwang was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the

Company in 1998 Mr Wu joined the civil aviation industry
in 1959 and was deputy fleet

leader and subsequently became fleet leader of the 12th Fleet of the CAAC from 1976 to

1984 From 1984 to 1992 Mr Wu was deputy head and subsequently became head of

the CAAC Jilin Bureau From 1992 to 1995 Mr Wu was the head and party secretary
of

the CAAC North-eastern Bureau From September 1995 to 1998 he became president
of

China General Aviation Corporation He was the party secretary
and vice

president
of

Guangzhou Baiyun International Airport Group Company and the chairman of the board

of directors of Guangzhou Baiyun International Airport Company Limited from 1998 to

September 2003 Mr Wu graduated from Chinese Civil Aviation School in 1965 and

holds the title of First Class Pilot

Mr Zhou Ruijin was appointed as an Independent Non-executive director of the Company

from 2000 to March 2010 Mr Zhou was deputy editor-in-chief and the East China

regional director of the Peoples Daily From 1988 to 1993 Mr Zhou was the party

secretary
and deputy editor-in-chief of the Liberation Daily From April 1993 to 1996 he

was deputy editor-in-chief of the Peoples Daily and from 1996 to 2000 he was deputy

editor-in-chief and the East China
regional

director of the Peoples Daily After retired he

became vice chairman of the China Productivity Council and chairman of the Shanghai

Productivity Council Mr Zhou graduated from the journalism department of Fudan

University
in 1962 Mr Zhou also served as an independent director of China Universal

Asset Management Company 15ft555 PPcA ff1

Mr Xie Hong was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company

in 2003 Mr Xie is the deputy head of Shanghai National Accounting Institute and

certified accountant in the PBC He taught at the
faculty

of accounting of Shanghai

University of Finance and Economics from December 1985 to March 1997 and had been

an assistant professor professor doctorate-tutor and the deputy dean of the faculty

Mr Xie was partner
of KPMG Huazhen from December 1997 to October 2002 and has

since October 2002 been the deputy head of Shanghai National Accounting Institute

Mr Xie also serves as an independent director of 5tyft55ftPffAff Shanghai

Automotive Co Ltd share stock code 600104 and independent non-executive

directors of China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited shares stock code 998 China

Shipping Development Company Limited shares stock code 1138 and
Tianjin Capital

Environmental Protection Group Company Limited shares stock code 1065 Mr Xie

graduated from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics and has doctorate

degree in Economics
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Mr Sandy Ke-Yaw Lie was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the

Company in June 2009 Mr Liu joined the civil aviation industry in Taiwan since 1969 He

has served in China Airlines as Airport Manager in Honolulu

Airport Marketing Director for the Americas General Manager for Hawaii District

Regional Director for Europe Director of Corporate Planning and Director of Marketing

Planning respectively in its Corporate Office Taiwan He alsoservedas Vice President for

Market and Sales in 1993 and Executive Vice President foç9ommerciAlsince 1996 and

was promoted to President in 1998 Additionally Mr Liu hadserved as Board Director in

Taiwan Mandarin Airlines Taiwan Far Eastern Air Transport

Taiwan China Pacific Catering Service Taiwan Taoyuan

International Airport Service Company ttI MA and the Chairman of

tle Board of Taiwan Air Cargo Terminal In 2001 he moved to

Hong Kong to
join Expeditors International of Washington Inc global logistics

company as the Chief Operating Officer for Asia Region Mr Liu graduated from
Taipei

Shih Shin University and attended advanced study program in

Stanford University in the United States in 1990 and 1993
respectively

Mr Wu Xiaogen was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the

Company in March 2010 Mr Wu was the assistant to general manager and the deputy

general manager of the securities business department of China Jingo International Trust

Investment Company Limited from April

1998 to March 1999 the deputy general manager of the securities management

department and the general manager of the institutional management department of

China Technology International Trust Investment Company nj

ff from March 1999 to July 2000 the head of the audit teaching and research unit

and the vice president of the School of Accountancy of Central University of Finance and

Economics from July 2000 to November 2004 He has been the chief

accountant of China First Heavy Industries since

November 2004 and holds the title of researcher Mr Wu graduated from the Department

of Economics and Management of Central University of Finance and Economics

in 1997 and obtained doctoral degree in Economics

Mr Ji Weidong was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the

Company in March 2010 Mr Ji graduated from the Department of Law of Peking

University LbAin 1983 and obtained bachelors degree in law Mr Ji completed

his masters and doctoral degree courses at the graduate school of Kyoto University

Japan from
April

1985 to March 1990 From September 1991 to July 1992 he was

visiting scholar at Stanford Law School the USA He obtained his doctoral degree in law

from Kyoto University Japan in January 1993 From
April

1990 to September 1996 Mr

Ji was an associate professor at the School of Law of Kobe University Japan From

October 1996 to March 2009 he was professor at the School of Law of Kobe

University Japan Since 2008 he has been the dean and professor of Koguan Law

School of Shanghai Jiaotong University He is currently an honorary professor at Kobe

University Japan

Ms Liu Jiangbo is currently the chairman of the supervisory committee of the Company

the Supervisory Committee and
party member vice president and the head of

disciplinary inspection group of CEA Holding Ms Liu Jiangbo joined the civil aviation

industry in 1979 Since then Ms Liu had been an officer in the
Beijing Administrative

Bureau of Civil Aviation of China and the deputy secretary of the committee of CRC of

the
transportation

business division Ms Liu served as secretary
of the committee of the

Communist Youth League of the National Civil Aviation in 1985 deputy director of the

personnel department of the Traffic Control Bureau of the Aviation of China from 1987 to

1990 supervisor to the Civil Aviation Administration of China appointed by the

Supervisory Bureau of China from 1990 to 1994 deputy director of the transportation

division of CAAC from 1994 to 2000 secretary of the committee of CRC and vice

president of Yunnan Airlines Corporation Limited from 2000 to 2002 and the party

member vice president and has been serving as the head of the disciplinary examination

committee of CEA Holding since 2002 Ms Liu graduated from the Graduate School of

Chinese Academy of Social Sciences majoring in business management of industrial

economics having the qualification of post-graduate and senior political work instructor

AltAo jAAuuAM
Al Al II Al Al AlA
IAAAlA AlAlItbAljAA

ij iA Al ij IA

il ij Al Al

iJ Al Al Al Al Al Al

A-AlI ijA AAI AlAlA
AIAIAMA kAAAl

Expeditors International of Washington Inc Al

Ill AlMA IAtft
AAl.A AlAlAIAA

Al Al IA AlE Ii

EIA0AIAA_AAlA
Al Al Al Al Al Al Al Al Al Al

MA AAA AlAlA
Al Al Al Al Al

AAAi1AAlAAAAIAAAlA
AlA Al

All MA ij

AlA AlAlA
Al Al Al AlAlA

ALAAAAo_AlAl
AAAM AAlAl
AlA IAAlA -l-AlAl-LAllA
lA -AlAlAlAl A-LAlEEAlAAlWAlAAlAAl-
AIAAll-AlAAlIAMA
AlA AAlAl Al-AAAl

MA AMAAAMA IAA

Al-LAlA ijAlAAlAl
AAAlAlAlA

AlAlAlAlAll AAWAAAlAlASAlAlAAAl

AlA
AAAlAASA MAlAlA
AlAlAl AIAlMAAAAlAAAlA ij

All AlIAlA IJMAAAn AAl

30 ANNUAL REPORT 2O9 CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED



REPORT OF DRECTORS

000035

Mr Xu Zhao is currently Supervisor of the Company and the chief accountant of CEA

Holding Mr Xu
joined

the civil aviation
industry

in the end of 2006 Mr Xu served as

engineer and accountant in Dongfeng Motor Group Company Limited in 1991 and 1997

respectively Mr Xu
joined Shanghai Yanhua High Technology Limited Company as

manager in finance department in 2000 and joined Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile Co

Limited as chief financial officer in 2002 Since November 2006 Mr Xu has served as

the chief accountant in CEA Holding Mr Xu graduated from Chongxing University

majoring in moulding and The Chinese University of Hong Kong majoring in accounting

and holds master degree Mr Xu is qualified as an engineer and an accountant and is

certified public accountant in the PRC

Ms Wang Taoying was Supervisor assistant to the president and the general

manager of the auditing department of the Company during the reporting period Ms

Wang joined the civil aviation industry in 1972 was the deputy director of the

supervisory and auditing department and the deputy manager of the disciplinary

committee office of China Eastern Airlines Company from March 1993 to August 1995

Ms Wang was the head of the auditing department of China Eastern Airlines Company

from August 1995 to March 1997 the supervisor in the first session of the Supervisory

Committee from January 1995 to March 1998 the cabin service manager of the

Company from March 1997 to April 1999 and the deputy general manager of security

department in Pudong Shanghai of the Company taking charge of the servicing safety in

the production procedure from April 1999 to August 2000 Ms Wang also acted as chief

officer of the auditing department of the Company from August 2000 to August 2004

From August 2004 to August 2006 she served as the general manager of the
auditing

department of the Company and has been the assistant to the
president

of the Company

and the general manager of the auditing department from August 2006 to February 2009

She has no longer served as Supervisor of the Company since March 2009 Ms Wang

graduated from the Shanghai Second Polytechnic University maloring in
sociopolitics

and holds Master of Business Administration degree from the Open University of

Macau

Ms Yang Jie was Supervisor of the Company during the reporting period Ms Yang

joined the civil aviation industry in 1992 From 1996 to 1998 she was the electronic

technology supervisor of the technology office and Communist Youth League secretary of

the overhaul department at the aircraft maintenance base of the Company From 1998 to

September 2000 she was Communist Youth League deputy secretary of the aircraft

maintenance base of the Company She was the deputy secretary of the Companys

Communist Youth League from September 2000 to July 2002 and the
secretary

of the

Companys Communist Youth League from August 2002 to January 2008 From January

2008 to April 2009 Ms Yang was the deputy director of the Party Organization

Department of CEA Holding From January 2003 to April 2009 she was the
secretary

of

the Communist Youth League of CEA Holding She has no longer
served as Supervisor

of the Company since March 2009 Ms Yang graduated with major in aviation

electronics from the China Civil Aviation Academy and major in Business

Administration from Sunny Management Academy at

Donghua University from which she received master degree in Business Administration

She is also qualified engineer
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Mr Yan Taisheng is currently Supervisor and the Vice Chairman of the Labour Union of

the Company Mr Yan joined the civil aviation industry
in 1973 and has served in the

Command Centre and the General Office of Shanghai Civil Aviation Administration

Bureau From 1990 to 1993 he served as the Chief of the Secretarial Section in the

General Office of China Eastern Airlines Company He served as the Manager of

Shanghai Civil Aviation Dong Da
Industry Company IAAff1 from

1993 to 1998 and was the Deputy Director of General Office of the Labour Union of the

Company from 1998 to 2002 From 2002 to 2005 he served as the Director of General

Office of Labour Union of the Company He has been the Vice Chairman of the Labour

Union and the Director of the General Office of the Labour Union of the Company since

2005 He has been supervisor of the Company since March 2009 Mr Yan graduated

from East China Normal University

Mr Feng Jinxiong
is currently Supervisor and general manager of Audit Department of

the Company Mr Feng joined the civil aviation industry in 1982 and has served in the

Planning Department of Shanghai Civil Aviation Administration Bureau as well as the

Planning Department of China Eastern Airlines Company He served as the Deputy

Director of the Planning Department of China Eastern Airlines Company from 1992 to

1997 the Director of the Planning Department of the Company from 1997 to 1998 the

Director of the Finance Department of China Eastern Air Holding Company from 1998 to

2000 He was the Deputy Chief Accountant of China Eastern Air Holding Company from

2000 to 2001 the Manager of the Human Resources Department of the Company from

2001 to 2003 the Party Committee Secretary and Vice President of China Eastern Air Jin

Bong Company MAfrom 2003 to 2005 the Party Committee Secretary and

Deputy General Manager of the Shanghai Ground Service Department of the Company

from 2005 to 2007 as well as the President and the Deputy Party Committee Secretary

of the China Eastern Airlines Wuhan Co Ltd from 2007 to 2009 Since February 2009

he has been the General Manager of the Audit Department of the Company He has been

supervisor of the Company since March 2009 Mr Feng graduated from the Civil

Aviation University of China and the Graduate School of the Chinese Academy of

Sciences holding masters degree

Mr Liu Jiashun has been Supervisor of the Company since 2000 From 1993 to 1999

Mr Liu was party secretary deputy president and secretary of the disciplinary committee

of China Aviation Fuel Hainan Company as well as chairman of the board and president

of Hainan Nanyang Air Transport Co Ltd From 1997 to 1999 he was also the chief

director in charge of fuel supply engineering at Haikous Meilan Airport and served as

director of Meilan Airport Co Ltd and the vice chairman of the board and president of

From 1999 to 2007 he was deputy party secretary and

subsequently the secretary of the disciplinary committee of China Aviation Fuel East

China Company and he served as the general manager of ff1

from 2006 to March 2009 Since October 2009 Mr Liu serves as the party secretary of

China Aircraft Fuel Huadong Company Mr Liu received

post-graduate education and is qualified as senior
political

work instructor

Mr Zhang Jianzhong is Vice President of the Company Mr Zhang joined the civil

aviation
industry

in 1982 From April 1982 to December 1987 he was an assistant of the

CMC Shanghai Planning Bureau From December 1987 to April 1990 he was the deputy

director of the planning department of Shanghai Hongqiao International Airport From

April
1990 to January 1996 he was the director of the planning department of China

Eastern Airlines From January 1996 to April 1999 he was the manager of the sales and

marketing department of the Company From April 1999 to April 2003 he was the

assistant to the president
of the Company From September 2000 to December 2001 he

served concurrently as the director of the office of
strategic study of the Company From

December 2001 to May 2003 he served concurrently as the general manager of the

computer information centre of the Company From April 2003 to June 2004 he was the

chief economist of the Company From May 2003 to June 2004 he served concurrently as

the general manager of the sales and marketing department of the Company From June

2004 to present he has been vice president of the Company Mr Zhang also serves as

the chairman of ff1 Shanghai Eastern Logistics Co Ltd

member of the Group and the vice chairman of China

Cargo Airlines Co Ltd member of the Group Mr Zhang graduated from the Faculty

of Mechanical Engineering of Zhejiang University and also the Economics and

Management of Fudan University from which he obtained master degree
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Mr Li Yangmin is Vice President of the Company Mr Li joined the civil aviation

industry in 1985 From July 1985 to October 1996 he was the deputy head of the aircraft

maintenance workshop LiLiLi1LiLiLiLi head of technology office and secretary of

the workshop branch of Northwest Company LiLbLiLiLiEI From October 1996 to

June 2002 he was the deputy general manager of the aircraft maintenance base and the

manager of air route department LiLi53 of Northwest Company LiLbLiLiLiLi

From June 2002 to March 2004 he was the general manager of the aircraft maintenance

base of China Eastern Air Northwest Company From March 20C4 to October 2005 he

was the vice president and member of the standing committee to the party committee

of China Eastern Air Northwest Company Since October 2005 he has been vice

president of the Company Mr Li also serves as director of LiLiLiMLiLiLiRLi

Lii China Cargo Airlines Co Ltd member of the Group and the chairman of LiLi

LiLiLiLiLiLiLiLiLi Shanghai Eastern Maintenance Co Ltd member of the

Group Mr Li is
university graduate from China Civil Aviation Academy He is

qualified
senior engineer

Mr Fan Pu is the Companys Vice President Mr Fan started his civil aviation career in

1966 He was deputy fleet leader of China Eastern Airlines Shanghai Fleet since 1988

and was the head of aviation technology management office of China Eastern Airlines

since 1995 He was appointed as the deputy chief
pilot

and the head of aviation

technology management office of the Company since 1997 He was the chief pilot of the

Company from 1999 to November 2006 and was appointed as the vice
president

of the

Company since November 2006 Mr Fan also serves as the chairman of LiLiA
Shanghai Eastern

Flight Training Co Ltd member of the

Group director of tLiLiLiLiLiLiLiLiH China Cargo Airlines Co Ltd

member of the Group and LiLiLiLiLiLi LiLiLiLiH Eastern Business Airlines

Service Co Ltd member of the Group Mr Fan graduated from Advanced Aviation

School for
professional flying He has received tertiary education and has obtained first

class technical
qualifications

for
pilots

Mr Zhao Jinyu is the Companys Vice President Mr Zhao joined the civil aviation

industry in 1978 From November 1995 to March 1998 he was deputy director and

director of the Flying Safety and Technology Department of China General Aviation

Corporation From March 1998 to May 1999 he was the General Manager of the Flying

Aviation Department of the Shanxi Branch of the Company From May 1999 to January

2000 he was the Vice President of the Shanxi Branch of the Company From January

2000 to January 2004 he was the General Manager of the Hebei Branch of the Company

From January 2004 to May 2008 he was the General Manager and Deputy Party

Secretary of the Anhui Branch of the Company From May 2008 to
July 2008 he was the

Managing Vice President and Deputy Party Secretary of the Yunnan Branch of the

Company Since July 2008 he has been the General Manager and Deputy Party

Secretary of the Vunnan Branch of the Company Mr Zhao graduated from the Civil

Aviation Flight University of China for professional flying and holds the title of Second

Class Pilot nLiLiLLiLitN
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Mr Tang Bing is the Companys Vice President Mr Tang joined the civil aviation industry

in 1993 From April 1997 to October 1999 he served as deputy manager of the

Engineering Technology Oivision under the Aircraft Engineering Department of ftftft

ftftftftft China Southern Airlines Company Limited From October 1999 to

May 20C3 he was the deputy director of the Business Oevelopment Department of ft

lftftftftlftftftftff Guangzhou Aircraft Maintenance Engineering Co Ltd

and the vice director of its Accessories Business Centre From June 2003 to Oecember

2005 he was vice president of ftftftftftftffftftftff MTU
Maintenance Zhuhai Co Ltd. From December 2C05 to March 2007 he served as the

office director of China South Airlines Holding Company From March 2007 to Oecember

2007 he was the president and vice party secretary of Ift ftftftft Chongqing

Airlines Company Limited From Oecember 2007 to May 2009 he served as the chief

engineer and
general manager and deputy party secretary ot the Aircraft Engineering

Department of China South Airlines share stock code 1055 From May 2009 to

December 2009 he was appointed as member of the Standing Committee to the Party

Committee of the Company general manager and deputy party secretary
of the Beijing

branch of the Company Since December 2009 he has been served member of the

Standing Committee to the Party Committee of the Company he has served as Vice

President of the Company since February 2010 Mr Tang graduated from ftftftftft

ft Nanjing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics majoring in electrical

technology He obtained master of business administration MBA degree from the

Administration Institute of ft tLiftft Sun Yat-sen University in 2003 and an executive

master of business administration EMBA degree from the School of Economics and

Management of ilftftft Tsinghua University in 200B

Mr Luo Weide was the Companys Chief Financial Officer during the reporting period In

1976 Mr Luo began his military service at the Air Force in Liuan Airport From 1979 to

1991 he successively served as department head and deputy head of the Putuo branch of

the Shanghai Municipal Tax Bureau From 1991 to 1993 he concurrently served as head

of the finance bureau and the state asset bureau of Putuo District Shanghai From 1993

to 99B he successively served as deputy chief accountant chief accountant and

executive deputy president of Shanghai Jinqiao Group Co Ltd From 1998 to 2000 he

was vice president of Shanghai Pudong Development Group Co Ltd and chairman of

the board and president of Pudong Finance Company From 2000 to March 2009 he was

the chief financial officer of the Company Mr Luo graduated from the Sino-European

International Business School in 1999 with Masters degree in business administration

He holds the titles of Senior Accountant and Senior Economist

Mr Wu Yongliang is currently the Chief Financial Officer of the Company Mr Wu joined

the civil aviation industry in 1984 He was the deputy director of the Finance Department

of China Eastern Airlines Company from 1993 to 1997 the deputy director and

subsequently the director of the Finance Department of the Company from 1997 to 1998

the director of Planning and Finance Department of the Company from 1998 to 2000 the

head of the Finance Department of CEA Holding from 2000 to 2001 the deputy chief

accountant and the head of the Finance Department of CEA Holding from 2001 to March

2009 From
April

2009 onwards he services as the chief financial officer of the Company

Mr Wu graduated from the Economic Management Department of Civil Aviation

University
of China specializing

in planning and finance He also graduated from Fudan

University specializing
in business administration Mr Wu has the qualification of post

graduate and holds the title of Accountant

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has issued confirmation in respect of

the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules concerning his independence

pursuant to Rule 3.15 of the
Listing

Rules The Company considers all of the independent

non-executive Directors to be independent
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1414 f1l13.13fftIt ft ft fttI 44
ft Hi ft ft ft 40 ft ft ft ft ft ft ft 44
ft ft ft ft ft ft ft it

34 ANNUAL REPORT 2009 CHINA EASTERN AIRUNES CORPORATION UMITED



REPORT OF DRECTORS

00003y

CHANGES THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMifVT

PERSONNEL

551 55555

Name

Termination

111if

Li Fenghua

Cao Jianxiong
C-

/4Vang Taoying

14$

Date of Appointmenl/Termination

/iif

February 2009

February 2009

26 March 2009

iW$ii1H ni

26 March 2009

n$$vtlH 7\

31 March 2009

n$Tl41EH 15H
19 March 20100W$H YL

19 March 2010

rifOHJi

Approval Organization

iffl

the first extraordinary general meeting in 2009

the first
extraordinary general meeting in 2009

the 2009 first group meetings of the fifth meetings

of the fourth session of the employees

representatives
conference

if

if 54 flIT
the 2009 first group meetings of the

fifth meetings of the fourth session of the

employees representatives conference

if 54105
the 23rd meeting of the fifth session of the Board

if 15 1102355
the 33rd meeting of the fifth session of the Board

051113355
the 33rd meeting of the fifth session of the Board

113355

Position

Director

1$
Director

Employee representative

supervisor

5115$

Employee representative

supervisor

Chief Financial Dificer

if if if if

Independent non-executive

director

$5 StIll
Independent non-executive

director

if 55551$

Appointment

if

Liu Shaoyong

Ij if if

if

TaishengSn

Jinxiong

Yongliang

/Zhao Jinyu

Xang Bing

Mu XiaogenyIn
Ji Weidong

5Sf

February 2009

February 2009

26 March 2009

n$W54H n\

26 March 2009

nWW5StHR 05

31 March 2009

T111L11ft H-fr
23 December 2009

n$TJLInR OH
February2OlO

19 March 2010

n$$4H Sit

19 March 2010

j$JEjSit

the first extraordinary general meeting in 2009

the 20th meeting of the fifth session of the Board

11112055
the first extraordinary general meeting in 2009

nIl 155 0$
the 2009 first group meetings of the

fifth meetings of the fourth session of the

employee% representatives conference

1541555
the 2009 first group meetings of the

fifth meetings of the fourth session of the

employees representatives conference

the 23rd meeting of the fifth session of the Board

112355
the 33rd meeting of the fifth session of the Board

113355
the 35th meeting of the fifth session of the Board

051113555
the first extraordinary general meeting in 2010

the first extraordinary general meeting in 2010

Director

Chairman

111
Director

Employee representative

supervisor

Employee representative

supervisor

5115$

Chief Financial Dificer

if if if if

Vice President

if if if if

Vice President

Si if if if

Independent non-executive

director

$555511
Independent non-executive

director

if 55551$

ifs

uoWeide

if IS if

Hu Honggao

if

Zhou Ruilin

viss

titMISfftHS flflOr55 355
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SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS CHIEF EXECUTUIE

SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Save as disclosed above as at 31 December 2008 none of the Directors chief executive

Supervisors or members of the Companys senior management and their respeotive

associates had any other interest or short position in the shares underlying shares and

or debentures as the case may be of the Company and/or any of its associated

corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the SFD which was required to be

notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions

ot Divisions and of Part XV of the SFD including any interest or short position which

any of such Directors chief executive Supervisors or members of the Companys senior

management and their respective associates were taken or deemed to have under such

provisions of the SFD and as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company

pursuant to section 352 of the SFD or which was otherwise required to be notified to

the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers the Model Code as set out in

Appendix 10 to the
Listing

Rules which shall be deemed to apply to the Supervisors to

the same extent as it applied to the Directors

In 2009 and as at 31 December 2009 none of the Directors chief executive Supervisors

senior management of the Company and/or any ot their spouses or children under the

age of eighteen were granted any right
and the Company had not made any arrangement

enabling any of them to subscribe for share capital or debt securities of the Company

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

No Director or Supervisor has entered into any service contract with the Company which

is not terminable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation

other than statutory compensation

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS IN CONTRACTS

None of the Directors or Supervisors had material interest directly or indirectly in any

contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was party

during the year the term contract of significance having the meaning ascribed thereto

in paragraph 15 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

Details of the remuneration of Directors and Supervisors are set out in note to the

financial statements prepared in accordance with IERS

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2009 the Group had 45938 employees majority of whom worked

in the PRC Employee compensation is primarily composed of basic salary and

performance-based bonus

IEz fl

nn
sr cx Im ilL

AA iLFA.A A.A.TYLA
H-nJ1HH-H 7cA.A.fl A.A.fl

2A.A.A
.A if

ifA.A.A.A.10XV8fA.A.A 5U19

4444441

94 XV Sf Sf 44

A.A.tflA.9ftt1A
94 35241 441

441444

44 IA is

51 491444 44444

St At $44 44

rA.$ 144 iSA

51

.fl EIH-- HA A.A.A.44A.A.TA.E
tJ444 19A.A.A.M nan
IA HA
/4 IA

A.44$ 44 41 44 44 61A
IA

A.SSfrA.flA.A

A.4444A.J5A.flA.EtJA
ES It

At 44 514 444 /4 15444
A.A.444SA44

1105011

$A.A
TtSA.A.45938A AEA.A.tA.44A.if
flA.A.ILIflkA.ILA.44I
ES mA
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MEDCAL INSURANCE

QOQO/4

The majority of the Groups PRO employees participate in the medical insurance schemes

organised by the municipal governments under which the Group and its employees are

required to contribute to the scheme approximately 12% and 2% respectively
of the

employees basic salaries For those employees who participate
in these schemes the

Group has no other
obligation

for the payment of medical expense beyond the annual

contributions For the year ended 31 December 2009 the Groups medical insurance

contributions charged to the income statement amounted to RMB132 million 2008

RMB93 million

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BOROWHGS

Details of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and the Group as at 31

December 2009 are set out in note 32 to the financial statements prepared in accordance

with IFRS

INTEREST CAPITAUZED

Interest capitalized by the Group as calculated in accordance with IFRS for the year

ended 31 December 2009 was RMB223 million

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQWPMENT

Movements in property plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the

year are summarized in note 19 to the financial statements prepared in accordance with

IFRS

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31

December 2009 and profit appropriation by the Company are set out in note 41 to the

financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS

STATUTORY COMMON WELFARE FUND

Details in relation to the statutory common welfare fund such as the nature and

application of and movements in the fund and the basis of its calculation including the

percentage used for calculating the amounts are set out in note 41 to the financial

statements prepared in accordance with IFRS

DONATIONS

tll 2j Jt 11tH
iEI lA132

223

jJ

.b

During the year the Group did not make any donation for charitable purposes

EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SCHEME

Details of the Companys employee retirement scheme and post retirement benefits are

set out in note 36 to the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS

Iiijt
36
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MAJOR SUPPUERS AND CUSTOMERS

As at 31 December 2009 the cost of aircraft and related materials from the Groups

largest and five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 3% and 27% respectively

of the total purchases of the Group The sales to the Groups five largest customers

accounted for 10.02% of the Groups total sales in 2009

None of the Directors Supervisors or any of their respective associates nor any

shareholders who to the knowledge of the Directors hold 5% or more of the Companys
share

capital
has any interest in any of the above mentioned

suppliers
and customers

NERA CS ROAN MEETNICS

An extraordinary general meeting of the Company was held on February 2009 at the

Meeting Centre Shanghai Home You Hotel 2550 Hongqiao Road Shanghai For details

please refer to the Companys announcement dated February 2009

GENERAL MEETi.NGG

iN

t4N3%N27% iNNtNNNNiNNn
NNINflRRH1O.02%

5% sQ Al IT

IT

HX .T

2550 IT fT

It Al

N-LNflT AJHN

An extraordinary general meeting an share class meeting and an share class

meeting of the Company were held on 25 February 2009 at the Meeting Centre Shanghai

International Hotel 5TNNNNI1 2550 Hongqiao Road Shanghai For details

please refer to the Companys announcement dated 25 February 2009

An annual general meeting of the Company was held on 13 June 2009 at the Meeting

Centre Shanghai International Hotel ITNNNNNN 2550 Hongqiao Road

Shanghai For details please refer to the Companys announcement dated 13 June 2009

An extraordinary general meeting an share class meeting and an share class

meeting of the Company were held on September 2009 at the Meeting Centre

Shanghai International Hotel IINNNNNN 2550 Hongqiao Road Shanghai For

details please refer to the Companys announcement dated September 2009

An extraordinary general meeting an share class meeting and an share class

meeting of the Company were held on Gctober 2009 at the Meeting Centre Shanghai

International Hotel NNNNNN 2550 Hongqiao Road Shanghai For details

please refer to the Companys announcement dated Gctober 2009

nNNLNnT n-l-HHHNN
IT SI 2550 IT fT

NNSJi HNN NN tANfl
IT hR

NNnR -EHH NHIT

HAlSTNNHNHT H-H Nfl Ni
ITALI%552550NflNNt%NffifRt
SfTnNNANIANIRJNN ItIAIR

fliT NNnNNHNQcT H-AN AT

HAITTNNJLjlT NT NIT
SINN2ssoNITNNNNNARSfTNht
it RN Qij NAN 55 5ij

htNIRNHT HNNNNit
YLTH ATHN

HTSTNNYLNT NH NT 551%
1TN2550N NNNN fiNN

51 it HNN RijNNN UANN.SiJNN
tN NIANNNHAI HNNnNNNN
H-TiN TiN
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BOAD MEETINGS

Session of Meeting Date of Meeting Announced Resolutions Unannounced Resolutions

The 19th ordinary meeting of the fifth 13 January 2009 Agreed that the Company CEA Holding

session of the Board nIT and Eastern Air Group Finance Company Limited

IT HIT ITIT19H ITITITIT entered into an entrusted loan agreement

pursuant to which CEA Holding as the principal

and Eastern Air Group Finance Company Limited

as the trustee provided the Company with

loan of RMBG.55 billion for period of six

months with an interest rate that it is 10% lower

than the benchmark rate offered by commercial

banks tor the same period as required by the

State For details of the transaction please

refer to the Companys announcement dated 15

January 2009 Agreed to the transfer of 35%

of shares of Joy Air Company Limited to China

Aviation Industry Corporation The Company

owns 5% of shares of Joy Air Company Limited

upon completion of the transfer Agreed to

the restructuring of the Yunnan Branch into

subsidiary

AtEITITITIT ITITITITEt

IT 1MM
IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT

ITfITITWITA ITAAflfl
A1M55.5T.H A6fLft.fl 111
IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT

IT 1$ IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT

nITITl-LIT .ffHHIT
IT IT IT IT IT MITT IT IT IT

HIT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT IT

ffHIT35%ITNITHITM HIT

ITIT4iITITITITIIHIT5%fl
ITITITITIT5THITMNATHIT

The 20th ordinary meeting of the fifth February 2009 For details please refer to the

session of the Board nIT IT IL IT Companys announcement dated

ITTITM20GLtIffitIT -JIHH February2009

ITITITI$HIT ITA
nITIT7LITn IT

HIT

The 1st regular meeting of the Board in 2009 February 2009 The financial budget report
of the Company

15$ nITWit IT IT IT lIT IT IT nITITA IT for 2009 was considered and passed Agreed

ff
to the adjustment of the Companys fixed asset

accounting model under IFRS Fixed Asset

accounted for by using revaluation model is

adjusted to be accounted for by cost model

The investment plan of the Company for

2009 was considored and passed 4.Report of

President for 2009 and the working plan
for 2009

was considered and passed

ITITITITHITnITITILITITMITIT
IT$GIT ITITITITHITITITRITIT

IT2fl1TITITtITl$tMfl TI
ITIflttEMIT

ITITITITHITnITITILIT

MAltS ITITnITITnIT
WHAT ITITtnWITAITILENIT
IT

The 21st ordinary meeting of the fifth February 2009 For details please refer to the

session of the Board nIT IT it IT Companys announcement dated

ITHITISITIT21MITITIT n.flitH February2009

IT IT IT IT IT IT

nITITILITn.fl it IT

HITO
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Session of Meeting Date of Meeting Announced Resolutions Unannounced Resolutions

The 22nd ordinary meeting of the fifth

session of the Board

30 March 2009 The resolution on the construction of

complementary facilities at the CEA base western

district in the extension of Shanghai Hongqiao

Airport was considered and passed The

Working Rules of Presidents of China Eastern

Airlines Corporation Limited was considered and

passed

LIMfftIL

The 23rd
ordinary meeting of the fifth

session of the Board

31 March 2009 For details please refer to the

Companys announcement dated

31 March2009

Hft
Lft H-

The 2nd regular meeting of the Board in 2009 15 April 2009

ES .ft

For details please refer to the

Companys announcement dated

15 April 2009

The 24th
ordinary meeting of the fifth

session of the Board

The 3rd regular meeting of the Board in 2009

The 25th ordinary meeting of the fifth

session of the Board

The 26th ordinary meeting of the fifth

session of the Board

The 27th ordinary meeting of the fifth

session of the Board

15 April 2009

ES

28
April

2009

ES

31 May2009

13 June 2009

10 July2009

For details please refer to the

Companys announcement dated

15
April

2009

Hf

For details please refer to the

Companys announcement dated

28 April 2009iffi ftf.ft

For details please refer to the

Companys announcement dated

31 May2009

f.ht

For details please refer to the

Companys announcement dated

10 July 2009

4ff

Agreed in
principle to the establishment of the

Companys Corporate Management Department

and
Legal

Affairs Department

Agreed in principle to the investment in the

enhancement project of the Companys route

network The scale of the project investment

is approximately RMB3O million and the

management of the Company is authorized for its

specific implementation

ft A3000
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Session of Meeting

fli%
Date of Meeting Announced Resolutions Unannounced Resolutions

The 28th ordinary meeting of the fifth

session of the Board

8284 384

The 29th ordinary meeting of the fifth

session of the Board

482941384

15 July2009

28 July 2009

nAH

Agreed to the abandonment of the Companys

Taiwan office and authorized any of the directors

of the Company to sign the relevant necessary

authorization documents Agreed to the

establishment of Taiwan branch and authorized

any of the directors of the Company to sign
the

relevant necessary authorization documents

pursuant to relevant Taiwan laws

44 ff11444 44444

444444 4$ ff1424

4384 i4 080444444420
8044444

Agreed to the Companys application to purchase

RMB
foreign exchange to pay for the settlement

losses of the fuel hedging contract

ff14 ff1844444444444
38444 ff1 3ff

The 30th ordinary meeting of the fifth

session of the Board

nfl 830 138 43ff

The 4th regular meeting of the Board in 2009

fl4n44158444

The 31st ordinary meeting of the fifth

session of the Board

nflSt 38 312 138 43ff

For details please refer to the

Companys announcement dated

10 August 2009

4144444
n44ft4A

For details please refer to the

Companys announcement dated

10 August 2009

41438444 44
nWWfutf\ff

For details please refer to the

Companys announcement dated

October 2009

IflAH H4
nflYL4I0 n-fr
441

Agreed to the Companys participation in the

listing auction or tender of the right to use the

state-owned construction land of Warehousing

Logistics Industrial Project
in Houshayu Town

Shunyi District in accordance to the applicable

laws procedures

4444443444444440
41184 449thff41384lftTM
44384384443844843844
43840

Agreed to the Companys establishment of

wholly-invested company 14 33 0ff

44 311 14 Al Eastern Airlines

Technology Research and Development Applied

Training Ltd provisional name in Oingpu

Export Processing Zone and to purchase in the

name of that company 392 mu of land in Oingpu

Export Processing Zone and authorized the

President for specific implementation agreed

in principle to the establishment of Sichuan

branch and authorized the President for
specific

implementation

4444444444444311414
4444 48 4444

44
133448333841 2- 48144
241144
44

10 August2009

10 August 2009

fll

18 September 2009

The 5th regular meeting of the Board in 2009 27 October 2009

454nfl2381585203t nflYLTh
nH-A

8412844641444 ni
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Session of Meeting Date of Meeting Announced Resolutions Unannounced Resolutions

The 33rd ordinary meeting of the fifth

session of the Boerd

1t133fl01

The resolution on the determination of

number end price of the non-public issue

to specific subscribers was considered and

passed determining the number of shares

of non-public issue as 1350000000 shares at

an issue price of $4.75 per shares Of which

490000000 shares were issued to CEA Holding

and 860000000 shares were issued to other

specific investors The particular number of

shares issued to each specific investor is

based on the bid price number of
subscription

and business cooperation relationship The

resolution on the determination of number and

price of the additional shares placement to

specific subscribers was considered and passed

After
negotiation

with CES Olobal the number of

additional shares placement was determined

to be 490000000 shares at an issue price of

HK$1.56 per
share For details of the transaction

please refer to the Companys announcements

dated 10 July 2009 and 23 Oecember 2009 and

its circular dated 24
July 2009

1W1W1W$1ft11W1W
1W 1W 1W 1W 11W 1W 1111W 1W

Ill It A1W1W1W1W1W

1113.51.1 1W1WWt5Z4751W/1W
4t1W1W1W4.911W III
lttQm1W8.61W.1W HIlIlt111111141-

1- 111W 11W 1111W ft 6112 11411$4t11
1W 11W 11W 1W 111W 1W 1W

1111 lfSIM1WIWtWlW 6111WItH4.9-
1W 11 11.56111/1 111
fl111fl121 flIl
.ft 1WnTTft1H-n rE

nT1WfL1-l1W
flI

The resolution on disposal of nine M090

aircrafts and related
flight equipments was

considered and passed and authorized the

President for specific implementation Agreed

to the Companys application to purchase foreign

exchange to pay for the settlement losses for the

period of January to June 2010 if any of fuel

hedging contract and authorized the President

for specific implementation The resolution

on the swap of
flight simulators of Shanghai

Eastern Flight Training Co Ltd was considered

and passed it was agreed to swap one B787

simulator purchased but not yet delivered

and one existing A300 simulator to one brand

new A320 simulator and one brand new A330

simulator

fl9IQMD9oflfl
61611W 1$ 11W Ili1 111111

1111146151
1111 1111
16111 1111161111

WI 5111W 6161 WI 161141W 187871W

1W6111WlA300llWIfllWIl
6111W A320 1111 6151W

A3301fl

The 32nd ordinary meeting of the fifth

session of the Board

flIt 132 11

Oecember 2009

nWWtl

23 Oecember 2009

WILl

flH

For details please refer to the

Companys announcement dated

23 Oecember 2009

lIflIft HIl
flWWtLtfl
fl1W HIll
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Transactions between the Company and its connected persons or their respective

associates as defined in the
Listing Rules are governed by and have to comply with the

requirements for disclosure under the Listing Rules

On 10 December 2008 CEA Holding entered into an share subscription agreement the

Original Share Subscription Agreement with the Company to subscribe for new

shares to be issued by the Company Simultaneously with the entering into of the

Original Share Subscription Agreement CES Global entered into an share

subscription agreement with the Company the Original Share Subscription

Agreement to subscribe for new shares to be issued by the Company Subsequently

the parties
made adjustments to certain terms of the Original Share Subscription

Agreement and the Original Share Subscription Agreement and on 29 December 2008

CEA Holding entered into revised share
subscription agreement with the Company

to subscribe in cash for 1437375000 new shares in the Company at the subscription

price of RMB3.87 per share with total subscription price of RMB5562641 250 and

CES Global entered into revised share subscription agreement with the Company to

subscribe in cash for 1437375000 new shares in the Company at the
subscription

price of RMB1 .00 per share with total subscription price of RMB1 437375000

respectively The
Original

Share Subscription Agreement and the Original Share

Subscription Agreement were cancelled accordingly As CEA Holding holds approximately

59.87% of the then issued share capital of the Company the transaction entered into

between the Company and CEA Holding constituted connected transaction of the

Company under the
Listing

Rules As CES Global is an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary

of CEA Holding the transaction entered into between the Company and CES Global

constituted connected transaction of the Company The Revised Share Subscription

Agreement and the Revised Share Subscription Agreement have been approved by

relevant regulatory bodies and the change in the Companys share capital has been

completed

On 10 July 2009 CEA Holding entered into
subscription agreement with the Company

pursuant to which CEA Holding will at the
subscription price

of not less than RMB4.75

per share subscribe in cash for not more than 490000000 new shares Since CEA

Holding directly held approximately 56.08% of the then issued share capital of the

Company and hence connected person of the Company the
subscription agreement

constitutes connected transaction of the Company CES Global entered into another

subscription agreement with the Company on the same day pursuant to which CES

Global will at the subscription price of not less than HK$1.40 per share subscribe in

cash for not more than 490000000 new shares Since CES Global is substantial

shareholder of the Company and an indirectly wholly owned
subsidiary

of CEA Holding

and hence connected person of the Company this subscription agreement also

constitutes connected transaction of the Company The above transactions were

completed on 23 December 2009

ffAG9
f3 1% fM

fJ
AJ% I3bWi1aT

A7fUf
3.87I

%5562641 .250 14373750OO
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the tramework renewal agreements governing continuing connected

transactions related to daily operations which was considered and approved by the

Board in its third regular meeting 20DB held on 29 April 20DB considered and approved

by the shareholders meeting held on 30 June 2008 and considered and approved by the

Board in its fifth
regular meeting 2008 held on 28 October 2008 and the new framework

agreement governing report import and export agency services which was considered

and approved by the Board in its second regular meeting 2009 held on 15 April 2009 the

Company revised the estimated caps for transactions for 2009 and 2010 The following

table sets out the annual caps for the continuing connected transactions between the

Group and members of CEA Holding for 2009

Note The annuel cap for the Agency Services provided by VAMTITIIt ITTITI 117 Eastern

Aviation Import Export Company Import Export Company for the
year

ended 31

December 2008 was set at 8MB42.70 million However as at 31 December 2008 the

aggregated commissions and expenses payable by the Company to Import Export Company

for its provision of such services for the year 2008 was approximately RM847.26 million

exceeding
the 2008 annual cap the Company has previously anticipated It is expected that

the annual
caps

for 2009 and 2010 for the aggregate commissions and expenses payable by

the Company to Import Export Company as previously anticipated will also increase to

RMB5O.00 mOIion and BM869.50 million respectively For details please refer to the

ompanys announcement dated 15Apr11
2009

Details of the Groups continuing
connected transactions with the Companys connected

persons as defined in the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2009 are

set out in note 45 to the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS

For further details regarding the above continuing connected transactions please refer

to the Companys 2008 annual report
and the announcement of the Company dated 15

April 2009

The Companys independent non-executive Directors have reviewed such continuing

connected transactions during
the year 2009 and confirmed that

the transactions have been entered into by the Group in the ordinary and usual

course of its business

the transactions have been entered into either on normal commercial terms by

reference to transactions of similar nature made by similar entities within China

or where there is no available comparison on terms that are fair and

reasonable so far as the shareholders of the Company are concerned and

the transactions have been entered into either in accordance with the terms of

the agreement governing each such connected transaction or ii where there is

no such agreement on terms no less favorable than terms availabe to third

parties

ft f3 Ft 7F Li
ri 2i
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Transactions

Annual caps for

continuing connected

transactions Transaction

Conducted in 2009

WW IL TI

RMBOOO

AflA
Property Leasing TOt GO million 6000
Financial Services outstanding deposits TI TI 58 TI TI TI TI TI 2500 million 25V

Importand ExportAgencyServicesNofo TITITITITITA 6omillion 6000
Maintenance Services IA TI TI TI TI 18 million 1800

Catering
Services TI TI TI TI TI TI TI TI 540.38 million 54039

Sales Agency Services TI TI TI 1-BV TITI 17.15 million 1715

Advertising Agency Services 4-k TI TI TI 23.50 million 2350

Automobile Repairing Services IA TI TI TI TI 35 million 3500
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For the purpose of Rule 14A.3B of the Listing Rules the auditors of the Company have

performed certain agreed upon procedures on the above connected transactions

disclosed herein for the year ended 31 December 20DB in accordance with the Hong

Kong Standard on Related Services 440D Engagements to Perform Agreed-Upon

Procedures Regarding Financial Information issued by the Hong Kong Institute of

Certified Public Accountants and reported that the aforesaid connected transactions

have been

approved by the Board

entered into in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the

transactions and

31 within the relevant caps disclosed in
previous announcements

In respect of each continuing connected transaction disclosed in note 45 to the financial

statements prepared in accordance with IFRS the Company confirms that it has complied

with the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules

Details of the other related party transactions entered by the Group during the year

ended 31 December 20DB are set out in note 45 to the financial statements prepared in

accordance with IFRS These transactions do not constitute connected transactions

under the Listing Rules

In relation to future deliveries of aircraft as at 31 December 20DB the following are

details of aircrafts on order which are scheduled to be delivered

t114A.3BbtiRHt
Lft .L tO RH RH

144001 T% RH IT

iii RH RH RH RH

IT flnII1c

RH$ttLRH

ThAIRHttRH1iRH
Lftfl

31 III

RH RH RH RH ftj

45IIRHRHRHfl rtRH
61 151gi RH

$IflntflRH-l-ng
RH RH

RH RH RH RH RH fit RH 1$ gi 55
RHflS.45 HlSfiJlPfr

flRHRHII

RHIRHtHt4RHIRHRH InflftRHn
1tRHIflS.rRH

Type of aircraft

nfl
A32D

B737700

B737BDD

A32D

A33D

B7377DD

B737BDD

A32D

A33D

B7377DD

B737BDD

A32D

A33D

B737700

B737BDD

A33D

B7377DD

B737BDD

B7377DD

B737BDD

Number of aircraft

14

11

12

Year of delivery

2010

2010

2010

2011

2011

2011

2011

2012

2012

2012

2012

2013

2013

2013

2013

2014

2014

2014

2015

2015

As at the date of this report the Directors are not aware of any aircraft which is
subject

to options exercisable during period of not less than 12 months from 31 December

20DB

STAFF HOUSING BENEFITS

11115 RH
RHnfljuRHn HISS

RH RH RH Il RH

RHflRHIfl

RH RH

Details of the Groups staff housing benefits are set out in note 37 to the financial

statements prepared in accordance with IFRS

37
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MATERAL LTGATON

The family members of certain victims in the aircraft accident the aircraft was then

owned and operated by China Eastern Air Yunnan Company which occurred in Baotou

on 21 November 2004 sued the Company in U.S court for compensation After the

case entered the procedures on appeal the California Court of Appeal dismissed the

appeal of the plaintiff and affirmed the
original

order Subsequent to that on 16 March

2009 the plaintiff sued the Company in the
Beijing

No Intermediate Peoples Court On

lB August 2009
Beijing

No Intermediate Peoples Court accepted the case Legal

documents including summons prosecution notifications and others have been served

pn the Company Trial is yet to begin The management of the Broup believes that any

outcome for this case will not have an adverse effect on the financial condition and

resufts.of operations of the Company The Group intends to
provide regular updates to

the shareholders regarding the progress of the litigation As at 31 December 2009 the

Group was not involved in any other litigation arbitration or claim of material

importance

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

On 15 January 2009 CEA Holding as the principal

Aft Eastern Air Group Finance Company Limited the Finance Company as

the trustee and the Company as the borrower entered into an entrusted loan

agreement in Shanghai pursuant to which the Company would obtain short term

loan of RMBS.55 billion from CEA Holding through the Finance Company CEA

Holding holding 59.67% of the Companys entire share capital prior to the

issuance of shares and shares of the Company as referred to in the above

paragraph is the controlling shareholder and connected person of the Company

Since CEA Holding is also the controlling shareholder of the Finance Company the

Finance Company is connected person of the Company Pursuant to the Listing

Rules of the Shanghai Stock Exchange this transaction constitutes connected

transaction of the Company This transaction has been considered by the 19th

ordinary meeting of the fifth session of the Board and has been unanimously

approved by all of the independent directors of the Company by means of written

consent The connected directors of the Company abstained from voting Details

are set out in the announcement of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated 15

January 2009

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 25 February 2009

the proposal of certain amendments to the articles of association of the Company

in connection with the means of
receipt

of corporate communication was passed

with immediate effect For details please refer to the announcements of the

Company issued in Hong Kong dated January 2009 and 26 February 2009 and

the circular dated January 2009

On 30 April 2009 the Company entered into the Aircraft Sale and Purchase

Agreements and the Aircraft Lease Agreements with WMtftWftA
Bank of Communications Financial Leasing Co Ltd in connection with two

Airbus A340 series aircraft pursuant to which the Company will sell and lease

back the two Airbus A340 series aircraft Details are set out in the announcement

of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated 30
April

2009

On 15 June 2009 the Company entered into the aircraft purchase agreement with

Airbus SAS in Shanghai regarding the purchase of twenty Airbus A320 series

aircraft with engines Details are set out in the announcement of the Company

issued in Hong Kong dated 17 June 2009 and the circular issued in Hong Kong

dated 25 August 2009
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The principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong has been changed

frOm 5th Floor McDonalds Building 48 Yee Wa Street Hong Kong to Unit 31/F

United Centre 95 Queensway Hong Kong Details are set out in the

announcement of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated July 2009

On 10
July 2009 the Board resolved among others to convene an extraordinary

general meeting and the respective class meetings for the grant of
specific

mandates to the Board Ii to issue not more than 1350000000 new shares of

the Company to not more than 10 specific investors subject to the maximum

number of specific investors as permitted by PRC laws and regulations at the time

of the issuance including CEA Holding at an issue price of not less than HMB4.75

per
share of the Company Share Specific Mandate and ii to issue not

more than 490000000 new shares of the Company to CES Global at an issue

price
of not less than HK$1.4

per
share Share Specific Mandate

In relation to and as part
of the transactions contemplated under the Share

Specific Mandate on 10 July 2009 CEA Holding entered into the Share

Subscription Agreement with the Company pursuant to which CEA Holding

agreed to subscribe for and the Company agreed to issue not more than

490000000 new shares of the Company at the
subscription price

of not less

than RMB4.75 per share

In relation to and as part of the transactions contemplated under the Share

Specific Mandate on 10 July 2009 CES Global entered into the Share

Subscription Agreement with the Company pursuant to which CES Global agreed

to subscribe for and the Company agreed to issue not more than 490000000

new shares of the Company at the subscription price of not less than HK$1.40

per
share

The aforesaid transactions were completed on 23 December 2009 Details are set

out in the announcements of the Company dated 10 July 2009 and 23 December

2009 and its circular dated 24 July 2009

On 10
July 2009 the Company entered into an absorption agreement with .L

Shanghai Airlines Co Ltd Shanghai Airlines in relation

to the absorption of Shanghai Airlines by way of the issuance of new shares of

the Company in exchange for the existing issued shares of Shanghai Airlines on

the basis of 1.3 shares of the Company for every existing issued share of

Shanghai Airlines The exchange of shares were completed on 28 January 2010

As of 28 January 2010 the identifiable net liabilities of Shanghai Airlines acquired

by the Company had book value of approximately RMB765 million and fair

value of approximately RMB2055 million Details are set out in the

announcements of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated 10 July 2009 10

August 2009 10 September 2009 October 2009 January 2010 11 January

2010 13 January 2010 18 January 2010 26 January 2010 28 January 2010 and

the circular of the Company dated 25 August 2009

L31B
r.Fi tti

EIL-
A.ffi ff0imii

Iitf

f7 1350000000

2ttiA

A490000000f StJ

L-ff
ff02A10TAtf 0f0IAA4.75f0f1f

490000000 0AfLH ff0Hit

ff0 tt ttI 490000000

tThH

ffto
ATfMI

7.65

150 $AM2o.55f0

WtLmH--.AtHAHJT-WW0if



00005J
REPORT OF ORCTORS

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on September 2009

the Board was authorized by the shareholders to make appropriate and necessary

amendments to the articles of association at the Company as they think fit to

reflect such increases in the
registered capital

and change of shareholding of the

Company as result of the issuances referred to in item above With completion

of the issuances on 10 December 2DD9 and 23 December 2009 respectively the

Board resolved on 23 December 2DDB that with immediate effect certain

amendments in connection with the completion of the issuance were made to

the articles of association of the Company to reflect the completion of the

issuance For details please refer to the announcements of the Company issued in

Hong Kong dated 23 December 20DB

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on October 2009 the

Board was authorized by the shareholders to make such appropriate and

necessary amendments to the Articles of Association as they think fit to reflect

such increases in the registered capital
and change of shareholding of the

Company as result of the completion of the exchange of shares referred to in

item above With completion of the exchange of shares on 2B January 2010

and the
listing

of the issued shares of the Company as result of the exchange

commencing on February 2010 the oorresponding amendments made to certain

articles of association of the Company as result of the completion of the

absorption became effective on February 2010 For details please refer to the

announcement of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated February 2010

10 On 2B December 2009 the Company entered into an aircraft purchase agreement

with Airbus SAS regarding the purchase of sixteen Airbus A330 series aircraft

with engines in Shanghai For details please refer to the announcement of the

Company issued in Hong Kong dated 2B December 2009 and the circular dated 26

March 2010

11 On 24 March 2010 the Company and 41414141414141414141 Eastern

Aviation Advertising Co Ltd the Advertising Company entered into an

agreement pursuant to which the Company agreed to grant the Advertising

Company exclusive rights to operate the media resources of the Company For

details please refer to the announcement of the Company issued in Hong Kong

dated 24March 2010

INDEPENDENT DI ECTORS OPINION

Independent Directors of the Company have performed auditing work and issued an

independent opinion on the guarantees the Company has provided as required by the

relevant requirements of the CSIRC The Company has strictly observed relevant laws and

regulations as well as its articles of association while it has also imposed strict control

on the guarantees provided As at 31 December 2009 none of the Company and its

subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements has provided any

guarantee to the Companys controlling shareholder and other related parties other non-

legal person entity units and individuals
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AUDTORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers Certified Public Accountants Hong Kong and

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company registered accountants in 1$ 53c 31 1313131313131
the PRC were the Companys international and domestic auditors in 2COB respectively 31 11311 13131 ti 313131 313131

31113131

On behalf of the Board

LiuShaoyong

Chairman 3131

Shanghai the PHC 31 31
lBApril2ClQ

tI3131313131313131h 31
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CORPORATE OOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has established formal and appropriate corporate governance structure

The Company has also placed emphasis on the corporate governance principle of having

transparency accountability and safeguarding the interests of all shareholders

The Directors believe that sound corporate governance is essential to the development

of the Companys operations The Board
regularly

reviews our corporate governance

practices to ensure that the Company operates in accordance with the laws regulations

and requirements of the listing jurisdictions and that the Company continuously

implements corporate governance of high quality

The Company corporate governance practices include but are not limited to the

following

Articles of association rules ot meeting of general meetings rules of meeting of the

Board rules of meeting of the Supervisory Committee working regulations of

independent directors constitutional documents of the audit and risk management

committee constitutional documents of the planning and development committee

working rules of the nomination and remuneration committee working rules of the

aviation safety and environment committee working regulations of presidents

management regulations of investor relationship investor relationship management

detailed implementation regulation management regulations of the connected

transactions connected transaction detailed implementation regulation regulations on

external guarantee and the interim administrative regulations concerning hedging

businesses

For the year ended 31 December 2009 the Reporting Period and as at the date of the

announcement of this annual report the Board has reviewed the relevant provisions and

corporate governance practices under the codes of corporate governance practices

adopted by the Company and took the view that the Companys corporate governance

practices during
the financial year ended 31 December 2009 met the requirements under

the code
provisions

in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices set out in Appendix

14 to the Listing Rules the Code In certain aspects the code of corporate governance

adopted by the Company is more stringent than the
provisions set out in the Code The

following sets out aspects which are more stringent than the Code

Major aspects which are more stringent than provisions set out in the Code

all members of the audit and risk management are independent non-executive

directors

20 meetings of the Board were held
during

the financial year of 2009

Other than the audit and risk management committee and the nomination and

remuneration committee the Company also established two specialized

committee namely planning and development committee and aviation safety and

environment committee
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BOARD

OO%d

The Company is managed by the Board The Board is responsible for the leadership and

control of the Company The Directors are jointly responsible for implementing

businesses of the Company by directing and supervising the affairs of the Company

DRECTORS

As at 31 December 2009 the Board consists of 10 Directors including five independent

non-executive Directors During the first extraordinary general meeting in 2009 held on

February 2009 the shareholders of the Company approved Mr Liu Shaoyong and Mr Ma

Xulun to join the fifth session of the Board while Mr Li Fenghua and Mr Cao Jianxiong

were no longer the directors of the Company During the 2008 Annual General Meeting

held on 13 June 2009 the shareholders of the Company approved the appointment of

Mr Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu as an independent non-executive director of the fifth session of

the Board while Mr Peter Lok was no longer an independent non-executive director of

the Company During the first extraordinary general meeting in 2010 held on 19 March

2010 the shareholders approved the appointment of Mr Wu Xiaogen and Mr Ji

Weidong as the independent non-executive directors of the fifth session of the Board

while Mr Ho Honggao and Mr Zhou Ruijin were no longer the independent non-

executive directors of the Company

All Directors shall retire in the third annual general meeting following their appointment

but are eligible
for re-election

Names personal particulars and effective date of appointment of the Directors are set

out in page 24 to page 35 of this report

Independent non-executive Directors of the Company shall possess extensive skills and

experience They shall be able to play their roles of supervising the checks and balances

to the fullest extent to protect the interests of shareholders and the Company as

whole The Board considers that they shall be able to exercise independent judgment

effectively which complies with guidelines on their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13

of the Listing Rules

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules the Company has received the annual

confirmation letters from each of the independent non-executive Directors on their

independence

All Directors including independent non-executive Directors are appointed for term of

years The formal appointment letters and the articles of association of the Company

have set out the terms and conditions of their appointment

Other than working relationships Directors Supervisors and senior management of the

Company do not have any financial business or family connection with one another
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POWERS OF THE BOARD

On periodic basis the Board reviews the relevant performance against proposed

budgets and business objectives of each operating unit It also exercises number of

powers retained by the Board including
the following

responsibility for convening general meetings and reporting to shareholders on its

work

implementing resolutions passed in general meetings

deciding on the operating plan and investment proposals of the Company

formulating the annual preliminary and final budget proposals

formulating the Companys profit distribution proposal and the proposal to offset

losses

formulating the Companys proposals to increase or reduce the
registered capital

and proposals to issue debt securities

drawing up proposals for the Companys merger demerger and dissolution

deciding on the Companys internal management structure

employing or dismissing the Companys President and secretary to the Board

appointment or dismissal of the Vice President and chief financial officer of the

Company on the nomination of the President and the determination of their

remuneration

formulating the management systems of the Company

formulating proposals to amend the articles of association of the Company

discharging any other powers and functions granted in general meetings

The Board and the relevant specialized committees are also responsible for the

completeness of financial information of the Company and are responsible for

maintaining an effective internal control system and for risk management as well as

preparing the financial statements Setting the business objectives and overseeing the

daily operations are the responsibilities of the chief executive officer The Companys

articles of association specify the duties and functions of the Board and management

The Board
periodically

reviews the duties and functions of the chief executive officer and

the powers delegated to him to ensure that such arrangements are appropriate

In order to ensure the balance of powers and authorization the roles of the Chairman

and the chief executive officer have been
clearly

defined The Chairman of the Company

is Mr Liu Shaoyong and the chief executive officer is Mr Ma Xulun Director There

are also other senior officers who are responsible for the daily management within their

scope of duties
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MEETING OF THE BOARD

The Chairman leads the Board to ensure that the Board performs its various duties

effectively
and he is

responsible
for drawing up the agenda of the meeting of the Board

and considering other matters other Directors propose to be included in the agenda The

agenda together with documents of the Board should be as far as practicable circulated

at least days prior to the meeting of the Board or its
specialized

committees The

Chairman is also
obliged

to ensure that all the Directors are suitably briefed on matters

to be raised in the meeting of the Board The Chairman ensures that the Directors

receive information that is accurate timely and clear Through on-the-job training of

Directors and continued
participation

in meetings of the Board and of committees of the

Board and interviews with tey persons in headquarters and other departments the

Directors are encouraged to update their skills knowledge and their understanding of

the Group

The Company has established special unit i.e the secretariat of the board to work for

the Board All the Directors can access the service of the company secretary The

company secretary periodically updates the Directors of the latest information on

governance and regulation The Directors may seek independent professional
advice

through the Chairman for the purpose of performing their duties with the cost to the

Company Specialized committees may also seek
professional

advice

The company secretary is responsible for the records of the board meetings These

minutes of meetings together with other documents for the board meetings shall be

made available to all the Directors Board meetings are meant to enable the Directors to

have open and frank discussions

In order to ensure sound corporate governance as at the date of the announcement of

this annual report the Board had committees in place Audit and Risk Management

Committee Nomination and Remuneration Committee Planning and Development

Committee and Aviation Safety and Environment Committee with their terms of

reference drawn up in accordance with the principles set out in the Code The company

secretary drafts the minutes of meetings for these committees and the committees

report to the Board

The Board has held 2D meetings during
the Reporting Period The following tables show

the attendance rate of each Director at shareholders general meetings and board

meetings

Directors

Liu Shaoyong Chairman

Li Fenghua Former-Chairman

terminated on February 2009

Li Jun

Ma Xulun

Cao Jianxiong terminated on February 2DD9

Luo Chaogeng

Luo Zhu ping

Independent Non-executive Director

Ru Honggao

Independent Non-executive Director

Peter Lok terminated on 13 June 2009

Independent Non-executive Director

Wu Baiwang

Independent Non-executive Director

Zhou Ruijin

Independent Non-executive Director

XieRong

Independent Non-executive Director

Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu appointed on 13 June 2DD9
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DIRECTORS NTERESTS

All the Directors shall declare to the Board upon their first appointment their capacities

as Directors and any other
positions

held in other institutions the declaration of which

shall be renewed once year When the Board discusses any motion or transaction and

considers any Director has any conflict of interest the Director shall declare his interest

and abstain from voting and will excuse himself as appropriate The Company shall

pursuant to the guidelines request from Directors their confirmation if they or their

associates are connected with any transactions entered into by the Company or its

subsidiaries during the Reporting Period Material transactions which have been

confirmed as having been entered into with any connected person have been disclosed

in the notes to the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS of this annual

report

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code of Appendix 1D of the
Listing

Rules as the

securities transactions code for Directors Each of the Directors and Supervisors of the

Company has been issued with copy of the Model Code upon their appointment

All the Directors and Supervisors of the Company have confirmed that they have

complied with the Model Code in 2DDB

The Company has also adopted the related provisions set out in Appendix 14 to the

Listing Rules and has established its Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions by

Employees of the Company according to its own situation and with reference to the

Modal Code as set out in Appendix 1D to the Listing Rules The aforesaid Code of

Conduct shall apply to the conduct of dealings in the securities of the Company by the

Supervisors and senior management of the Company

In addition pursuant to the requirements of the
Listing

Rules for Shares of the Shanghai

Stock Exchange the shares of the Company transferred by each of the Directors

Supervisors and senior management of the Company every year are not allowed to

exceed 25% of the total number of shares held by each of them and they are not

allowed to purchase the shares of the Company within months after they have sold

their shares They are also not allowed to sell the shares of the Company within

months after they have bought the shares of the Company Additionally within months

after they have left their appointment they are not allowed to transfer their shares of

the Company held by them

All the employees who may have unpublished price-sensitive information related to the

Group are also required to comply with the Model Code During the Reporting Period the

Company is not aware of any breach of laws and regulations

DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The Directors confirm that they are responsible for the preparation of the financial

statements of the Group

The Auditors report made by the Companys auditors in respect of the financial

statements is set out on page 64 to page 65 of this annual report
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AUDT AND RSK MANAGEMENT COMMFITEE

The fourth regular meeting of the Board of the Company in 2009 was held on 10 August

2009 during which the resolution of the change of Audit Committee of the Board to

Audit and Risk Management Committee and the corresponding amendments to its

articles was approved

As at 31 December 2009 the audit and risk management committee comprises Mr Xie

Hong Mr Hu Honggao and Mr Zhou Ruijin all of whom are independent non-executive

Directors Mr Xie Hong the chairman possesses professional qualifications in

accounting The first extraordinary general meeting in 2010 was held on 19 March 2010

during which Mr Wu Xiaogen and Mr Ji Weidong were appointed as independent non-

executive directors of the Company while Mr Hu Honggao and Mr Zhou Ruijin are no

longer independent non-executive directors of the Company The 36th
ordinary meeting

of the fifth session of the Board of the Company was held on the same day during
which

the resolution on the appointment of members of the Audit and Risk Management

Committee was considered and passed agreed that Mr Hu Honggao and Mr Zhou
Ruijin

ceased to be the members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee while Mr Wu

Xiaogen and Mr Ji Weidong were appointed to serve as the members of the Audit and

Risk Management Committee and Mr Xie Rong still serves as the Chairman of the Audit

and Risk Management Committee for term expiring upon the expiry
of the current

session of the Board of Directors

Audit and Risk Management Committee is specialized committee under the Board It is

responsible for checking and monitoring the financial reports and internal control of the

Company checking and evaluating the overall risk management of the Company in

particular the risk management and risk control policy for material decision significant

events and major business and overseeing their implementation

INTERNAL CONTROL

Internal control system

The Board shall be responsible for the overall internal control system of the

Company/Group and
periodically

reviews the effectiveness of the internal control

system through the audit and risk management committee The internal control

system is essential to risk management which in turn is important in ensuring

that operational objectives can be achieved Internal control procedures are

designed to prevent assets from unauthorized use or disposal to ensure the

maintenance of appropriate accounting records and to provide reliable financial

information either for internal use or for dissemination
externally However the

control procedures aim at reasonably but not absolutely assuring that there will

not be material misrepresentation loss or unlawful conduct The internal control

system is prepared in accordance with the relevant laws supplementary

regulations and constitutional documents

The Company reviews the effectiveness of its internal control annually which

includes control over finance operations compliance with laws and regulations as

well as the monitoring of risk management The results of the review have been

reported to the audit and risk management committee and the Board

The Board confirms that the Company has systems and procedures in place to

identify manage and
report

material risks in the course of achieving its strategic

objectives The Board continue to monitor risks with the support of the specialised

committees and senior management
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NTERNAL AUDT

The Companys internal audit department is responsible for conducting an

independent audit of whether or not the internal control system is sufficient and

effective The auditing plan is prepared using risk based approach and is

discussed and finalized by the audit and risk management committee annually

Other than the pre-determined scope of work for each year the department is also

required to conduct other
specific audits

The Groups internal audit department reports to the chief executive officer it may
also

report directly to the chairman of the audit and risk management committee

All internal audit reports are delivered to the Chairman of the Board chief

executive officer chief financial officer the management of the audited

department and related departments The outcome of each audit in summary will

also be discussed with the audit and risk management committee The Board and

the audit and risk management committee of the Company actively
monitor the

number and seriousness of the inspection result by the internal audit department

and the relevant corrective measures taken by the relevant department

RISK MANAGEMENT

Thu audit and risk management committee of the Company is responsible for

checking and evaluating the overall risk management of the Company and

overseeing their implementation checking and
evaluating

the risk management

and risk control policy and duties on developing fuels foreign exchange and

interest rate hedging and overseeing their implementation

The internal audit department has undertaken related risk management duties and

reports to the audit and risk management committee periodically It is responsible

far coordinating the implementation of appropriate procedures to manage

operational risks

The resolution of changing the audit committee of the Board to the audit and risk

management committee was passed on the 4th regular meeting of the Board of

the Company in 2009 As specialized committee under the Board the audit and

risk management commrttee is responsible for checking and monitoring the

financial reports and internal control of the Company checking and evaluating the

overall risk management and corporate governance of the Company and making

relevant recommendation to the Board

The audit and risk management committee held three meetings in 2009 In each

meeting senior management and external as well as internal auditors were

invited to attend Based on the
reports of the external and internal auditors the

audit and risk management committee conducted audits on accounting principles

and
practices

and internal controls adopted by the Group with view to comply

with the requirements of the Listing Rules The committee also conducted reviews

of audits internal control risk management and financial statements The Groups

interim results for 2009 and the final results for 2009 had been discussed in the

audit and risk management committees meetings before they were submitted to

the Board for approval
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Attendance of members of the audit and risk management committee meetings is

as follows

The audit and risk management committee has also conducted other compliance

work to comply with US reporting requirements in 2009 including review of the

Companys compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and specifically to consider

the work undertaken by the management including managements assessment to

ensure the Companys compliance with the internal control regulation Section

4041 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

The constitutional document of the audit and risk management committee is

posted on the website of the Company

EXTERNAL AUWTORS

For the Reporting Period the annual audit fees payable to the external auditors both

international and domestic auditors is estimated to be RMB12 million for the
regular

annual audit of the Groups 2009 financial statements prepared under IFRS and PRC

Accounting Standards and the othe relevant documents applicable for the purpose of

20-F
filing

In addition RMB1 million is payable to the external auditors in connection

with the Companys major acquisition during the Reporting Period Fee of RMBO.06

million is also payable to the external auditors for approved non-audit services primarily

tax compliance services rendered during the Reporting Period The auditors

remuneration are determined by the audit committee and approved by the Board

The audit committee obtained an overall understanding of the non-audit services and its

scope and was satisfied that the non-audit services in respect
of the nature of service

and the total cost had not affected the independence of the accounting firm
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The constitutional document of the planning and development committee is posted on

the website of the company

REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2009 the remuneration and appraisal committee of the Company

comprises Mr Zhou Fluijin Mr Luo Chaogeng and Mr Wu Baiwang Mr Zhou Ruijin an

independent director is the chairman of the committee The first extraordinary general

meeting in 2010 was held on 19 March 2010 during which Mr Wu Xiaogen and Mr di

Weidong were appointed as independent non-executive directors of the Company while

Mr Ru Honggao and Mr Zhou Ruijin are no longer the independent non-executive directors

ot the Company The 36th ordinary meeting of the tifth session ot the board of directors

of the Company was held on the same day during which the resolution of merge of the

Nomination Committee and the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee into the Nomination

and Remuneration Committee the Working Rules of the Nomination and Remuneration

Committee IL fP and the appointment of the

composition of the nomination and remuneration committee was passed Mr Liu Shaoyong

Mr Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu and Mr Ji Weidong were appointed to composite the Nomination

and Remuneration Committee of the fifth session of the Board and Liu Shaoyong serves as

the Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee for term expiring upon the

expiry of the current session of the Board of Directors

The nomination and remuneration committee is specialized committee under the

Board It is responsible for the discussion in regard to nominees standards and

procedures for
selecting

directors and senior management of the Company and making

recommendation responsible for studying and examining the remuneration policy and

solutions of directors and senior management of the Company responsible for studying

the performance appraisal standards for directors and senior management of the

Company conducting appraisals and making recommendation

The remuneration and appraisal committee has not convened any meetings during the

year 2009
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PLANMNG AND DEVELOPMENT COMMEFTEE

As of 31 December 2009 the planning and development committee of the Company

comprises of three members Mr Wu Baiwang Mr Luo Chaogeng and Mr Luo Zhuping

Mr Wu Baiwang an independent non-executive director is the chairman of the

committee

The planning and development committee is specialized committee under the Board It

is responsible for studying considering and making plans or recommendation in regard

to the
long term development plans and material investment decision of the Company

and overseeing their implementation

Attendance of members of planning and development committee meetings is as follows

Members

WuBaiwang LI11tI 4/4 100%

LuoChaogeng Sf4111 4/4 100%

Luozhuping 5115 4/4 100%

Attendance

HillS
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Under the guidance of the remuneration and
appraisal committee the Company has

renewed the liability
insurance for directors supervisors and senior management in

August 2009 During the first meeting of the remuneration and
appraisal

committee of

the Board in 2010 the remuneration for the year 2009 of salaried directors supervisors

and senior management was considered and passed the reports of the Company

regarding the performance contract plans of 2010 for directors supervisor and senior

management were also received

The Working Rules of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is posted on the

webs ite of the Company

REMUNERATION POLICY OF DIRECTORS

Directors generally do not receive remuneration from the Company except independent

non-executive Directors who received fixed remuneration However Directors who

served as other administrative positions will receive salary with regard to those positions

separately

Certain Directors received emoluments from CEA Holding the parent company part of

which were in respect of their services to the Company and its subsidiaries

Generally the
policy regarding the remuneration packages of Directors are aimed

primarily at linking
the remuneration of Directors to their performance which helps to

encourage their performance and their remaining in office Pursuant to the policy

Directors are not allowed to approve their own remuneration

The remuneration of Directors of the Company mainly comprises basic salary and bonus

BASIC SALARY

Directors review the basic salary of each Director every year pursuant to the

remuneration policy of the Company In 2009 pursuant to the service contracts entered

into between the Company and each of the Directors Directors are entitled to receive

fixed basic salary

BONUS

Bonuses are calculated based on the measurable performance and contribution of the

operating units for which the Directors are responsible

REMUNERATION POLICY OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS

Allowances before tax received by the Companys independent non-executive Directors

in 2009 were as follows
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Hu Honggao

Peter Lok terminated on 13 June 2009

Wu Baiwang

Zhou Ruijin

Xie Hong

Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu appointed on 13 June 2009

RMB 120000

HK$ 120000

RMB 120000

HMB 120000

RMB 120000

HK$ 120000
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Nomination Committee tE

The third regular meeting of the hoard of the Company in 2009 was held on 28 April 2009

during which the establishment of the nomination committee was considered and resolved

and passed its charter The 36th ordinary meeting of the fifth session of the Board of the

Company was held on 19 March 2010 during which the merge of the Nomination Committee

and the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee into the Nomination and Remuneration

Committee was agreed and the Working Rules of the Nomination and Remuneration

Committee l1 ff 511 was passed agreed to that Mr Liu

Shaoyong Mr Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu and Mr Ji Weidong to composite the Nomination and

Remuneration Committee and Liu Shaoyong serves as the chairman of the Committee

The Working Rules of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is posted on the

website of the Company

Aviation Safety and Environment Committee

The first regular meeting of the Board of the Company in 2010 was held on 20 January

2010 during which the establishment of the aviation safety and environment committee

was agreed and the Working Rules of the Aviation Safety and Environment Committee

was passed The 36th ordinary meeting of the fifth session of the Board of the Company

was held on 19 March 2010 during which it was agreed that the aviation
safety

and

environment committee of the Company comprises Mr Ma Xulun Mr Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu

and Mr Wu Xiaogen and Ma Xulun serves as the Chairman of the Committee

The aviation safety and environment committee is specialized committee under the

Board It is responsible for the consistency of the implementation of the relevant laws or

regulatory of national aviation safety and environmental protection examining and

overseeing the aviation safety management of the Company studying considering and

making recommendation in regard to the aviation safety duty plans and major issues of

the related safety duties and overseeing their implementation studying considering and

making recommendation about the major issues of environmental
protection on the

carbon emission of domestic international and aviation and overseeing their

implementation

The Working Rules of the Aviation Safety and Environment Committee was posted on

the website of the Company

INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

The Company undertakes that the disclosure it makes is fair and the reports it provides

are comprehensive and transparent The ultimate responsibility of the Chairman of the

Board is to ensure effective communication with investors and to ensure that the Board is

aware of the views of major shareholders Accordingly the Chairman is required to meet

the shareholders in this regard and the routine communication of the Board with the

major shareholders is conducted through the company secretary

The Company has drawn up and implemented an Information Disclosure and

Management System and has further improved the information disclosure system in

order to ensure the accuracy completeness and timeliness of information disclosed to

public the Company has also established an information disclosure office for which the

company secretary
is responsible The information disclosure office is mainly responsible

for the collection collation and compilation of basic information for disclosure and is

also responsible for drawing up the rules and systems for information disclosure and

related internal control and procedures It is responsible for monitoring the correct

implementation of the various control measures
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The Company has also implemented an Investor Relationship Management System and

Investor Relationship Management Detailed Implementation Regulation which
specifies

the basic principles and the institutional structure of the investor relationship

management as well as the duties and responsibilities of investor relationship work so

as to further foster corporate integrity
and discipline and to realize standardized

operation with the ultimate aim of maximizing the corporate value and shareholders

interests and ensuring that benefits of investors are protected

The Company has released information in relation to its quarterly results In the latest

annual general meeting held on 13 June 2009 in Shanghai the meeting was open to all

the shareholders and the media total of 50 shareholders attended in person or by

proxy

In the annual general meeting each matter was proposed as an individual resolution and

voted by poll

Investors and the
public may access our website and download related documents

briefings The website also sets out details of each of the Groups operations

Announcements notices or other documents issued by the Company may also be

downloaded from the website of the Company

In 2009 the company secretary and manager of the capital investment market

department held specialized meetings with securities analysts press conference

with financial media and organized 10 one-to-one roadshows

Based on publicly available information and to the best knowledge of the Directors of

the Company at least 25% of the total issued share
capital

of the Company is held by

the public As at 31 December 2009 there were total of 14305B shareholders on the

Companys register of members

For any enquiries of the Board shareholders may use the contact number

9621 -626B626B e-mail at ir@ceair.com to contact the company secretary or they may

put forward their questions in the annual general meeting or extraordinary general

meetings In respect of the procedures for shareholders to convene annual general

meeting or extraordinary general meetings they may make enquiries
of the company

secretary through the aforesaid channels

Liu Shaoyong

Chairman

Shanghai the PRC

19
April

2010
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

Dear Shareholders

In 2009 the members of the Supervisory Committee basing themselves on the powers

bestowed upon them by the Company Law and the Articles of Association of the

Company and their sense of
responsibility

toward all the shareholders actively carried

out their tasks faithfully performed their
supervisory duties and protected the legitimate

rights and interests of the Company and of all the shareholders

Meetings Convened by the Supervisory Committee

On February 2009 the Supervisory Committee held meeting and resolved to

pass the Rules of Meeting of the Supervisory Committee to the shareholder CEA

Group to be put forward to the second Extraordinary General Meeting of the

ripany in 2009 for consideration

On 15 Ajril 2009 the Supervisory Committee held meeting during which it

adopted the Report of the Supervisory Committee for the year 2008 and resolved

that it would be
put

forward to the 2008 Annual General Meeting of the Company

for consideration the Committee considered the financial report of the Company

for the year 2008
truly reflected the financial position and operating results of the

Company which was objective and fair and resolved that it would be put forward

to the 2008 Annual General Meeting of the Company for consideration and it

agreed with the profit distribution proposal in 2008 passed by the Board of

Directors the Committee reviewed the full text and summary of the annual
report

for 2008 prepared by the Company and expressed written audit opinion

On 28 April 2009 the Supervisory Committee held meeting during which it

reviewed the full text and summary of the Companys report
for the first quarter of

2009 and expressed written audit opinion

On 10 August 2009 the Supervisory Committee held meeting during which it

reviewed the full text and summary of the Companys interim report for 2009 and

expressed written audit opinion

On 27 October 2009 the Supervisory Committee held meeting during which It

reviewed the full text and summary of the Companys report for the third quarter

of 2009 and expressed written audit opinion

II Independent Opinion of the Supervisory Committee

Legality of the Operation of the Company

In 2009 the Supervisory Committee monitored the procedures of convening the

general meetings and Board meetings of the Company and their resolutions

execution of the resolutions passed in the general meetings by the Board and

execution of the resolutions passed in the Board meetings by the management It

is of the view that the Company has strictly complied with the Company Law the

Securities Law the Listing Rules the Articles of Association of the Company and

other
regulations in drawing operational decisions monitored its operations based

on law continuously optimized the internal control system and further enhanced

its corporate governance standards The directors and the senior management of

the Company were able to protect the general interests of the shareholders and

the Company and carry out their duties with dedication The Supervisory

Committee did not discover any of their actions that in any way violated laws

regulations or the articles of association of the Company or were prejudicial to

the interests of the Company
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

tlF

Financial Position of the Company 1ff

Doo

Connected Transactions of the Company 21 ff1 1ff

The Supervisory Committee conducted examinations to all the connected 1ff ff1 Fft

transactions of the Company in the current year and believed that all the 1ff ff1

contracts agreements and other relevant documents related to the connected 11.ft itt

transactions of the Company in the current year had complied with the legal ft ff ff ff 1ff

procedures and the terms of the transactions were fair and reasonable to the P11

Company and shareholders as whole The connected transactions were dealt 1ff lIE

with under stringent principles of fairness impartiality and transparency The 2I ri 11i 1ff ff1 1ff P1

Supervisory Committee did not discover any acts of insider trading or breach of

good faith by the Board of Directors in making decisions signing of agreements TIl 1ff 1ff 3ff

and information disclosure

In the new year the Supervisory Committee will as in the past conscientiously exercise 1ff fff 1ff

the powers bestowed upon it by the Articles of Association of the Company and perform ff1 ff1 13ff

corresponding obligations further strengthen its supervision of the Companys financial 1ff ff1 13ff 1ff 1ff

affairs and ensure compliant business practices It will continue to explore monitoring 1ff 1ff ff1 13ff 1ff 1ff 2It ff1

and control mechanisms which are of benefit in protecting investors and promoting the f1 f1iJ

Companys development

The Supervisory Committee is extremely grateful
for the continuous support for its work ff11 f1 1ff ff1 1ff

offered by all the shareholders Board of Directors staff and workers ff1 f1 ff 13 1ff ff 3ff

On behalf of the Supervisory Committee tt

5ff

Liu Jiangbo

Chairman of the Supervisory Committee

Shanghai the PRC

19 April 2010

1ff 63

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company and

PricewaterhouseCoopers audited the financial statements of the Company for the

year 2009 prepared in accordance with the PRC Accounting Standards and IFRS

respectively and issued standardized audit reports with unqualified opinions The

Supervisory Committee reviewed the financial statements for the year 2009 and

resolved that it objectively truly and fairly reflected the financial position

operating results and the cash flow of the Group The Supervisory Committee has

carefully
reviewed financial information such as the profit distribution proposal to

be submitted to the 2009 Annual General Meeting for consideration and found no

problems with these submissions

i1ff1ff ff13i

1ff

13ffWff

Proceeds and Purchases or Sale of Assets of the Company 15 13ff 1ff 55

The Supervisory Committee confirmed the proceeds from non-public issue of the

year have been used in pursuant to the non-public issue plan conducted

examination on the resolution of absorption of Shanghai Airlines Co Ltd and did

not discover any acts of insider trade prejudicial to the interests of the

shareholders or result in turnover of the assets and prejudicial to the interests of

the Company

1ff
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000063
INDEPENDENT INTERNATIONAL AUDITORS REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED

incorporated in the Peoples Republic ef China with limited liability

We have audited the financial statements of China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited

the Company and its subsidiaries together the Group set out on pages 66 to 164

which comprise the consolidated and Company balance sheets as at 31 December 2009

and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income the consolidated statement

of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended

and summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes

DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair

presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International Financial

Reporting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Drdinance This responsibility include designing implementing and maintaining internal

control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial

statements that are free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error

selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates

that are reasonable in the circumstances

AUDITORS RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our

audit We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing

Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from

material misstatement

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements The procedures selected depend on the auditors

judgment including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial

statements whether due to fraud or error In making those risk assessments the auditor

considers internal control relevant to the entitys preparation and true and fair

presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the entitys internal control An audit also includes evaluating the

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates made by the Directors as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

financial statements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide basis for our opinion
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INDEPENDENT INTERNATIONAL AUDITORS REPORT

OPINION

In our opinion the financial statements give true and fair view of the state of affairs of

the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2009 and of the Groups financial

performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

000069
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OTHER MAilERS nfl
This report including

the opinion has been prepared for and only for you as body and

for no other purpose We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any

other person for the contents of this report

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong 19 April 2010
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000070
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 -E-1-f7

Revenues

Other operating income

Other gains

Operating expenses

Aircraft fuel

Gain/loss on fair value movements

of financial derivatives

Take-off and landing charges

Depreciation and amortisation

Wages salaries and benefits

Aircraft maintenance

Impairment losses

Food and beverages

Aircraft operating lease rentals

Other operating lease rentals

Selling
and marketing expenses

Civil aviation infrastructure levies

Ground services and other charges

Office administrative and other expenses

Total operating expenses

Operating profit/loss

Share of results of associates

Share of results of jointly controlled entities

Finance income

Finance costs

Profit/loss before income tax

Income tax

Prof iI/loss for the year

Other comprehensive income/loss for the year

Cash flow hedges net of tax

Fair value movements of available for sale

investments held by associates

Total comprehensive income/loss for the year

Prof it/loss attributable to

Equity holders of the Company

Minority interests

Total comprehensive income/Ioss

attributable to

Equity
holders of the Company

Minority interests

Earn ingslloss per share attributable

to equity holders of the Company

during the year

Basic and diluted RMB

4fr

1I

IS
15 ft

Ij/

2009

Note RMBOOO

F7I
38989659

1288017

12254980

3174688

5460351

5202835

5148871

3018724

109417

1201023

2517567

407386

1977160

890348

289993

3751763

38456336

2008

RMBOOO

41072557

405163

267084

18488242

6400992

5279590

4781562

4545312

3272981

2976678

1321268

2734802

369236

1562945

769849

268873

4055679

56828009

The notes on page 72 to 164 are an integral part
of these financial statements

10

11 1821340 15083205

23 46602 69668

24 23803 24050

12 205304 2061625

13 1154640 2328147

249205 15256009

14 52541 73916

196658 15329925

38 57914 170360

23 585 19090

253987 15519365

168766 15268532

27892 61393

196658 15329925

226095 15457972

27892 61393

253987 15519365

17 0.026 3.14
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

Asat3l December2009

0000

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Property plant and equipment

Lease prepayments

Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft

Investments in associates

Investments in jointly controlled entities

Available-for-sale financial assets

Other long-term assets

Deferred tax assets

Derivative assets

Current assets

Flight equipment spare parts

Trade receivables

Prepayments deposits and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Derivative assets

Non-current assets held for sale

Current liabilities

Sales in advance of
carriage

Trade payables and notes payable

Other payables and accrued expenses

Current portion of obligations under finance leases

Current portion of borrowings

Income tax payable

Current portion of provision for return condition

checks for aircraft and engines under operating

leases

Derivative liabilities

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Obligations
under finance leases

Borrowings

Provision for return condition checks for aircraft

and engines under operating leases

Other long-term liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Post-retirement benefit
obligations

Derivative liabilities

JJ
TA TA TA

TA TA TA

TA TA TA TA Al

TA TA Al TA

TA TA TA TA TA TA

TA TA

TA1f TA TATATA

TA TA TA

TA TA TA TA Aft TA TA TA

TATATATA

TA TA TA TA TA TA SA Aft TA

Jh -b9Tk JItLJI .1

TA TA TA

TA TA TA TA ITL TA Aft

TA TA TA TA TAIl

TATATA
TA TA TA TA TAIl

TA TA TA TA TA

AT TA TAIl

2009

Note RMBOOO

2008

RMBOOO

18

19

20

21

23

24

25

35

38

69622

56703560

970835

5081174

723022

372793

57269

926312

83748

64988335

164851

52678473

996521

6413554

980319

362332

31268

941556

81947

988

62651809

932260 871364

26 1370871 1165308

27 2370495 4315722

28 1735248 3451010

38 3490 123010

42 450693 473667

6863057 10400081

1420183

6480459

11517204

2125430

12330075

21126

609884

1006286

35510647

1013878

5459094

12246065

1916989

26513320

39002

213830

6456075

53858253

29

30

31

32

33

38

31

32

33

34

35

36b

38

28647590 43458172

36340745 19193637

17244805 18891910

13004874 8588052

1237871 1320188

1203423 1320759

51539 57589

1798707 1469124

123345 185524

34664564 31833146
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OOOO7
CONSOUDATE BALANCE SHEET

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

As at 31 December2009

Net assets/liabilities

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to

the equity holders of the Company

Share capital

Reserves

Minority interests

Total equity

Liu Shaoyong

Dire ctor

Ma Xulun

Director

2009

Note RMBOOO

1676181

40 9581700

41 8347147

1234553

441628

2008

RMBOOO

12639509

4866950

17964351

13097401

457892

The notes on pages 72 to 164 are an integral part of these financial statements

1676181 12639509
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COMPANYS BALANCE SHEET

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

Asat3l December2009

OOOO7

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Property plant and equipment

Lease prepayments

Advanced payments on acquisition
of aircraft

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in associates

Investments in jointly controlled entities

Available-for-sale financial assets

Other long-term assets

Derivative assets

Current liabilities

Sales in advance of carriage

Trade payables and notes payable

Other payables and accrued expenses

Current portion of obligations
under finance leases

Current
portion

of borrowings

Current portion of provision
for return condition

checks for aircraft and engines under operating

leases

Derivative liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Obligations
under finance leases

Borrowings

Provision for return condition checks for

aircraft and engines under operating leases

Other long-term liabilities

Post-retirement benefit obligations

Derivative liabilities

ft

ffi ft

/- -\
PJ /.n ni 7J

JE
nsk

ij

1T

2009

Note RMBOOO

2008

RMBOOO

1013878

5220003

10747518

1715062

24063433

139710

6456075

49355679

16814109

7045080

1028880

1235953

1286878

185524

27596524

11392177

Current assets

Flight equipment spare parts

Trade receivables

Prepayments deposits and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Derivative assets

Non-current assets held for sale

1L

164579

44512840

420272

6413554

2523715

762058

301802

15520

765351

988

55880679

707587

1534044

4479098

2361941

123010

473667

9679347

18 66990

19 41948792

20 409631

21 5081114

22 2523715

23 522058

24 301802

45520

25 184490

38

57684172

752047

26 1611660

27 3314001

28 1118230

38 3490

42 450693

7256121

1420183

29 6293548

30 9875704

31 1915815

32 10219929

33 183099

38 1006286

30914564

Net current liabilities
23658443 39676332

Total assets less current liabilities
34025729 16204347

31 15387409

32 10901784

33 1099303

34 1121408

36b 1596549

38 123345

30229798

Net assets/liabilities lj 3795931

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to 2IS

the
equity

holders of the Company 4c

Share capital
f9 40 9581700 4866950

Reserves 41 5185769 16259127

Total equity
3795931 11392177

Liu Shaoyong
Ma Xulun

Director Director

The notes on pages 72 to 164 are an integral part
of these financial statements
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00007
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

tfltfi
Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 444flt4$344flJ44/

For the year ended 31 December2009 44W44tE-1-- SjL4J4

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations

Income tax paid

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Additions of property plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property plant
and

equipment

Acquisition of land use rights

Advanced payments on acquisition
of aircraft

Refunds of advanced payments upon deliveries

of aircraft

Repayment of other payables instalment payment

for
acquisition

of an airline business

Interest received

Dividends received

Capital injections in associates

Proceeds from disposal of interests in an associate

Proceeds on disposal of available-for-sale

financial assets

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from draw down of short-term bank loans

Proceeds from sales and leaseback of aircraft

Repayments of short-term bank loans

Proceeds from draw down of long-term bank loans

Repayments of long-term bank loans

Principal repayments of finance lease obligations

Refunds/payments of restricted bank deposits

Interest paid

Refunds of deposits pledged for finance leases

upon maturities

Proceeds from issuance of new shares

Dividends paid to
minority equity

holders

of subsidiaries

Net cash inflow/outflow from financing

activities

Net decrease/increase in cash and

cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at January

Exchange adjustments

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

fl4tBflt

41f 15ff 144

4tbUfflttAfl4tfl
nfl

441f 44 41f

5444 41j 4101011

SftflllI4X

45

1k 414
1k 4/4
Si hi 34

hi 14344444

44544

Wliflifl
it ArE ER it El
IE /\laLER IE TA

144 5444 4544
44444444
I4Afl1T14k
444454444

IiIi 011 44
44 44130111411444

43

STh 45444 4544

441344

Uiu
454454

44fl
411 El- rinn
S4fl

30000

109925

53125

210000

2008

RMBOOO

2942466

86931

2855535

32972

1236059 924883

The notes on pages 72 to 164 are an integral part
of these financial statements 34472441644134444 4fl 4144

2009

Note RMBOOO

ES AflJE

43a 3501690

18214

3429416

5685345

32888

1921252

1289350

1856358

53117

3603824

2422252

30000

90635

29679

384186

369823

28536103

590253

39535319

10823185

9522385

2005264

1341525

2161085

1405616

44156

25403301

19986723

4748071

3922593

2593656

1365116

2741980

419604

52700

2085624 91792

1121.019 1838860

3451010 1655244

5251 43094

1135248 3451010
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Prepared/n accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009

OGO75

Balance at January 2008

Loss or the
year

Other comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Dividends paid to minority equity holders

of sohsidiaries

The notes on pages 72 to 164 are an integral part of these financial statements

1t ff

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share Other Accumulated Minority

capital reserves losses Subtotal interests Total equity

BMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AFA Af AA AA
4866950 30735t 28t3730 236057t 57t985 2932556

t526B532 t5268532 61393 15329925

t89440 189440 t89440

tB9446 15268532 t545972 6t393 t55t9365

Balance at 3t December 2008

Balance at January 2009

dh 4866950

466950

tt911 18082262 t309740t

111911 18002262 13097401

16L766

51329

226095

52706 52700

457892 t2639509

451$92 1239509

21892 196658

51329

253987

Profitfortheyear
168166

Other comprehensive income II 51329

Tntal comprehensive income for the year
51329 168166

Other equity mnvementof an associate
ftdt

49692 49692 49692

Issuance of new shares 92 4114150 9341411 14056j61 14056161

Dividends paid to minority equity
holders 92 92

of subsidiaries 44156 44156

Balance at3l December2009 in 9581100 9566349 11913496 1234553 441628 1616181

27892
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OoOO7
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 ffIL

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited the Company joint stock company
limited by shares was incorporated

in the Peoples Republic of China the PRC
on 14 April 1995 The address of the Companys registered

office is 66
Airport

Street Pudong International Airport Shanghai the PHC The Company and its

subsidiaries together the Group are principally engaged in the operation of

civil aviation including the provision of passenger cargo and mail delivery and

other extended transportation services

The Company is majority owned by China Eastern Air Holding Company CEA
Holding state-owned enterprise incorporated in the PRC

The Companys shares are traded on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

The New York Stock Exchange and The Shanghai Stock Exchange

During the year ended 31 December 2009 the Company issued total 2787375000

shares to CEA Holding 1927375000 shares and other investors 860000000

shares and 1927375000 shares to CES Global Holding Hong Kong Limited

CES Global wholly owned
subsidiary of CEA Holding incorporated in Hong

Kong details referred to Note 40

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Companys Board

of Directors the Board on 19 April 2010

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial

statements are set out below These policies have been consistently applied to all

the years presented unless otherwise stated

Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance

with International Financial Reporting Standards IFRS and the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance The financial

statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as

modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets financial

assets and financial liabilities including derivative instruments at fair

value through profit or loss

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the

use of certain critical accounting estimates It also
requires management to

exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Groups accounting

policies
The areas involving higher degree of judgment or complexity or

areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial

statements are disclosed in Note

In preparing the financial statements the Board has given careful

consideration to the going concern status of the Group in the context of the

Groups current working capital deficit

As at 31 December 2009 the Groups accumulated losses were

approximately RMB17.91 billion and its current liabilities exceeded its

current assets by approximately RMB28.65 billion

2Hff1L LLf
c66to

ff1 ii

2787375000Af
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fT 1927375000 If
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ffj
745
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72 ANNUAL REPORT 2009 CHINA EASTERN AIRUNES CORPORATION UMITED



Basis of preparation continued

Against this background the Board has taken active steps to seek

additional sources of finance and improve the Groups liquidity position As

at 31 December 2009 the Group had total credit facilities of RMB5O.9

billion from certain banks The Board believes that based on experience to

date it is likely that these facilities will be rolled over in future years if

required

With the credit facilities and based on the Groups history
of obtaining

finance and its relationships with its bankers and creditors the Board

considers that the Group will be able to obtain sufficient financing to

enable it to operate as well as to meet its liabilities as and when they

become due and the capital expenditure requirements Accordingly the

Board believes that it is appropriate to prepare these financial statements

on going concern basis without including any adjustments that would be

required should the Company and the Group fail to continue as going

concern

The Group has adopted the
following new and amended IFRSs as at

January2009

IRS Financial Instruments Disclosures amendment
effective January 2009 The amendment requires enhanced

disclosures about fair value measurement and
liquidity

risk In

particular the amendment requires disclosure of fair value

measurements by level of fair value measurement hierarchy

As the change in accounting policy only results in additional

disclosures there is no impact on earnings per share

lAS revised Presentation of financial statements

effective January 2009 The revised standard prohibits the

presentation
of items of income and expenses that is non-

owner changes in equity in the statement of changes in

equity requiring
non-owner changes in equity to be presented

separately from owner changes in equity in statement of

comprehensive income As result the Group presents in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity all owner

changes in equity whereas all non-owner changes in equity

are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income Comparative information has been re-presented so

that it also conforms with the revised standard Since the

change in accounting policy only impacts presentation aspects

there is no impact on earnings per
share

OOOO7
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OOOO
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 ffE-I-

IFRS Operating segments effective January 2009 IFRS

replaces lAS 14 Segment reporting and aligns segment

reporting with the requirements of the US standard SFAS 131

Disclosures about segments of an enterprise and related

information The new standard requires management

approach under which segment information is presented on

the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes

The segments are reported in manner that is more consistent

with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating

decision-maker CDDM

With effective from January 2009 the Group has redefined

its operating segments so that to present the segment

information in the same manner as managements internal

reporting The Group is principally engaged in the operation of

civil aviation including the provision of passenger cargo and

other extended transportation services and are managed as

single business unit From service perspective and pursuant

to the above re-segmentation the Group has only one

reportable operating segment reported as airline operations

Comparative amounts of the year 2008 have been restated to

reflect the re-segmentation
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Basis of preparation continued
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-flJt
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial
fleporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 1E

Basis of preparation continued 31 31/ /31

i2i Standards amendments and /oterpretatidns to
exist/fig

standards

mat are cot yet effective and wfi/ are re/c vant for the Srou/ds

ooeratidns

The following
standards and amendments to existing

standards have

been published and are mandatory for the Groups accounting periods

beginning on or after January 2010 or later periods but the Group

has not early adopted them

FRIC 17 Distribution of non-cash assets to owners effective

from July 2009 The interpretation is part of the IASBs

annual improvements project published in April/May 2009

This interpretation provides guidance on accounting for

arrangements whereby an entity distributes non-cash assets

to shareholders either as distribution of reserves or as

dividends IFRS has also been amended to require
that assets

are classified as held for distribution only when they are

available for distribution in their present condition and the

distribution is highly probable The Group and Company will

apply IFRIC 17 from January 2010 It is not expected to have

material impact on the Groups or Companys financial

statements

lAS 27 revised Consolidated and separate financial

statements effective from July 2009 The revised standard

requires the effects of all transactions with
minority

interest

to be recorded in equity if there is no change in control and

these transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains

and losses The standard also specifies the accounting when

control is lost Any remaining interest in the entity is re

measured to fair value and gain or loss is recognised in

profit or loss The Group will apply lAS revised prospectively

to transactions with
minority

interest from January 2010
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00002u
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 tLH-1----

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POUCIES continued

Basis of preparation continued

ii Standards ensments and idaerpratatins to ex/ct/og
standards

titat are not f/at effactve and wfida are re/avant for t/e Sroto/

ooeratidas continued

IFRS revised Business combinations effective from July

2009 The revised standard continues to apply the acquisition

method to business combinations with some significant

changes For example all payments to purchase business

are to be recorded at fair value at the acquisition date with

contingent payments classified as debt subsequently re

measured through the income statement There is choice on

an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure the non-

controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair vale or at the

non-controlling interests proportionate share of the acquirees

net assets All acquisition-related costs should be expensed

The Group will apply IRIS revised prospectively to all

business combinations from January 2010

lAS 38 amendment Intangible Assets effective from July

2009 The amendment is part of the IASBs annual

improvements project published in April/May 2009 and the

Group and Company will apply lAS 38 amendment from the

date IFRS revised is adopted The amendment clarifies

guidance in measuring the fair value of an intangible asset

acquired in business combination and it permits the grouping

of intangible assets as single asset if each asset has similar

useful economic lives The amendment will not result in

material impact on the Groups or Companys financial

statements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared/n accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards //II
For the year ended 31 December2009

IFRS amendment Measurement of non-current assets or

disposal groups classified as held for sale The amendment is

part
of the IASBs annual improvements project published in

April/May 2009 The amendment provides clarification that

IFRS specifies the disclosures required in respect of non

current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale

or discontinued operations It also clarifies that the general

requirement of lAS still apply particularly paragraph 15 to

achieve fair presentation and paragraph 125 sources of

estimation uncertainty of lAS The Group and Company will

apply IFRS amendment from January 2010 It is not

expected to have material impact on the Groups or

Companys financial statements

lAS amendment Presentation of financial statements The

amendment is
part

of the IASBs annual improvements project

published in April/May 2009 The amendment provides

clarification that the potential settlement of liability by the

issue of
equity

is not relevant to its classification as current or

non-current By amending the definition of current liability the

amendment permits liability
to be classified as non-current

provided that the entity has an unconditional right
to defer

settlement by transfer of cash or other assets for at least 12

months after the accounting period notwithstanding the fact

that the entity could be required by the counterparty to settle

in shares at any time The Group and Company will apply lAS

amendment from January 2010 It is not expected to have

material impact on the Groups or Companys financial

statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Basis of preparation continued
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 iL

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Basis of preparation continued

i21 Stanniaros amenh/mants ann /7tei/Jratathns to exi ct/ag
sta/7c/aros

t/7at are not /et effective ann witii/ are re/avant for t/e 6roup

operations continued

IFRS Financial Instruments effective from January 2013

The standard addresses classification and measurement of

financial assets introducing the following changes

Introduces
single

model that has only two classification

categories amortised cost and fair value which are driven by

the entitys business model for managing the financial assets

and the contractual characteristics of the financial assets ii

Removes the requirement to separate embedded derivatives

from financial asset hosts and
requires hybrid contract to be

classified in its entirety at either amortised cost or fair value

Ui Prohibits reclassifications except in rare circumstances

when the
entitys

business model changes and the changes

apply prospectively iv Provides specific guidance for

contractually linked instruments that create concentrations of

credit risk which is often the case with investment tranches in

securitisation Indicates that all equity investments should

be measured at fair value However management has an

option to present in other comprehensive income unrealised

and realised fair value gains and losses on equity investments

that are not held for trading vi Removes the cost exemption

for unquoted equities
and derivatives on unquoted equities

but

provides guidance on when cost may be an appropriate

estimate of fair value The Group will apply the standard from

January2013
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Subsidiaries are all entities including special purpose entities over

which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating

policies generally accompanying shareholding of more than one

half of the voting rights The existence and effect of potential voting

rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered

when assessing whether the Group controls another entity

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is

transferred to the Group They are de-consolidated from the date that

control ceases

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the

acquisition
of subsidiaries by the Group including

those acquired

from
holding companies The cost of an acquisition is measured as

the fair value of the assets given equity instruments issued and

liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus
costs

directly attributable to the acquisition Identifiable assets acquired

and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in business

combination are measured initially at their fair values at the

acquisition date irrespective of the extent of any minority interest

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the

Groups share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as

goodwill If the cost of acquisition
is less than the fair value of the

net assets of the
subsidiary acquired the difference is recognised

directly in the consolidated income statement

Inter-company transactions balances and unrealised gains on

transactions between Group companies are eliminated Unrealised

losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence

of an impairment of the asset transferred Accounting policies of

subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group

In the Companys balance sheet the investments in subsidiaries are

stated at cost less provision for impairment losses The results of

subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of

dividend received and receivable
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NOTES TO THE ANANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 E1- J5

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Consolidation

The Groups consolidated financial statements include the financial

statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries made up to 31

December

Su/jsii/rds
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards MAIWRMIkAM-$flftt

For the year ended 31 December2009 MMii MM AHSLMM

Aitfl4i
AA9ffffAi

/i2 Transactkrns with mthoc/tyi2itorosts

The Group applies policy of treating transactions with minority

interests as transactions with parties external to the Group

Disposals to minority interests result in gains and losses for the

Group that are recorded in the consolidated income statement

Purchases from minority interests result in goodwill being the

difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share

acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary

4ssocthtes

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant

influence but not control generally accompanying shareholding of

between 20% and 50% of the voting rights Investments in

associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting

and are initially recognised at cost The Groups investments in

associates includes goodwill net of any accumulated impairment

loss identified on acquisition

The Groups share of its associates post-acquisition profits or losses

is recognised in the consolidated income statement and its share of

post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves

The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the

carrying amount of the investment When the Groups share of losses

in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate

including any other unsecured receivables the Group does not

recognise further losses unless it has incurred obligations or made

payments on behalf of the associate

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its

associates are eliminated to the extent of the Groups interest in the

associates Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the

transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset

transferred Accounting policies of associates have been changed

where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by

the Group

Dilution gains and losses in associates are recognised in the

consolidated income statement

In the Companys balance sheet the investments in associates are

stated at cost less provision for impairment losses Note 2mfl The

results of associates are accounted for by the Company on the basis

of dividend received and receivable
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Consolidation continued
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 -1--

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Consolidation continued

Jo/27t/ycontro//edeftft/es iv

jointly
controlled

entity
is an entity in which the Group has joint

control over its economic activity established under contractual

arrangement The Groups investments in
jointly

controlled entities

includes goodwill net of any accumulated impairment loss identified

on acquisition

The Groups interests in
jointly

controlled entities are accounted for

by the
equity

method of accounting based on the audited financial

statements or management accounts of the
jointly

controlled entities

The Groups share of its
jointly

controlled entities post-acquisition

profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated income statement

and its share of post-acquisition movements is adjusted against the

carrying amount of the investment When the Groups share of losses

in
jointly

controlled
entity equals or exceeds its interest in that

entity including any other unsecured receivables the Group does not

recognise further losses unless it has incurred obligations or made

payments on behalf of the jointly
controlled

entity

The Group recognises the portion of gains or losses on the sale of

assets by the Group to the joint venture that it is attributable to the

other venturers The Group does not recognise its share of profits or

losses from the joint venture that result from the Groups purchase of

assets from the joint venture until it resells the assets to an

independent party However loss on the transaction is recognised

immediately if the loss
provides

evidence of reduction in the net

realisable value of current assets or an impairment loss

In the Companys balance sheet the investments in jointly controlled

entities are stated at cost less
provision

for impairment losses The

results of
jointly

controlled entities are accounted for by the Company

on the basis of dividends received and receivable

Segmental reporting
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Operating segments are reported in manner consistent with the internal

reporting provided to the CODM The CODM who is responsible for

allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments

has been identified as the General Manager Office that makes
strategic

decisions
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NOTES TO THE FINANCJAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards lbllAfIII2IPIISI

For the year ended 31 December2009 SiL11

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Foreign currency translation

Functidna/ and presentatiOn nurrenny

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Groups

entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic

environment in which the
entity operates the functional currency

The financial statements are presented in Chinese Renminbi RMBL
which is the Companys functional and presentation currency

TransactiOns and ba/ances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional

currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the

transactions Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the

settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end

exchange rates ot monetary assets and liabilities denominated in

foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement except

when deferred in
equity as qualifying

cash flow hedges or qualifying

net investment hedges

Revenue recognition and sales in advance of carriage

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or

receivable for the sale of goods and the provision of services in the ordinary

course of the Groups activities Revenue is shown net of business and

value-added taxes returns rebates and discounts and after eliminating

sales within the Group

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably

measured it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the

entity
and specific criteda have been met for each of the Groups activities

as described below The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably

measurable until all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved

The Group bases its estimates on historical results taking into

consideration the type of customer the type of transaction and the specifics

of each arrangement

Ira/TO revenues

Passenger cargo and mail revenues are recognised as traffic

revenues when the transportation services are provided The value of

sold but unused tickets is recognised as sales in advance of
carriage

SlAC

/9 onina/siOn ihcoine

Commission income represents amounts earned from other carriers

in respect of sales made by the Group on their behalf and is

recognised in the income statement upon ticket sales
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Revenue recognition and sales in advance of carriage continued

iXY 17t/7er 18 V8flU8

Revenues from other operating businesses including income derived

from the
provision

of ground services and cargo handling services

are recognised when the services are rendered

Rental income from subleases of aircraft is recognised on straight-

line basis over the terms of the respective leases Rental income

from
leasing

office premises and cargo warehouses is recognised on

straight-line basis over the lease term

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is

reasonable assurance that the
grant

will be received and the Group will

comply with all attached conditions

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the

income statement over the period necessary to match them with the costs

that they are intended to compensate

Government
grants relating to property plant

and equipment are included

in non-current liabilities as deferred government grants
and are credited to

the income statement on straight-line
basis over the expected lives of the

related assets

Maintenance and overhaul costs

In respect of aircraft and engines under operating leases the Group has

obligations to fulfill certain return conditions under the leases Provision for

the estimated cost of these return condition checks is made on straight

line basis over the term of the leases

In respect of aircraft and engines owned by the Group or held under finance

leases overhaul costs are capitalised as component of property plant and

equipment and are depreciated over the appropriate maintenance cycles

Note 2I

All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the income

statement as and when incurred

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on time-proportion basis
using

the effective

interest method When receivable is impaired the Group reduces the

carrying amount to its recoverable amount being the estimated future cash

flow discounted at the
original

effective interest rate of the instrument and

continues unwinding the discount as interest income interest income on

impaired loans is recognised using
the

original effective interest rate
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 E-1-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 -/--

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Borrowing costs Ii

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset

including the interest attributable to loans for advance payments used to

finance the acquisition
of aircraft are capitalised during the period of time

that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use

Other borrowing costs are expensed

Current and deferred tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws

enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the

jurisdictions
where the Company and its subsidiaries associates and jointly

controlled entities operate and generate taxable income Management

periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to

situations in which
applicable

tax regulation is subject to interpretation and

establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected

to be paid to the tax authorities

Deferred income tax is provided in full using the liability method on

temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and

liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements However

deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition

of an asset or liability in transaction other than business combination

that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable

profit or loss Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws that

have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and

are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is

realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that

future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary

differences can be utilised

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on

investments in subsidiaries associates and
jointly

controlled entities

except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is

controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will

not reverse in the foreseeable future
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued it 1L

1k Intangible assets

fi 6ooow//

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the

fair value of the Groups share of the net identifiable assets of the

acquired subsidiary associate or jointly controlled entity at the date

of
acquisition

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in

intangible assets Goodwill on acquisition of associates and jointly

controlled entities is included in investments in associates and

investments in jointly controlled entities and is tested for

impairment as part
of the overall balances Separately recognised

goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually or whenever there

is an indication of impairment and carried at cost less accumulated

impairment losses Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying

amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold
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Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of

impairment testing The allocation is made to those cash-generating

units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit

from the business combination in which the goodwill arose

ii Sponsocs/ii3
fees

Sponsorship fees paid and payable in relation to the 2010 Shanghai

Expo have been capitalised and are being amortised on straight-

line basis over the period of the sponsorship program The cost of the

intangible
asset is calculated based on the expected cash payment

and the fair value of the services to be provided

ii Corqouter software costs

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of

the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software

These costs are amortised using the straight-line
method over their

estimated useful lives of years Costs associated with developing

or maintaining computer software programs are recognised as

expense when incurred

Property plant and equipment

Property plant and equipment is recognised initially at cost which

comprises purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing

the

assets to the condition for their intended use

Where
parts

of an item of property plant and equipment have different

useful lives the cost of that item is allocated on reasonable basis among

the
parts

and each
part

is depreciated separately
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NOTES TO THE FtNANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards AAAAA$RAS.ftJAffA/

For the year ended 31 December2009 Ati tM.F-I- SI3AA

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Property plant and equipment continued

When each major aircraft overhaul is performed its cost is recognised in

the carrying amount of the item of property plant and equipment and is

depreciated over the appropriate maintenance cycles Components related

to airframe overhaul cost are depreciated on straight-line basis over to

7.5 years Components related to engine overhaul costs are depreciated

betwaen aach overhaul
period using the ratio of actual flying hours and

estimated flying hours between overhauls Upon completion of an overhaul

any remaining carrying amount of the cost of the previous overhaul is

derecognised and charged to the income statement

Except for components related to overhaul costs the
depreciation

method

of which has been described in the preceding paragraph other depreciation

of property plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line

method to write down their costs or revalued amounts to their residual

values over their estimated useful lives as follows

Aircraft engines and flight equipment 10 to 20 years

Buildings

Other property plant and equipment

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if

appropriate at each balance sheet date An assets carrying amount is

written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the assets carrying

amount is
greater

than its estimated recoverable amount

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds

with the assets carrying amount and are recognised in the income

statement

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and plant

and equipment pending installation This includes the costs of construction

or acquisition and interest capitalised No depreciation is provided on

construction in progress until the asset is completed and ready for use

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries associates jointly

controlled entities and non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or which are not yet available for

use are not subject to amortisation and are tested for impairment at least

annually or whenever there is indication of impairment Other assets are

reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable An impairment

loss is recognised for the amount by which the assets carrying amount

exceeds its recoverable amount The recoverable amount is the higher of an

assets fair value less costs to sell and value in use For the purposes of

assessing impairment assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which

there are separately identifiable cash flows cash-generating units Non

financial assets other than goodwill that have suffered an impairment are

reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each balance sheet

date
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IttIMfl
Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying

amount is to be recovered principally through sale transaction and sale

is considered
highly probable They are stated at the lower of carrying

amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is to be

recovered principally through sale transaction rather than through

continuing use

jo Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent acquisition costs of land use rights
less

accumulated amortisation Amortisation is provided over the lease period

of the land use rights on straight-line basis

Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft

Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft represent payments to aircraft

manufacturers to secure deliveries of aircraft in future years including

attributable finance costs and are included in non-current assets The

balance is transferred to property plant and equipment upon delivery of the

aircraft

Flight equipment spare parts

Flight equipment spare parts are stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value Cost is determined
using

the weighted average method

The cost of
flight equipment spare parts comprises the purchase price net

of discounts freight charges duty and value added tax and other

miscellaneous charges Net realisable value is the estimated selling price

of the flight equipment in the ordinary course of business less applicable

selling expenses

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less

provision for impairment provision for impairment of trade receivables is

established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be

able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the

receivables Significant financial difficulties of the debtor probability
that

the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and default or

delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable

is impaired The amount of the provision
is the difference between the

assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash

flows discounted at the original effective interest rate The carrying

amount of the assets is reduced through the use of an allowance account

and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement When

trade receivable is uncollectible it is written off against the provision

account for trade receivables Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously

written off are credited in the income statement

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand deposits held at call with

banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original

maturities of three months or less
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NOTES TO THE EINANGIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared/n accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 144fl44444J44/
For the year ended 31 December2009 At1c 44-Ic 17H 1441

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued S11Mfl4
HorrwHs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs

incurred Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost any

differences between the proceeds net of transaction costs and the

redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of

the borrowings using
the effective interest method

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an

unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months

after the balance sheet date

ProvHris

Provisions are recognised when the Group has present legal or

constructive
obligation as result of past events it is probable that an

outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the

amount can be
reliably estimated

Where there are number of similar obligations the likelihood that an

outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the

class of obligations as whole provision is recognised even if the

likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same

class of obligations may be small

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected

to be required to settle the obligation using pre-tax rate that reflects

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks

specific to the obligation The increase in the provision due to passage of

time is recognised as interest expense

//i/J/////r/c .//.y /syy

Finance leases

The Group leases certain property plant and equipment Leases of

property plant and equipment where the Group has acquired

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as

finance leases Finance leases are capitalised at the leases

commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased
property

and the present value of the minimum lease payments

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance

charges so as to achieve constant rate on the finance balance

outstanding The corresponding rental obligations net of finance

charges are included in other short-term and other long-term

payables The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the

income statement over the lease period so as to produce constant

periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability

for

each period Leased assets are depreciated using straight-line

basis over their expected useful lives to residual values

49 1341 1t 14114/11 Ui

44444440 34t4941l
4544 1149414444

14141 It 44 141
4111 114615114

PtO

1141441111414 1411

1211T1.fl

114 IA 514 $14449.4

144441444444411
14144411/iL 14 1441

144111414

1444 4411 54461
444 11 A141$ it 441
144 14414 9161

EN 54 451141 It 1494

It 44141

411141 14 11
4144

1144445441444414
5115

114411414144440
444444444444144
It 94344141444

11411444461 141
141 114111944

114
1414111611114
11J1425t1411ctt1

44411541144
51444 434544
544114414 Ut

411 In 11

944414 1155141
144444415411
fl154146 Si PS

Si 43451411 $5
1141441441 $$
414149$ flflUi
111441141144
444113441541

141110

88 ANNUAL REPORT 2009 CHINA EASTERN AIRUNES CORPORATION UMITED



2o//J co//yk/v/c tt /SL /y/t////./1

Finance leases continued

For sale and leaseback transactions resulting
in finance lease

differences between sales proceeds and net book values are deferred

and amortised over the minimum lease terms

Operating leases

Leases in which significant portion of the risks and rewards of

ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating

leases Payments made under operating leases net of any incentives

received from the lessor are charged to the income statement on

straight-line
basis over the period of the lease

For sale and leaseback transactions resulting in an operating lease

differences between sales proceeds and net book values are

recognised immediately in the income statement except to the

extent that any profit or loss is compensated for by future lease

payments at above or below market value

Assets leased out under operating leases are included in property

plant
and equipment in the balance sheet They are depreciated over

their expected useful lives on basis consistent with similar

property plant and equipment Rental income is recognised on

straight-line
basis over the lease term

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes

regarding pension and medical benefits for employees organised by the

municipal governments of the relevant provinces The contributions to the

schemes are charged to the income statement as and when incurred

In addition the Group provides retirees with certain post-retirement

benefits including
retirement subsidies transportation subsidies social

function activity subsidies as well as other welfare The liability recognised

in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the

present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date

less the fair value of plan assets together with adjustments for

unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs The defined

benefit obligation
is calculated annually using the projected unit credit

method The present value of the defined benefit obligation
is determined

by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using
interest rates of

government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the

benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating to the

terms of the related pension liability Actuarial gains and losses arising

from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions in

excess of the greater of 10% of the value of plan assets or 10% of the

defined benefit obligation are charged or credited to the income statement

over the employees expected average remaining working lives
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Retirement benefits continued

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in the income statement

unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees

remaining in service tor
specified period

of time the vesting period In

this case the past-service costs are amortised on straight-line basis over

the vesting period

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance sheet

at fair value on the date derivative contract is entered into and are

subsequently remeasured at their fair value The accounting for subsequent

changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as

hedging instrument and if so the nature of the item being hedged

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the
relationship

between hedging instruments and hedged items as well as its risk

management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedge

transactions The Group also documents its assessment both at hedge

inception and on an ongoing basis of whether the derivatives that are used

in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair

values or cash flows of hedged items

Derivative financial instruments that do not quality for hedge accounting

are accounted for as trading instruments and any unrealised gains or

losses being changes in fair value of the derivatives are recognised in the

income statement immediately

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as

fair value hedges and that are highly effective are recorded in the income

statement along with any changes in the fair value of the hedged assets or

liabilities that are attributable to the hedged risk

Derivative financial instruments that
qualify

for hedge accounting and

which are designated as specific hedge of the variability in cashflows of

highly probable forecast transaction are accounted for as follows

the effective portion of any change in fair value of the derivative

financial instrument is recognised directly in equity Where the

forecast transaction or firm commitment results in the recognition of

an asset or liability the gains and losses previously deterred in

equity are included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset

or liability Otherwise the cumulative gain or loss on the derivative

financial instrument is removed from equity and recognised in the

income statement in the same period during which the hedged

forecast transaction affects net profit or loss

ii the ineffective
portion

of any change in fair value is recognised in the

income statement immediately

The full fair value of hedging derivative is classified as non-current asset

or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged items is more than

12 months and as current asset or
liability

when the remaining maturity

of the hedged item is less than 12 months Trading derivatives are classified

as current asset or liability
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Derivative financial instruments cnntinued

When hedging instrument expires or is sold or when hedge no longer

meets the criteria for hedge accounting any cumulative gain or loss

existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in the

income statement when the committed or forecast transaction ultimately

occurs When committed or forecast transaction is no longer expected to

occur the cumulative gain or loss that was recorded in equity is

immediately transferred to the income statement

Available-for-sale financial assets

Investments in securities other than subsidiaries associates and jointly

controlled entities being held for non-trading purposes are classified as

available-for-sale financial assets and are recognised on the trade-date

the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset

Investments are initially recognised at tair value
plus

transaction costs At

each balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured with any resulting

gain or loss being recognised directly
in equity except for impairment

losses When these investments are derecognised the cumulative gain or

loss previously recognised directly
in

equity
is recognised in the income

statement

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is
objective

evidence that financial asset is impaired In the case of equity
securities

classified as available for sale significant or prolonged decline in the fair

value of the securities below its cost is considered an indicator that the

securities are impaired If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale

financial assets the cumulative loss measured as the difference between

the acquisition cost and the current fair value less any impairment loss on

that financial asset previously recognised in the income statement is

removed from equity
and recognised in the income statement Impairment

losses recognised in the income statement on equity
instruments are not

reversed through the income statement
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Dividend distributinn
1L

xi lx

Dividend distribution to the Companys shareholders is recognised as

liability in the financial statements in the period
in which the dividends are

approved by the Companys shareholders

aa Cnmparatives

Where necessary prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform

with changes in
presentation

in the current year
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards iNiWfltMN$flfNi

For the year ended 37 December2009 MN iiLNflH-- ILNN

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Groups activities expose it to variety of financial risks market risk

including currency risk fair value interest rate risk cash flow interest rate

risk and fuel price riskL credit risk and liquidity risk The Groups overall risk

management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial

markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Groups

financial performance The Group uses derivative financial instruments to

manage certain risk exposures

Risk management is carried out by central treasury department the

Group Treasury under policies approved by the Board The Group Treasury

identifies evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with

the Groups operating units The Board provides written principles for

overall risk management as well as written policies covering specific

areas such as foreign exchange risk interest-rate risk credit risk use of

derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments

Foreiyn curreiicy
risk

Since 21 July 2005 the PRC government reformed the Renminbi

exchange rate system and established floating exchange rate

system in which the exchange rate would be adjusted and managed

based on market supply and demand with reference to basket of

foreign currencies The fluctuation in Renminbi exchange rate is

affected by the domestic and international economy the political

situation and the currency supply and demand of the currency and

thus the Renminbi exchange rate in the future may therefore be
very

different from the current exchange rate

The Group operates its business in many countries and territories

The Group generates its revenue in different currencies and its

foreign currency liabilities at the end of the
period are much higher

than its foreign currency assets The Groups major liability item

purchases and leases of aircraft is mainly priced
and settled in

foreign
currencies such as US dollars In addition fluctuations in

exchange rates will affect the Groups costs incurred from foreign

purchases such as aircraft flight equipment and aviation fuel and

take-off and
landing charges in

foreign airports

The Group also has exposure to foreign currency risk in respect of net

cash inflow denominated in Japanese Yen from ticket sales in

overseas branch office after payment of expenses The Group

entered into certain foreign exchange forward option contracts to

manage this
foreign currency risk Details of foreign currency forward

contracts are disclosed in Note 3Bb to the financial statements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 S.t

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

000097

Financial risk factors continood DtlltGt

ij Forciqn currency rikcontthued P%N
The following table details the Groups and the Companys exposure

at the balance sheet date to major currency risk l8fltl

Group

fl

2009 2006

zflhi1u

USO Euro JPY USD Eura JPY

HMBObO RMBXO RMBUOO 8MB DUO 8MB DUO 8MB DUO

Afl fIT Afl fiT Afl fIT AITffYD AIT AflfY

Trade and ntter receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade aed nther payables

Obligatiuns
under tinance leases

Bnrruwings

Currency dedvativen

at antiunal value

Net balance sheet enpnsure

1tIt1UIt

14

It 14 If

If LIt It

tJ
TA

If It TIf

It If It It If If It

1306616 56663 93118 1809601 42706 56003

253116 43519 30889 494249 126695 37657

416288 462 417910 11476 363

11604920 19444259 83971

13151341 113254 13007688 111658

559402 825170

29058155 13534 124661 29740837 56267 9326

Company

2009 2008

flitIf
USD Euro JPY USC Eurn JPY

LIt Lit Hit fit Lit Hit

RMBOOO HMB000 RMBXO 8MBDOO 8MB DUO 8MB DUO

flfIT Aflfl Afl fIT A.IfIff.If AITIffIT AMIffit

Trade and nther receivables 11 fIt If If If

If ItOIJIt If

Cash and cash equivalents If It If If If II It

Trade and uther payubles 14 If If

If It 14 If

Obligutiuns under finance leases It It If It 11

Bnrrnwings It If

Currency derivatives Ci If IA If It 745 If

at antiunal value

Net balance sheet enpusure It If It It If If It

1259231 43140 93118 1726836 24620 55929

224095 28588 11006 441671 95622 22705

412992 414591 11021 363

15531909 17164531 83971

11962124 113254 12734767 111658

559402 825170

25810291 40926 104184 27320212 7563 5700

tIITMIIt81oiIf nflitfl$ 93
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Financial risk factors continued

flfflZi

dhiItlf$

Foreiin ceirist icy riskcc itmeisdj P/ lit/hi Pt Pt

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Groups

and the Companys profit and loss and other components of

consolidated
equity

in response to 5% appreciation of the 8MB

against the following major currencies at the balance sheet date

At flt ft 15%
Pt Pt hi Pt Pt hi hi hi Pt Pt

hit GQPtPthi

Group

fl
20082009

Effect Effect

Effect on other Effect on other

on profit components on profit components

and loss of equity and loss of equity

tflnn tn
tLW hifl hifl

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

Aflf flhiis APtPtPtPt

US dollars Pt 57 1482555 2048 1602641 34364

Euro 661 2813

Japanese Yen 6233 466

Company

IT
2009 2008

Effect Effect

Effect on other Effect on other

on profit components on profit components

and loss of equity and loss of equity

10
tn nn 5Th

tfiL HsiLW hits hifl
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMROOO RMBOOO

AflPtC Aft/iT JkPtPtPtPt AhilfA

US dollars 1325081 2048 1481611 34364

Euro lIt 2046 378

Japanese Yen 5239 285
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The Groups interest-rate risk primarily arises from borrowings

Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow

interest-rate risk Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group

to fair value interest-rate risk During the year ended 31 December

2009 the Groups borrowings at variable rates were primarily

denominated in US dollars The interest rates and terms of

repayment of borrowings made to the Group and interest rate swaps

are disclosed in Notes 32 and 38a to the financial statements

To hedge against the variability in the cash flows arising from

change in market interest rates the Group has entered into certain

interest rate swaps to swap variable rates into fixed rates The Group

also entered certain interest rate swaps to swap fixed rates into

variable rates

The following table details the interest rate profiles of the Groups

and the Companys interest-bearing financial instruments at the

balance sheet date

lt

Ij
32t

38a

IJ

74s

F3 Ih

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Financial risk factors continued

iI /nterest rate rik ii tjy

Group Company

Floating rate instruments

Cash and cash equivalents

Borrowings

Obligation under finance

leases

Interest rate swaps

at notional amount

2009 2008 2009 2008

WJt
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

Ij

1735248 3451010 1118230 2361941

22477854 26855469 18790618 23777610

19241091 20482615 17174080 18213044

2179378 2675740 2119318 2675740

37804319 41211334 32667090 36952973

Group Company

Fixed rate instruments

Borrowings

Obligation
under finance

leases

Interest rate swaps

at notional amount

2009 2008 2009 2008

il1E
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOOAC

13k

Ij 1j

2857095 8245903 2331095 7330903

129144 326284 129144 316127

466817 543041 466817 543041

2519422 8029146 1993422 7103989

Wii18 95
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NOTES TO THE ANANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 441f444441144
For the year ended 31 December2009 E44444H-1- L1-

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Financial risk factors continued

41 Interest rate r/c41contiieedj

The following
table indicates the approximate change in the Groups

profit and loss and other components of equity if interest rate had

been 25 basis points higher with all other variables held constant

tMflEW3I

44444
TrJ411ftlI

444474441414
444441 441-
2504444441444

i/ Feel prile 411

The Groups results of operations may be significantly affected by

fluctuations in tuel prices which is significant expense component

for the Group Aircraft fuel accounts for 32% of the Groups operating

expenses 2008 33% The Group has entered into certain financial

derivatives to hedge against fuel
price

risk Details of crude oil
option

contracts are disclosed in Note 38c to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2009 it fuel price had been 5%

higher/lower with all other variables held constant excluding the

impact of crude oil option contracts the Groups fuel cost would

have been 8MB613 million higher/lower

For the year ended 31 December 2009 it fuel price had been 5%

higher/lower with all other variables held constant the impact on

financial derivatives is shown below

Effect

on profit

and loss

RMBOOO

Aflit

iii 44 41444

444 4441441
44444 ff1 504444

450444$ 44
44 432%n4 TAt
33%

44045044$
44 1ff

40438clo
$nTTYttn Ed-

414 1444414141

4444
tff1-/f4l4Te% $14
444$
46.13640

144
41475% 4141441414

441 4545644
4414544444

2008

Effect

on other

components

of
equity

$4454
4444

PJ TV

RMBOOO

444145

2009 2008

Effect Effect

Effect on other Effect on other

on profit components on profit components

and loss of equity and loss of equity

14454
In 4444 5445 4444
HfJE 4544 4544

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AfliE AflfiE 4445145 4445145

Floating rate instruments 5445 14 94441 10952 105673 10299

2009

n4fl$
Effect

on other

components
of equity

Inn
cv

RMBOOO

Effect

on profit

and loss

4445

RMBOOO

44845
Net increase in fuel price 14 1-5% 5414

by5%

Net decrease in fuel price

bys%

211435

246054

497879

500690
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 --I1i

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Financial risk factors continued

ooo1o

Af
// CecI/rick iv

The Groups credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash

equivalents derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks

and financial institutions as well as credit exposures to sales agents

The Group has credit policy
in

place to monitor the exposures to

these credit risks on an on-going basis

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of blank tickets

are only
made available to sales agents with an appropriate

credit

history major portion of sales are conducted through sales agents

and the majority of these agents are connected to various settlement

plans and/or clearing systems which impose requirements on the

credit standing

significant portion of the Groups air tickets are sold by sales

agents participating in the Billing and Settlements Plan BSP
clearing system between airlines and sales agents organised by the

International Air Transportation Association The balance due from

BSP agents amounted to approximately RMB56O million as at 31

December 20092008 RMB515 million

Except for the above the Group has no significant concentration of

credit risk with the exposure spreading over number of

counterparties

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Groups exposure to

credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in Note 26

The Groups cash management policy is to deposit cash and cash

equivalents mainly in state-owned banks and other banks which are

highly
rated by an international credit

rating company The Group

also deposits cash and cash equivalents in an associate financial

institution owned by its holding company Note 45bRiii The

management does not expect any loss to arise from non-performance

by these banks and the financial institution

Transactions in relation to derivative financial instruments are only

carried out with financial institutions of
high reputation The Group

has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any one

financial institution Management does not expect any losses from

non-performance by these banks

lBAo

iPihAJ

BSP1-k

AF5.15f
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MflJta
Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Financial risk factors continued

flEW3
TflAi

Li2iifr//tyrXck

The Groups primary cash requirements have been tor additions of

and upgrades to aircraft engines and flight equipment and payments

on related borrowings The Group finances its working capital

requirements through combination of funds generated from

operations and both short and long term bank loans The Group

generally finances the acquisition of aircraft through long-term

finance leases and bank loans

The Group operates with working capital deficit As at 31

December 2009 the Groups net current liabilities amounted to

RMB2BG4G million 200G RMB4345G million For the year ended 31

December 2009 the Group recorded net cash inflow from operating

activities of HMB3429 million 2008 inflow RMB285G million net

cash outflow from
investing

activities and financing activities of

RMB515D million 2008 outflow RMB1 017 million and an decrease

in cash and cash equivalents of RMB171G million 2008 increase

RMB1 79G million

The Directors of the Company believe that cash from operations and

short and long term bank borrowings will be sufficient to meet the

Groups operating cashflow Due to the dynamic nature of the

underlying businesses the Groups treasury policy aims at

maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping credit lines available

The Directors of the Company believe that the Group has obtained

sufficient general credit facilities from PRC banks for financing future

capital commitments and for working capital purposes see Note

2a

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Groups liquidity

reserves on the basis of expected cash flows

fl flflffl
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 Wt.H S.tt

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Financial risk factors continued

0001 01

MNIWfl
vi ZkukJftyr/rkcontiiued

The table below analyses the Groups and the Companys financial

liabilities that will be settled into relevant maturity groupings based

on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual

maturity date The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual

undiscounted cash flows Balances due within 12 months equal their

carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant

ldU1
tflhMfli

tft fiG Sf

34 It

ff1 fr3

tif 44n444
4si 44 flt.i 2.44

12100044
tfl4o

Group

fl
Less than Between Between

year and years and years Over years

iikT 12 25g 5fl
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

Aflf8 AflF6 AflF36 Aflfl

At 31 December 2009

Borrowings

Derivative financial instruments

Obligations under finance leases

Trade and other payables

Total

At 31 December 2008

Borrowings

Derivative financial instruments

Obligations under finance leases

Trade and other payables

Total

12886380

1006286

2466415

16161893

3114883

12095

2388362

6523481

6364

1405048

ft
Ifi TA

444114

fl

ft
fl TAnT1
444111

224

9104 313092

4356134

104886

8152681

364112

32520914 5584444 14241991 13518419

27785310 4515962 39B9413 846074

6456075 15446 19416 150660

2765969 2704499 7805669 11868053

151B3406 320354 410076

52190760 7235909 12114852 13274B63

Company

Less than Between Between

year and years and years Over years

itT 12ti2Y 25ti2Y 5flh
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

Aflft Aflf 10ft

10651123

1006286

2213131

14142245

At 31 December 2009

Borrowings

Derivative financial instruments

Obligations under finance leases

Trade and other payables

Total

At 31 December 2008

Borrowings

Derivative financial instruments

Obligations under finance leases

Trade and other payables

Total

2152994

12095

2130314

5549696

6364

6600565

nfljtWJfE-I-
ft
fl TA

fl 437

0213111

13 3k

fl
444

n0 413H
fth
fl TA

4443114
44411
442244

3421152

104886

1802646

3641129104 232043

2801 3385 4904561 12388668 11699456

25146504 3849229 3156324 530386

6456075 15448 19416 150660

2458559 2400584 6892822 10534868

13216516 229399 410076

47277654 6265261 10297961 11625990
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 Lfl-iI7

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Capital risk management

The Groups objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Groups

ability to continue as going concern in order to provide returns for

shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal

capital structure to reduce the cost of capital

In order to maintain or adjust
the

capital structure the Group may adjust

the amount of dividends paid to shareholders return capital to

shareholders issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio which is

calculated as total liabilities divided by total assets The gearing ratios at

31 December 2009 and 2008 were as follows

Total liabilities

Total assets

Gearing ratio

Ii

lbl

JkuIj

sjj
ft ft ft ft ft II ft ft ft

ftThH- ft1IbbftnT

2009

RMBOOO

70175211

71851392

2008

RMBOOO

85691399

73051890

Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

Effective January 2009 the Group adopted the amendment to IFRS for

financial instruments that are measured in the balance sheet at fair value

this requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following

fair value measurement hierarchy

Quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities level

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level that are

observable for the asset or liability either directly that is as prices

or indirectly that is derived from prices level

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable

market data that is unobservable inputs level

Id

iftffft4ft

ft1

ftil
ftifrftl
ft ft ffj ft

ftftA

0.98 1.17
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 000 05

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards lftFFFfltiSF
For the year ended 31 December2009 F.FJ11ft1-hLBH S.F

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued IF

ci Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities continued ci ft TI ft ft ft ft TI ft ft Ti ft ft

ft ft ft

TAFflflttFFn
WTAAnft HA IIF
ftftflo

Assets

Financial derivatives

Crude oil option contracts

Note 38c
Available-for-sale financial assets

Total

Liabilities

Financial derivatives

Crude oil option contracts

Note 38c
Interest rate swaps

Note 38a
Forward foreign exchange

contracts Note 38b

Total

ft ft Fs

it138c
ajtftjfl

ft Fs

fl38c
ft Fs

fl38a
Il Aft ft Fs

fl38b

Level

RMBOOO

Group and Company

flFFF
Level2

F2I
RMBOOC

3490

57269

Total

RMBOOO

AllAH

3490

57269

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on

quoted market
prices at the balance sheet date market is regarded as

active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange

dealer broker industry group pricing service or regulatory agency and

those
prices represent actual and regularly occurring

market transactions

on an arms length
basis The quoted market price used for financial assets

held by the Group is the current bid price

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active

market for example over-the-counter derivatives is determined by using

valuation techniques These valuation techniques maximise the use of

observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible

on entity specific estimates If all
significant inputs required to fair value an

instrument are observable these instruments are included in level of the

above table

tflFHThIIAFft
It IF ft

ai

ft IF it IF FEFAAl
fl

Ft Ft Alit
HF FT Fe

111SF AFFFFe
AHAAFF

ftFffFFAFFIFflIA
IF It ft ft

111 ft

IF Ill AlA 5fF
fti2nn itJE

M-ftFiAFftftFFIftA
FAFAFeeIFFFF

1FF IA 121

The following table presents the Groups assets and liabilities that are

measured at fair value at 31 December 2009

Level3

RMBOOO

AllAH

3490 57269 60759

897744 897744

154871 154871

77016 77016

1129631 1129631

t1IA57F18fte1 nflfttAF 101
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 114flff$fltfl44Ol.ffIJi14

For the year ended 31 December2009 1111t 444Jff A-- frth 44

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Fair value estirnatFan of financa assets and ahi Ides contFnuerl

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include

If one or more of the
significant inputs

is not based on observable market

data the instrument is included in level

Quoted market
prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments

The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present

value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield

curves

The fair value of forward
foreign exchange contracts is determined

using forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date with the

resulting value discounted back to present value

Other techniques such as discounted cash flow analysis are used to

determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments used in preparing the financial statements are

continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under

the circumstances The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the

future The
resulting accounting estimates will by definition seldom equal the

related actual results The estimates and assumptions that have significant risk

of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year are discussed below

Estniaterl onparment of property pFant and equpment and

ntanghFe assets

The Group tests whether property plant and equipment and
intangible

assets have been impaired in accordance with the accounting policy stated

in Note 2ImI to the financial statements The recoverable amounts of cash

generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations

These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets

approved by management and certain key assumptions such as passenger

kilometres yield level load factor aircraft utilisation rate and discount

rates etc

Revenue reoogntien

The Group recognises traffic revenues in accordance with the accounting

policy stated in Note 21ff to the financial statements Unused tickets are

recognised in traffic revenues based on current estimates Management

annually evaluates the balance in the SlAG and records any adjustments

which can be material in the
period

the evaluation is completed

These adjustments result from differences between the estimates of certain

revenue transactions and the
timing

of
recognising revenue for any unused

air tickets and the related sales price and are impacted by various factors

including complex pricing structure and interline agreements throughout

the industry which affect the
timing

of revenue recognition

11J--r

t1149flt 41111414
11 11311

1141 41141144
nfl

11111111444 41ff fit 11

4111114
11111111111 11$ 111111in nnnn

nImnffFnn
11111

fi1t4114

1114114114 ff111 446$ 41111

1111111111 1111 111th 11114111
fi 1ff 1111111 1111111 1ff FE 11

1144 11 Ii $11 FE 111
11411440 fit 64 PH 111111

11 111111144111114114411
1141 1111444114444 Pt
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5114111111 112mjPff 114
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11 112fM5f44Ao 1111114
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441111011111111114115
411124114541111 3111
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je Frequent flyer programme

The Company operates frequent flyer programme called Eastern Miles

that provides
travel awards to programme members based on accumulated

miles portion of passengers revenue attributable to the award of

frequent flyer benefits is deferred and recognised when the miles have

been redeemed or have expired The deferment of revenue is estimated

based on historical trends of redemptions which is then used to project the

expected utilisation of these benefits Any remaining unutilised benefits are

recognised as deferred revenue

Depreciation of components related to airframe and engine overhaul costs

are based on the Groups historical experience with similar airframe and

engine models and taking info account anticipated overhauls costs

timeframe between each overhaul ratio of actual flying hours and

estimated flying
hours between overhauls Different judgments or estimates

could significantly
affect the estimated depreciation charge and the results

of operations

Prevision fur costs of return conddHee cHecks fur aircraft and

engines under operating lenses

Provision for the estimated costs of return condition checks for aircraft and

engines under operating leases is made based on the estimated costs for

such return condition checks and taking into account anticipated flying

hours flying cycle and timeframe between each overhaul These judgments

or estimates are based on historical experience on returning similar

airframe and engine models actual costs incurred and aircraft and engines

status Different judgments or estimates could significantly affect the

estimated provision for costs of return condition checks

Retirement denefits

The Group operates and maintains defined retirement benefit plans which

provide retirees with benefits including transportation subsidies social

activity
subsidies as well as other welfare The cost of providing the

aforementioned benefits in the defined retirement benefit
plan is actuarially

determined and recognised over the employees service
period by utilising

various actuarial assumptions and using the projected unit credit method in

accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2w to the financial

statements These assumptions include without limitation the selection of

discount rate annual rate of increase of
per capita benefit payment and

employees turnover rate The discount rate is based on managements

review of local high quality corporate bonds The annual rate of increase of

benefit payments is based on the general local economic conditions The

employees turnover rate is based on historical trends of the Group

Additional information regarding the retirement benefit plans is disclosed in

Note 36 to the financial statements
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 I-H-I-

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS continued

Deferred income tax

In assessing the amount of deferred tax assets that need to be recognised

in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2j to the financial

statements the Group considers future taxable income and ongoing prudent

and feasible tax planning strategies In the event that the Groups estimates

of projected future taxable income and benefits from available tax

strategies are changed or changes in current tax regulations are enacted

that would impact the
timing or extent of the Groups ability to utilise the

tax benefits of net operating loss
carry forwards in the future adjustments

to the recorded amount of net deferred tax assets and taxation expense

would be made

Useful lives of property plant and equipment

The Groups management determines the estimated useful lives and related

depreciation charges for its property plant and equipment This estimate is

based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property

plant and equipment of similar nature and functions It could change

significantly as result of technical innovations and competitor actions in

response to severe industry cycles Management will increase the

depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated

lives or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic

assets that have been abandoned or sold

iM

IjMoJ
Jihit

ft

ojjof3J
ty

REVENUES

The Group is principally engaged in the operation of civil aviation including the

provision of passenger cargo mail
delivery

and other extended transportation

services

b21R

Traffic revenues

Passenger

Cargo and mail

Ground service income

Cargo handling income

Commission income

Others

2009

RMBOOO

36924830

32800411

4124419

974732

296827

206137

587133

2008

RMBOOO

38844269

33486459

5357810

1252458

337773

183129

454918

Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulations in the PRC the major elements of the

Groups traffic revenues commission income ground service income cargo handling income

and other revenues are subject to business tax levied at rates of 3% or 5% The business tax

incurred and set off
against the above Groups revenues for the year ended 31 December

2009 amounted to approximately HMB1019 million 2008 RMB891 million

AMA3%5%fiEAA10.19

Group

Note

38989659 41072557
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 000

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 ff
OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND OTHER GAINS ii

Group

Other operating income

Refund of civil aviation infrastructure levies

Note

Other government subsidies Note

1th5

Pursuant to Cal Jian 2009 No Issued by Ministry of Finance and Civil Aviation

Administration of China in 2009 the civil aviation infrastructure levies collected from

PRC domestic airlines for the period from July 2008 to 30 June 2009 will be

refunded The amount for the year ended 31 December 2009 represents the refunds

of civil aviation infrastructure levies received by the Group

Other government subsidies represent subsidies granted by local governments to

the Group and ii other subsidies granted by various local municipalities to encourage

the Group to operate certain routes to cities where these municipalities are located

SEGMENT INFORMATION

CODM office of the General Manager reviews the Groups internal

reporting
in order to assess performance and allocate resources

The Group has one reportable operating segment reported as airline

operations which are structured and managed separately The airline

operations comprises the provision
of air passenger air cargo services

mail and ground logistics

Other services including aviation training air catering and other

miscellaneous services are not included within the reportable operating

segment as they are not included in the internal report provided to the

CODM The results of these operation are included in the other segments

column

Inter-segment transactions are entered into under normal commercial terms

and conditions that would be available to unrelated third parties

In accordance with IFRS segment disclosure has been presented in

manner that is consistent with the information used by the Groups CODM

The Groups CODM monitors the results assets and liabilities attributable

to each reportable segment based on financial results prepared under the

PRC Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises the PRC Accounting

Standards which differ from IFRS in certain aspects As such the amount

of each material reconciling items from the Groups reportable segment

revenue profit or loss assets and liabilities arising from different

accounting policies are set out in Note 7c below

ALftF
qI

HP4
ii

bP
2ff

JI

Ao

Jtf iiffff
bifffftf

thLMfA

2009WjL
RMBOOO

ja

2008

RMBOOO

Other gains

Gains on disposal of property plant and

equipment

Note

831749

456268 405163

1288017 405163

267084
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 -i--
SEGMENT INFORMATION continued

The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2009 are as follows EH

Reportable segment revenue

from external customers

Inter-segment sales

Reportable segment revenue

Reportable segment profit

before income tax

Reportable segment assets

Reportable segment liabilities

Other segment information

Depreciation and amortisation

Impairment losses

Capital expenditure

39127636 103695

126124

Elimination Unallocated

RMBOOO

39831331

The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2008 are as follows iE

Reportable segment revenue

from external customers

Inter-segment sales

Reportable segment revenue

Reportable segment loss/profit

before income tax

Reportable segment assets

Reportable segment liabilities

Other segment information

Depreciation and amortisation

Impairment losses

Capital expenditure

66

71

Airline

operations

RMBOOO

Other

segments

6666

RMBOOO RMBVOO

41842361

Unallocated assets primarily represent investments in associates and jointly

controlled entities and available-for-sale financial assets Unallocated results

primarily represent the share of results of associates and jointly controlled entities

737 I6

Airline

operations

RMBOOO

Other

segments

fi6
RMBOOO

Total

RMBOOO RMBOOO

126124

if

666

666616

6666

39721636 229819 126124 39831331

644301 18563 22749 640121

69850127 1153130 137660 1153084 72018681

68068474 474739 137660 68405553

5218242 54494 5332136

118022 202 118224

8112355 70386 8182741

Elimination Unallocate Total

ff6

RMBOOO

66

RMBOOO

41745906 96455

171213 171213

41745906 267668 171213 41842361

14136843 45898 105837 13985108

70762308 1183416 135637 1373919 73184006

83861674 523120 135637 84249157

4588298 122974 4711272

2020971 1207 2022178

11526771 20513 11547284
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For the year ended 31 December2009

SEGMENTINFORMATIONcontinued

The Groups business segments operate in three main geographical areas

even though they are managed on worldwide basis

The Groups revenues by geographical segment are analysed based on the

following
criteria

Traffic revenue from services within the PHC excluding the Hong

Kong Special Administrative Region Hong KongL Macau
Special

Administrative Region Macau and Taiwan collectively known as

Regional is classified as domestic operations Traffic revenue

from inbound and outbound services between the PRC regional or

overseas markets is attributed to the segments based on the origin

and destination of each flight segment

Revenue from ticket handling services airport ground services and

other miscellaneous services are classified on the basis of where the

services are performed

10

ii

iii

2009

RMBOOO

2008

RMBOOO

The major revenue-earning assets of the Group are its aircraft all of which

are registered
in the PRC Since the Groups aircraft are deployed flexibly

across its route network there is no suitable basis of allocating such assets

and the related liabilities by geographic and hence segment assets and

capital expenditure by geographic have not been presented

fflfo

Group

Domestic the PHC excluding Hong Kong

Macau and Taiwan

Regional Hong Kong Macau and Taiwan

International

Total

II

27482611 24810917

1986964 2496303

10361156 14535141

39831331 41842361
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 -AEE-1-

SEGMENT INFORMATION continued

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue profit or loss assets and

liabilities to the consolidated figures as reported in the consolidated

financial statements

iIi4i
A5ief

Prof it/Ioss before income tax

Reportable segment profit/loss

Difference in depreciation and

impairment charges for aircraft

engines and flight equipment

Provision for post-retirement benefits

Difference in goodwill impairment

Others

Consolidated profit/loss before income tax

ii iM

-fth

bii Ij IL

Group

2009

Note RMBOOO

640121

64988

334348

8420

2008

RMBOOO

13985108

517730

110458

688311

45598

Revenue LtA

Reportable segment revenue 53 ff3 Lf fff 39831331 41842361

Reclassification of business tax and ff

expired sales in advance of carriage 53 1ff 841672 769804

Consolidated revenue LI3 38989659 41072557

Group

2009 2008-it
Note RMBOOO RMBOOO

ii

iii

iv

249205 5256009
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 LbI

SEGMENT INFORMATION continued

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue profit or loss assets and

liabilities to the consolidated figures as reported in the consolidated

financial statements continued

Ic 1Aifi
fe

Reportable segment assets

Difference in depreciation and

impairment charges for aircraft

engines and flight equipment

Reversal of revaluation surplus

relating to land use rights

Jth

-fth

Group

2009

Note RMBOOO

7201 8681

161912

360626

25425

2008

IIMBOOO

73184006

232900

369046

4030

The difference represents
the different classification of business tax and

expired sales in advance of carriage under PRC Accounting Standards and

IFRS

ii The difference is attributable to the differences in the useful lives and residual

values of aircraft engines and rotable adopted for depreciation purpose in

prior years under PRC GAAP and IF/iS Despite the depreciation policies of

these assets have been unified under IFRS and the PRC Accounting Standards

in recent years the changes were applied prospectively as changes in

accounting estimates which results in the differences in the carrying amounts

and related depreciation changes under IF/IS and PRC Accounting Standards

iii In accordance with the PRO Accounting Standards employeespost -retirement

benefits are recognised upon payment Under fF85 such post-retirement

benefits under defined benefit schemes are required to be recognised over the

employees service period

iv The basis of recognising
the value of the underlying assets and liabilities

acquired
in

prior years was different under the PRC Accounting Standards and

/1715 Accordingly the amount of goodwill and impairment of
goodwill was

different

ii

g/p

7flE

iii EAU fit

fMiJIym
vi

flnI17

Assets

Others

Consolidated total assets

ii

71851392 73051890

Group

2009

Note RMBOOO

Liabilities

Reportable segment liabilities

Provision for post-retirement benefits

Others

Consolidated total liabilities

Notes

2008

RMBODO

-fth

111.1

iii

68405553

1849933

80275

84249157

1515585

73343

70175211 85691399
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 JLflEI-I- iI7

SEGMENT INFORMATION continued

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue profit or loss assets and

liabilities to the consolidated figures as reported in the consolidated

financial statements continued

Ic AIieiff
is

Notes continued

Under the PRC Accounting Standards land use rights injected by the
parent

company as capital contribution upon restructuring for listing are stated at

valuation less accumulated amortisation Under IFRS land use rights are

recorded as prepaid operating leases at historical cost which was nil at the

time of listing

GAIN/LOSS ON FAIR VALUE MOVEMENTS OF FINANCIAL

DERIVATIVES

il7U7
AfQAil$

ii/t

Gain/loss arising from fair value movements of

financial derivatives

Crude oil option contracts Note 38c
Other derivatives Note 38a

38cT38ab

2009

RMBOOO

2008

RMBOOO

3774688 6400992

WAGES SALARIES AND BENEFITS iF4U
Group

2009

it
RMBOOO

2008

RMBOOO

Group

3743746 6255791

30942 145201

Wages salaries bonus and allowances ffi 3502069 3259465

Employee welfare and benefits Ij Ij 255214 227206

Defined contribution retirement schemes Note 36a 1f E36a 521596 452879

Post-retirement benefits Note 36b ij it 36b 440878 200603

Staff housing fund Note 37a It it37a 323348 281776

Staff housing allowance Note 37b It it37b 105772 123383

5148877 4545312
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NOTES TO THE FtNANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International financial Reporting Standards ItM$flIiM
For the year ended 31 December2009 Ht

WAGES SALARIES AND BENEFITS continued

Emoluments of directors and supervisors

Details of the emoluments paid to the Companys directors and supervisors

are as follows

000 115

FflflE
I$dfl

Executive Directors

Liu Shaoyong/

MaXulun

Luo Chaogeng

LiJun

Luo Thu ping

Independent non-executive Directors

Hu Honggao

Peter Lok
Wu Baiwang

Zhou
Ruijin

Xie Hong

Liu Keya
Supervisors

Liu Jiangbo

Xushao

Wang Taoying

Yang Jie
Liu Jiashun

Yan Taisheng

Feng Jinxiong

nfl

fl

jlt

Ij

tll

ti sri

risr jir

fl NI

Salaries and

Allowance

RMBOOO

Afl-1

142

182

120

106

120

120

120

106

2009

it

Total

RMBOOO

142

182

120

106

120

120

120

106

Bonus

RMBOOO

Total

44

112

142

44

112

142

1314 1314

titMflThri nflhtI 111
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 -1-

WAGES SALARIES AND BENEFITS continued

Emoluments of directors and supervisors continued

2008

Executive Directors

Liu Shaoyong

Ma Xulun

Li Fenghua

Luo Chaogeng

Cao Jianxiong

LiJun

Luo Zhuping

Independent nonexecutive Directors

Hu Honggao

Peter Lok

Wu Baiwang

Zhou Ruijin

Xie Rong

Supervisors

Liu Jiangbo

XuZhao

Yang Jie

Wang Taoying

Liu Jiashun

II fi

JI ti

Il

Ii lIl

Salaries and

Allowance

RMBOOO

120

117

120

120

120

Total

RMBOOO

173

120

117

120

120

120

45

162

These directors and supervisors of the Company received emoluments from

CEA Holding the parent company part of which were in respect of their

services to the Company and its subsidiaries No apportionment has been

made as it is impracticable to apportion this amount between their services to

the Group and their services to CEA Holding

These directors and supervisors of the Company retired or resigned during the

year ended 31 December2009

These directors and supervisors of the Company were newly appointed during

the year ended 31 December2009

During the year ended 31 December 2009 no directors and supervisors of

the Company waived their emoluments 2008 Nil

I2 JLbLHih

Bonus

RMBOOO

173

Total

45

162

977 977
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 000

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

Group

2009

RMBOIJO

2008

RMBOOO

During the year ended 31 December 2009 no emoluments were paid by the

Group to the directors supervisors and the five highest paid individuals as

an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for

loss of office 2008 Nil

10 IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

bL
10 1i

Goodwill impairment Note

Impairment charge on property plant and

equipment Note

Impairment charge on non-current assets held

for sale Note

Other impairment charge

Group

For the year ended 31 December2009 JIEJ

WAGES SALARIES AND BENEFITS continued

Five highest paid individuals AA

None of the Companys directors and supervisors was among the five

highest paid
individuals in the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009

The emoluments payable to the five 2008 five highest paid individuals are

as follows

Wages salaries bonus and allowances iii fi 3393 3159

The emoluments fell within the following band t1

Number of individuals

2009 2008

Wii
Below HK$1000000 1000000

2009

RMBOOO

2008

RMBOOO

993143Xa
16396 1441904Ic
35443 235273

57518 306358

109411 2976678
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 -1-
10 IMPAIRMENT LOSSES continued

Note

For the year ended 31 December2008 the Group recognised an impairment charge of

HMB993 million against goodwill which had previously been recognised in the

connection with the Groups acquisitions of airline businesses Note 18

In 2008 the Group performed an impairment test on property plant and equipment

PPE as at 31 Oecember 2008 based on which an impairment provision of

RMB 1442 million was made against certain aircraft model and the related

equipment reflecting their relatively lower operation efficiency and managements

intention to retire them in the near future In determining the recoverable amounts of

the related assets management had compared the value in use and the fair value

less costs to sell of the related assets primarily determined by reference to estimated

market values

ci After assessing the fair value less costs to sell as at the balance sheet date which

was primarily determined by reference to estimated market value an additional

impairment loss of 8MB35 million 2008 RMB235 million was made against certain

aircraft and related flight equipment which have been classified as non-current

assets held for sale Note 42

11 OPERATING PROFIT/LOSS

Operating profit/Ioss is stated after
crediting

and charging the following items

10

Jl-H
p9.93 tf$ 1$ 18J1-

Igi

TA-J.ffl 14.42

fbI

fc jffthilIl
iA7I$tEi
A0.35fl.A 235

iRft i$42

11 J/
fi i/f

ij ft

Group

2009

Note RMBOOO

1U

2008

RMBOOO

Charging

Amortisation of intangible assets

Depreciation of property plant
and equipment

leased

owned

Amortisation of lease prepayments

Consumption of flight equipment spare parts

Provision for impairment of trade and

other receivables

Auditors remuneration

10

1ftJ

ft 1t

Crediting --

Gain on disposals of property plant and equipment

267084

109199 110151

2189310

2878040

25686

351151

8801

12000

1913877

2626652

25940

476282

34760

18000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009

12 FINANCEINCOME 12 MA

The exchange gain for the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008 primarily related to the

translation of the Groups foreign currency
denominated borrowings and obligations under

finance leases at year-end exchange rates

13 FINANCE COSTS 13 4ft

The average interest rate used for interest capitalisation is 4.50% per annum for the year

ended 31 December2009 20085.43%

14 INCOME TAX

Income tax charged/credited to the consolidated income statement is as follows

4.50% 543%

14

iA/H b0

000117

Group

Exchange gains net Note

Interest income

Note

ft

2009

.Wji
RMBOOO

2008

RMBOOO

95379

109925

1972350

89275

205304 2061625

Group

2009

RMBOOO

Ij

Ij

Interest relating to obligations
under finance leases

Interest on loans from banks and financial institutions

Interest relating to notes payable

Less Amounts capitalised into advanced payments

on acquisition of aircraft Note

Note

2008

RMBOOO

486845

1407053

83964

646079

1940171

84050

1971862 2670300

223222 342153

1754640 2328147

Group

2009

RMBOOO

Provision for PRC income tax 60398 35432

Deferred taxation Note 35 35 7851 38484

2008

RMBOOO

52547 73916
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009

14 INCOME TAX continued

Prior to 2008 the Company and certain of its subsidiaries the Pudong

Subsidiaries located in Pudong District Shanghai were entitled to reduced

rate of 15% pursuant to the preferential tax policy in Pudong District Shanghai

Under the Corporate Income Tax Law of the Peoples Republic of China the New
CIT LawL which was approved by the National Peoples Congress on 16 March

2007 and became effective from January 2008 the Company and the Pudong

Subsidiaries are entitled to transitional arrangement to gradually increase the

applicable corporate income tax rate to 25% over the next five years from 2008

For the year ended 31 December 2009 the corporate income tax rate applicable to

the Company and the Pudong Subsidiaries was 20% 2008 18% Other

subsidiaries of the Company except for those incorporated in Hong Kong and

subject to Hong Kong corporate income tax rate of 16.5% 2008 16.5% are

generally subject to the PRC standard corporate tax rate of 25% 2008 25%
under the New CIT Law

Tax on the Groups consolidated income statement differs from the theoretical

amount that would arise using the standard taxation rate of the home country of

the Company as follows

The Group operates international flights to overseas destinations There was no

material overseas taxation for the years ended 31 December 2009 as there are

double tax treaties between the PRC and the corresponding jurisdictions including

Hong Kong relating to aviation businesses

14

fft 15%LTV

.ff

18% fF11 1% Ff1

16.5%hftTF1I

hft 25%

25%Ijff

FfA111

j11f

ITiFf

Group

2009

RMBOOO

2008

RMBOOO

Profit/loss before income tax cij/f 1ff 249205 15256009

Adjusted by Ff

Share of result of associates and
jointly

controlled

entities itt iI 22749 93718

226456 15349727
Tax calculated at the enacted tax rate of 20% 20% 1--

2008 18% 2008w 18% 45856 2762951

Effect attributable to subsidiaries charged 111 25% 16.5% fF11 Ff

at tax rates of 25% or 16.5% 2008 25% or 16.5% ffj 2008 25% ff 16.5% 18353 67505

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes Ill 6367 6462

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses 1ff 30014

Written off of deferred tax asset recognised fF1

by subsidiary in prior year 1115 34773

Unrecognised tax losses for the year 71s 300830 1093350

Utilisation of
previously unrecognised deductable fF1 FfiI 155 1115

temporary differences 1fl 1000624

Unrecognised temporary differences for the year 55 748485 1769787

Tax charge 52547 73916
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15 DIVIDEND

The Board has not recommended any dividend for the year ended 31 December

2009 2008 Nil

The
profit

attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt with in the

financial statements of the Company to the extent of RMB1 074 million 2008 loss

of RMB13877 million

17 EARNINGS/LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earning per
share is based on the profit attributable to

equity holders of the Company of RMB169 million 200B loss of RMB15269

million and the weighted average number of shares of 6436828000 2008

4866950000 in issue during
the year ended 31 December 2009

The Company has no potentially dilutive option or other instruments relating to the

ordinary shares

00012

1.69

6436828000
4866950000

Cost

Ati January2008

Other additions

At 31 December 2008

Ati January2009

Other additions

At 31 December 2009

Accumulated amortisation

At January 2008

Charge for the year

At 31 December 2008

At January 2009

Charge for the year

At 31 December 2009

Impairment

Ati January2009

At 31 December 2009

Net book amount

At 31 December 2008

At31 December2009

iLE-t--

iLE-t--

-JL
H-
E-f--

Goodwill

Note

fia
RMBOOO

993143

Group

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 JE

16 PROFIT/LOSS ATFRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS

15

16 i/

138.774S

11 i/

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18

Sponsorship Computer

tee Note software Total

Ub
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

320000 132141

23439

1445284

23439

993143 320000 155580 1468723

993143 320000 155580 1468723

14570 14570

993143 320000 170150 1483293

135064 65514 200578

82194 27957 110151

217258 93471 310729

217258 93471 310729

82194 27605 109799

299452 121076 420528

993143 993143

993143 993143

102742 62109 164851

20548 49074 69622
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards NJI
For the year ended 31 December2009 LbJ

Cost

Atl January2008

Other additions

At31 December2008

At January 2009

Other additions

At 31 December 2Q09

Accumulated amortisation

At January 2008

Charge for the year

At 31 December 2008

Ati January2009

Charge for the year

At 31 December 2009

Impairment

Atl January2009

At 31 December 2Q09

Net book amount

At 31 December 2008

At 31 December 2009

Notes

E-I-

E-t--

E--bAH-
WjiE E-f--

130745 1139056

23321 23321

Impairment tests for goodwill

For the
year

ended 31 December 2008 the Group and the Company recognised

impairment charge of RMB993 million and RMB688 million respectively against

goodwill which had previously been recognised in connection with the acquisition of

airline businesses The impairment charge recognised represented the amount by

which the CGUs carrying amount exceeded its recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of CGLI was determined based on value-in-use calculations

These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by

management

Management determined budgeted passenger yield increase rate load factor and

aircraft daily utilisation based on past performance and its expectations for market

development The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to

the Groups business

fb Sponsorship fees

In March 2006 the Company entered into sponsorship agreement the Sponsorship

Agreement with the Bureau of 2010 Expo Shanghai the Bureau which designated

the Group as the exclusive airline passenger carrier in the PRC to sponsor the 2010

Shanghai Expo The Company will be entitled to number of rights including but not

limited to the use of the Expo logo in the Groups products priority to purchase

advertising space at the Expo site etc In return the Company is required to pay

total sponsorship fee of RMB32O million RMB16O million of which would be paid in

cash by instalments the remaining RMB16O million would be settled by value-in-kind

seivices VIK in the form of goods or services to support the 2010 Shanghai Expo

Accordingly an intangible asset has been recognised and amortised on straight-line

basis over the period from the effective date of the Sponsorship Agreement to 13

March 2010 The outstanding sponsorship fee of RMBI 16 million 2008 178 million

has been recognised as other payables Note 30 in the Groups and the Companys

balance sheet

$IfUC

TAF 9.93 Ij7 6.88

2iAJZ$

Ab

-fflfr-

3.20

1.60 i2fd
TdiIA 1.60 Iii
Ifit
/E5 -- lI0dU/ 1.16

2008 178 R7EAi7EIY

E30

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued 18 fi
Company

LI
Goodwill Sponsorship Computer

Note fee Note software Total

ia tb
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

688311 320000

688311 320000 154066 1162377

688311 320000 154066 1162377

11461 11461

688311 320000 165527 1173838

135064 64318 199382

82194 27911 110105

217258 92229 309487

217258 92229 309487

82194 26856 109050

299452 119085 418537

688311 688311

688311 688311

102742 61837 164579

20548 46442 66990
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 frLEt

19 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19 flflfl

000123

Cost

AtlJaouary2009 LT
Reclassification to owned assets opoo 9j 51 53

enpiring of the finance leases

Sales aod finance lease back Note it 1$ 53

Transfers from constructino in
progress

EtlIIfSfiA

Transfers from adoanced payments lE y5 35331 31 121

on ocqoisition of aircraft Note 21

Accumulated
depreciation bi-

Attlonoory2of9

Reclassification to owned assets upon 53 53311 fbi 5315353

enpiring of the finance leases

Sales and finance lease back 53353535353

Chargefortheyear $5315353

Other disposals 531535353

4t31 December2009

At31 December2009

fin
33 fl 31 53

HAH

AttJanuary2009

Aircraft engines
and

flight

equipment

flflfl

Other

Held nuder property

finance plant and Construction

Owned leases Buildings equipment in prngress
Tntal

bibfl

fltfl 53 fl53 Itt

BMBOOO RMBOOIJ HMBOLIO HMBCiJO RMHOOO RMBOCO

Afl5353 Aflfl Aflfl AMfN Afl53 Aflfl

34410214 35898910 3411945 4095251 513462 18389908

1431513 1431513

1984281 590253 1394028

138051 23104 161161

3482854 3482854

4616562 448861 19849 210491 355051 5110820

690491 411880 25481 244109 1431961

41212431 35022691 3544310 4145349 166152 84151593

14583418 6526300 181186 2360080 24251584

126821 126821

1148938 1148938

2383158 2189310 109812 385010 5061350

683869 411880 6156 111521 1340026

15860596 1510903 884902 2513569 26829910

966191 413393 13094 550 6623 1459851

163% 163%

245090 245090

13094 13094

121101 413393 550 23019 1218063

24690134 21038395 2659468 1511230 143133 56103560

18860665 28899211 2611065 1134621 566839 52618413

Ornup

Other additions

Other disposals

At3t December2009

53153531

53153331

Impairment

At Janeary 2009

Charge for the
year

Sales and finance lease back

Renersal
upon disposal

fin
33L535331531ft

53531
535311311

3313535333

Net honk amount

At31 December2009

nflft5353553 119
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 Hf LLJ

19 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued 19

Cost

AtlJanuary2008

Reclassification to owned assets
opoo R2 12

expiring of the finance leases

Sales and finance lease back

Transfers from construction in
progress GE GE GE 02

Transfers from advanced payments GE 12 12 12 AGEf21

on acquisition of aircraft Note 21

Other additions f27h

Other disposals GEEf2 GE

At31 December2008

Accumulated depreciation GE 121

AtlJanuary2008 GE1212A12Th--H

Reclassification to owned assets upon 02 0212 12 12

eopiring of the finance leases

Sales and finance lease back GE GE 021211111

Chargefortheyear $12121212

Other disposals lb 0202

At3lDecernber2008

At31 December2008

AflJanuary2008

Aircraft engines and flight

equipment

110 12 12 10fj bli

1212

Other

Held under property

finance plant and Construction

Owned leases Buildings equipment in

progress
Total

1012 1212 1212 GEGEIGE 020

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOC RMBOUO BMBOOO RMBCOO

AGEGEf2 AGEGEA AGEGEfA AGEGEA AGEGEA2 AGEGEfA

32828494 27815704 2825748 3883784 480791 67934521

3094561 3094561

3085419 3085419

233746 19313 203059

411153 3818843 4227996

1781272 4683699 360498 335220 345730 7506419

719787 408134 8047 143060 1279028

34410274 35898970 3411945 4095257 573462 78389908

13j 65501 4820675 673892 1986752 20646820

1580097 1580097

1779979 1779979

2138172 1913877 108826 379654 4540529

520373 408134 932 6328 935765

14583410 6526300 781786 2360080 24251584

13094 550 4303 17947

966191 473393 2320 1441904

968j91 473393 13094 550 6623 1459851

18860655 28899277 2617065 1734627 566839 52678473

19762993 22995029 2138762 1896482 476488 47269754

Group

Impairment

At
Janoary

2008

Charge
for the

year

GE 1212 GE

12102012

Net book amount

At 31 December 2008 GE 1212 AGE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Li do

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards li4ffltPP11P2P53JtePI

For the year ended 31 December2009 cJH SLE

19 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued 19 18 $53

Cost In
AtfJanuary2009

Reclassification to owned assets
upon Ri 53311111153 PA 0$ 53531

enpiring at the finance leases

Sales and tinance lease backNeteb 5353535331153 P1b
Trassters tram construction in

progress 5353

Transfers tram advanced
payments 1103105353 1t $8 A53$21

on acqeisition staircraftNete2U

Other additions PP 5353

Other disposals 53531131

At31 December 2009

Accumulated depreciation 8531

AhlJanuary2009

Reclassification to owned assets upon 53533111111153 PA 041531

eopiring of the finance leases

Sales and finance lease hack 153535331153

Chargefortheyear $531531

Other disposals 5353531

At31 December2009

Impairment

AtlJannary200B

Sales and finance lease hack 15353535353

At 31 December 2009

Not book amouot 90909090

At3f December2009

Aircraft engines and flight

equipment

nnfl
nIl

Othor

Held nader property

finance plant and Constraction

Owned leases Boildings eqaipment in progress
Total

fin
90 fill lit 9086I90 5304153 18$

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMHOIJO RMBOOO RMBOOD

Afl53 AfliE AflY11 Afl53 Afl53

28191516 31123324 1940264 2508204 415202 65318510

1394028

63093 22268 85361

34191518 31111145 2038022 2591350 629324 10568019

11505391 5808513 463204 1643832 19420946

559825 559825

1148938 1148938

2110331 1930392 60510 216112 4311411

651516 411880 535 93955 1229946

12369045 6101200 523239 1826049 21419533

966191 413393 5200 1444184

245090 245090

121101 413393 5200 1199694

21101432 23931152 1514183 111301 624124 41948192

16319988 25441418 1411060 864312 410002 44512840

Company

lIP

1149514 1149514

1984281 590253

2940619

3958228

664198

425622

411880

39568 118838

4903 112060

2940619

299483 4901839

1259041

AtlJanea112009

nJ53534 121



00012G
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
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19 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued 19

Cost

Ati January2008 hTT\
Reclassification to owned assets upon lilt ill

expiring of the finance eases

Sales and finance lease back

Transfers from construction in
progress 111

Transfers from advanced payments 0E1I0 1t A/21
on acquisition

of aircraftNote2l

Other additions tf 10

Other disposals 111

At31 December2008 0TTAI
Accumulated depreciation

AtlJanuary2008

Reclassification to owned assets upon IllS 00

expiring
of the finance leases

Sales and finance lease back

Charge
forthe

year 74r JtI
Other disposals

At3lDecember2008 1H

Notes

Aircraft engines
and

flight

equipment

10 11

Held under
property

finance plant and Construction

Owned leases Buildings equipment in
progress

Total

tIlt
ssti

RMBOOU RMBOOU RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBCOO

AIil JIIA AI AII AII ktlfA

21203710 23659953 1539304 2433576 205951 55042494

3094561 3g94561

3085419 3085419

56226 19314 75540

411153 3816843 4227996

1662101 4616658 346804 150603 284791 7060957

494530 360988 2070 95289 952877

28791576 31723324 1940264 2508204 415202 65378570

10254289 4333277 409816 1460062 16457444

1580097 1580097

1779979 1779979

1929703 1636342 53734 271797 3891576

478713 360988 346 88027 928074

1150539 0808513 463204 1643832 19420946

4303 4303

966191 473393 897 1440481

966191 473393 5200 1444784

16319988 25441418 1477060 864372 410002 44512840

16949421 19326676 1129488 973514 201648 38580747

A38Ifk 13678 IC3T

Al112.73iP
87.23 72.09 A0All0ilId0

32

9OiflA19.84 I0mMi

Company

Other

Impairment

At January 2008

Charge
for the

year

TA ft

IA

At3lDecember2008

Net hook amount

At31 December2008

AtlJanuary2008 IITAIH

As at 31 December 2009 certain aircraft and buildings ownad by the Group and the

Company with an aggregate net book amount of approximately RMBI3678 million

and RMB1 1273 million respectively 2008 RMB8723 million and RM87209 million

respectively were pledged as collateral under certain loan arrangements Note 32

During the year
ended 31 December 2009 certain aircrafts owned by the Group with

an aggregate net book value of
approximately

RMB59O million cost of
approximately

RMB1984 million were sold to third party at net book value and leased back by the

Group under finance lease
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20

00012

Lease prepayments represent unamortised prepayments for land use rights

The Groups land use rights are located in the PRC and the majority of these land

use rights have terms of 50 years from the date of grant As at 31 December 2009

the majority of these land use rights had remaining terms ranging from 37 to 52

years 2008 from 38 to 53 years

21 ADVANCED PAYMENTS ON ACQUISITION OF AIRCRAFT 21

20 LEASE PREPAYMENTS

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008ii ii .WWA
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AiF71 Aif7 7r /7c
Cost

At January

Other additions

At31 December

Accumulated amortisation

At January

Charge for the year

At 31 December

Net book amount

At31 December

H-f

1230068 1175104 551785 546404

54964 5381

1230068 1230068 551785 551785

233547 207607 131513 121268

25686 25940 10641 10245

259233 233547 142154 131513

910835 996521 409631 420272

Group Company

At January

Additions

Interest
capitalised Note 13

Transfers to property plant
and

equipment Note 19

Transfers to subsidiaries

At31 December

2009 2008 2009 2008fL JL
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

2j Th 13

6413554

1927252

223222

6695573

3603824

342153

6413554

1927252

223222

3482854 4227996 2940679

542175

6695573

3603824

342153

4227996

Included in the Groups and the Companys balance as at 31 December 2009 the

amount of accumulated interest
capitalised

is RMB517 million 2008 RMB518

million

5081174 6413554 5081174 6413554

b1-1LiA5.17-A
A5.18
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22 INVESTMENTS UN SUBSIDIARIES 22 Ff4
Company

China Eastern Airlines Jiangsu Co Ltd

CEA Jiangsu

91

MA Mi

PRC

May 1993

2009

RMBOOO

2008

RMBOOO

880000 880000 63% 63% Provision of airline

services

China Cargo Airlines Co Ltd

China Cargo

91

AM

PAC

22 July 1998

ii

950000 950000 70% 70% Provision of cargo

carriage services

China Eastern Airlines Wuhan

Co Ltd CEA Wuhan

PRC

16 August 2002

600000 600000 96% 96% Provision of airline

services

09

Shanghai Eastern Flight

Tra in ing Co Ltd

PRC

18 December 1995

ft

473000 473000 95% 95% Provision of
flight

training services

310 09

Shanghai Eastern Airlines

Logistics Co Ltd

Eastern Logistics

AM 91

91

PRC

23 August 2004

ft

200000 200000 70% 70% Provision of
cargo

logistics services

09

Eastern Airlines Hotel Co Ltd

MA 81

PA

18 March 1998

ft

10000 70000 86% 86% Provision of hotel services

primarily to crew members

310

AAAI9189A

Shanghai Eastern Maintenance

Co Ltd

AA 91

PAC

27 November 2002

25658 25658 60% 60% Prnvision of aircraft repair

and maintenance services

3FhA

China Eastern Airlines

Development HK Co Ltd

AMAAAAA
91

Hong Kong

20 May 1995

AAA.ft H-H

80% 80% Provision of ticket

sales and
logistics

00

Investment at cost IA 3M 2523715 2523715

Particulars of the
principal subsidiaries all of which are limited liability companies 3M 911 J91J At 3M IA

established and operating in the PRC or Hong Kong are as follows 3M 3M IA 3M 3M 3M 3M IA 91 3M

JA91nF

Place and date of

Company establishment Paid-up capital Attributable equity interest Principal activities

2009 2008 2009 2008

AitA AAA itA
RMBtltlO BMBOOO

AA91

10047 10047
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22 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES continued 22 t2 Sf4

Company

China Eastern Airlines Shantou

Economics Development Co Ltd

tk

Place and date of

establishment Paid-up capital
Attributable

equity
interest

Principal
activities

2009 2008

iL IAI

55% 55% Provision of airline

equipment sales

China Eastern Airline Sifting

Co Ltd

POC

17 August 2007

ft

50000 50000 100% 100% Provision of marketing

services

Eastern Business Airline Service

Co Ltd

00 IA

PAC

27 September 2008

100

-l

50000 50000 100% 100% Provision of airlines

consultation services

hj

2009

RMROOO

2008

BMBUOO

PHC

18 March 1998

100

/L -I-

10000 10000

23 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 23

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008it AI
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

721 A7r
Unlisted investments at cost Ic Ij Ic Ic 568417 808417 522058 762058

Share of results/reserves 10 10 Ic Ic Ic 154605 171 S02

723022 980319 522058 762058

IIc0PAb1 t5o 125
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23 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES continued

The movement on investments in associates is as follows

23 JCi

AtiJanuary

Costs of additional investments

Disposal of shares in an associate

Note

Transfer to available-for-sale

assets upon disposal
of shares

Disposal of an indirectly
held

associate

Share of results of associates

Share of revaluation on available

for sale investments held

by associates

Share of other equity movement

of an associate

Dividend received
during

the year

hi

hi

hft Si

Si

ihiI

Group Company

377872

384186

On 13 April 2009 the Company entered into an agreement with China Aviation Industry

Corporation to dispose 35% interests in Joy Air Co Ltd Joy Air for consideration of

RMB2IO million After completion of the disposal the Company holds 5% interests in Joy

Air and classifies the investment as available-for-sale financial assets

milfA2.1Oi5%

2009 2008 2009 2008

-iiI AI AI
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO I9MBOOO

AIIt Afl7t AIy
980319 601119 762058

384186

210000 210000

30000 30000

3820

46602 69668

585 19080

49692

19802

Note

At 31 December E1 723022 980319 522058 762058

51754
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23 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES continued

Particulars of the principal associates all of which are limited
liability companies

established and operating in the PRC are as follows

Company

Eastern Air Group finance Co Ltd IEAGF

China Eastern Air Catering Investment Co Ltd

Place and date of

establishment

POC

December 1995

PAC

17 November2003

vii

2008

TA
8MB 800

Jiangsu Huayu General Aviation Co Ltd

09 09

Eastern Aviation Import Evport Co Ltd

EAIECI

Collins Aviation Maintenance Service Shanghai Ltd

00 09

P8C

December 2004

PAC

Jane 1993

PRC

27
September

2002

vii 190

110000 110000 21% 27% Provision of aviation suppert services

09

00000 80000

USD1000 USD000

45% 45% Provision of aviation equipment

spare parts purchase

190

10190% 1ii 0909

35% 35% Provision of airline electronic product

maintenance services

09 ff11109 0909 Mt09B

Shanghai Dongmei Aviation Travel Co Ltd

SDATCl

090909j

Shanghai Hongpu Civil Airport
Communication

Co Ltd

E09 81110909091109090909 ill

PHC

17 October2004

ff10

P8C

18 October2002

0909 ft

51369 51369 21% 27% Provision of traveling and accommodation

agency services

090991111 0911 fW 0809

25000 25000 30% 30% Provision of cable and

wireless communication services

0910100909099009

Eastern Aviation Advertising Service Co Ltd

CMSCl

Shanghai Pratt Whitney Aircraft Engine

Maintenance Company Limited Note

0911

09a

Note

P8C

04 March 1986

vii 09

09 09099

PRC

28 March 2008

vli90

09 09 09 -I-A

50000 50000 45% 45% Provision of aviation advertising

agency
services

11 0910909 1109

USD39500 USD39500 51% 51% Provision of maintenance of aircraft

engine and other related components

maintenance services

In 2008 the Company entered into an agreement with United Technologies

International Corporation Technologies International to establish Shanghai Pratt

WhitrreyAircraft Engine Maintenance Company Limited Shanghai PW Shanghai

PW has registered capital of USD40 million in which the Company holds 51%

interests As at 31 December 2009 the Company contributed USD40 million in cash

to Shanghai PW According to the agreement Technologies International has the

power to
govern

the financial and operating policies as such the Company accounts

for Shanghai PWas an associate

Pf-JlA
ff0909709 EffQAY09 T1
f111109fl0A01 A7v11fR rf091111J

il0409 0.4 11111A A87
Art51%OflU

7AttA 0.4 11CA8NA11

.09AJ.1N

7119011ff0 1111fi90II
09.09j11

flrni

23 J90

Paid-np capital

Attributable

eqnity
interest

2045 2008

z%Ut10 %TA09
2009

RMB20h3

Principal activities

400000 400000 25% 25% Provision of financial services to group

cempaoies of CPA Holding

000954099009

350000 350000 45% 45% Provision of air catering services

09090909090809
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ff1

24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES 24

At January

Dividend received during the year

Share of results

Amortisation of unrecognised gain

At31 December

Ij

-h

Group

362332

14000

23803

23 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES continued

Note continued

The Groups aggregated share of the revenues results assets and liabilities of its

associates are as follows

23

Assets Liabilities Revenues Profit/IossJ/S
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOUO RMBOOO

2009 3076841 2353819 911855 46602

2008 4325145 3345826 913845 69668

Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AiF7t A7c
Unlisted investments at cost lE J11 2t II 270866 270208 301802 301802

Share of results/reserves 101927 92124

372793 362332 301802 301802

The movement on investments in
jointly controlled entities is as follows fl

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

336966 301802 301802

24050

658 1316

372793 362332 301802 301802
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24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES continued

Particulars of the principal jointly
controlled entities all of which are limited

liability companies established and operating in the PEIC are as follows

Shanghai Technologies Aerospace

Co Ltd CSTAI f/ute

Mf tttt f/ f/I

f4MflJflt

Place aad dale of establishment Paid-np capital

flI
2000 2008

AflHf AflfY2

PAC USD13000 USD73000

28 Septenben 2004

2000 2098

Lfln

51% 51% Pnsoisinn of repair and maintenance servicer

Butt flft

Shanghai Eastenn tninn Aviation Wheels

Brakes Maintenance Services toenhasi

Engineening Cs Ltd Wheels Bnakesl

Hf Mt fl fl ft

lBUi

Pt

28 December 1995

till

1L ft

40% W% Pnsvisinn of spare pats repair and

maintenance services

filfiHfitfl

Eastern China Kaiya Ssfem Integration

Ce Ltd

UHf

Notes

PAD

21 Mey 1999

RMB1O000 RMB1O000 41% 41% Prceisinn of csmpsten systems development

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 1bif7JIjtaSflJ/ntt/

For the year ended 31 December2009 fl JEH.LLJW

Company

flu

flflfli
uuu

24 tMW
flWlflfltit

Altnihatable
eqaity

interest Principal aclivdies

UHf

0502100 USD2100

Under Joint Venture Agreement with the joint venture partner of STA dated 00

March 2003 the Company has agreed to share control over the economic activities of

STA Any strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the activities ot STA

require the unanimous consent otthe Company and the
joint venture partner f/S AtdWNW 144/i f/fl $1MMWitit

rtittititttn -srnnitn itts

The Groups aggregated share of the revenues results assets and liabilities ot its Yc114N1S4I4IStI14/i4SA MD
jointly controlled entities is as tollows itS110

Assets Liabilities Revenues Profit

11 f/tA flY

8978000 RMBOOO RMGOOO RMBOOO

Hf14Ft Ait14-fyf AtDFI

2009 431326 58533 205244 23803

2008 cflhl$ 404888 42558 187997 24050

nysgruy$y 129
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25 OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

Deposits relating to aircraft under Y1

operating leases Note

Prepaid flight training fees Note ftiI

Rental and renovation deposits

Other long-term assets fiJ

Notes

25

The fair values of deposits relating to aircraft held under operating leases of the

Group and the Company are RMB335 million and RMB249 million 2008 RMB473

million and flMB349 million respectively which are determined using the
expected

future refunds discounted at market interest rates prevailing at the year end of

0.76%2 11% 2008 0.75%2.79%

Prepaid flight training expenses represent the training expenses prepaid for pilot

undergraduates and pilots in service of the Group and are amortised over the relevant

training periods for which the prepayments cover on straight-line basis

26 TRADE RECEIVABLES

The credit terms given to trade customers are determined on an individual basis

with the credit periods generally ranging from half month to two months

The aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows

4c2
ltJf 3.35 Ib2t

A2.49 lb A4.73
A3.49ii
0.78%2.11% 0.75%_2.79%

The
carrying amounts of the trade receivables approximate their fair value

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to large number

of independent sales agents for whom there is no recent history
of default

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

-WWiL
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

374233 509887 278623 360061

481603 337597 446108 326254

23586 26460 23427 26460

46890 67612 36332 52576

926312 941556 784490 765351

26

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008WWA
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOLJO RMBOOO

Within 90 days 1299761 1107765 1504084 1029828

91 to l8Odays f\ 37427 24283 33353 141934

l8lto365days AH
9297 30460 5016 47351

Over 365 days 154306 128095 190450 425780

Less
provision

for impairment of

receivables

Trade receivables

Balances with related companies included in trade receivables are summarised in

Note 45bi

1500791 1290603 1732903 1644893

129920 125295 115243 110849

1370871 1165308 1617660 1534044

Ij 45bi

130 ANNUAL REPORT 2009 CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009

26 TRADE RECEIVABLES continued 26

OQO1

As at 31 December 2009 trade receivables of RMB1O4 million 2008 RMB153

million were past due but not impaired These relate to number of independent

sales agents for whom there is no recent history
of default The Group holds cash

deposits of RMB287 million 2008 RMB32O million from these agents The

ageing analysis
of these trade receivables is as follows

bLEH-A1.04-A
1.53 II

A3.20A ihi

Group Company

As at 31 December 2009 trade receivables of RMB87 million 2008 RMB84

million were impaired and fully provided for The remaining impaired trade

receivables relate to customers that were in financial difficulties and only

portion
of the receivables is expected to be recovered The factors considered by

management in determining the impairment are described in Note 2r

WffAFA0.87LA
0.84ffA

Movements on the Groups provision
for impairment of trade receivables are as

follows

At31 December .ff

The net impact of creation and release of provisions
for impaired receivables have

been included in Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables in the

income statement Note 11 Amounts charged to the allowance account are

generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash

H1I$i11$1

2009 2008 2009 2008

WAA zJt
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AAA
Up to months 94840 122407 15556 34950

Gto 12 months 9260 30451 5122 27800

104100 152858 20778 62750

The ageing of impaired receivables is as follows

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

it ii
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

Af7
12 to 24 months overdue 12 24 .ff 32700 15665 31338 268057

Over 24 months overdue 24 ff 121606 112430 159112 157723

154306 128095 190450 425780

Group Company

At January

Receivables written off during

the year as uncollectible

Provision for impairment

of receivables

2009 2008 2009 2008

ii WWA
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

125295 86984 110849 82834

1027 552

4625 39338 4394 28567

129920 125295 115243 110849
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26 TRADE RECEIVABLES continued

The carrying amounts of the Groups trade receivables are denominated in the

following
currencies

26

Restricted bank deposits Note

Rebates receivable on aircraft

acquisitions

Ground service fees

Prepaid aircraft operating lease

rentals

Rental deposits

Custom duties and value added

tax recoverable

Short term deposits with original

maturity over three months

but less than year Note

Amounts due from related

companies Note 45bi
Others

Subtotal

Less Bad debt provision

lft SLf

-ft6ib
45bi

Company

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008Lc
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AC77c A6 Af
Currency

Renminbi 1019919 918691 1314257 1336121
US Dollars 79732 51075 45106 17580

HK Dollars 44332 48901 44332 46916

Euro 56663 42706 43740 24620

Korea Won 26174 9021 26174 9021

Japanese Yen 93778 56003 93778 55929

Other currencies 50273 38911 50273 43857

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the
reporting date is the carrying amount

of receivable shown above

27 PREPAYMENTS DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

1370871 1165308 1617660 1534044

EPl ltk
27

Group

2009 2008 2009 2008WJL it
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

427996 2159848 421216 2082075

783864 930665 771255 881395

332446 321727 251263 206502

234385 249308 196003 210078

117472 99843 97470 85678

55893 64501 27521 23310

28454 33116 21654 31860

61397 189378 1329389 772322

493927 428493 314409 297274

2535834 4476879 3430180 4590494

165339 161157 116179 111396

2370495 4315722 3314001 4479098
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27 PREPAYMENTS DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued

Notes

The restricted bank deposits represent security deposit of US dollar 62 million

8MB421 million equivalent for crude oil option contracts 2008 US dollar 117 million

or RMB796 million equivalent ii deposit of RMB7 million for notes payable 2008

RMB17 million

As at 31 December 2009 the deposits were 8MB and the effective interest rate on

deposits with banks with original maturity over three months but less than year was

0.36% 2008 0.36%

28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The carrying amounts of the Groups and Companys cash and cash
equivalents are

denominated in the following currencies

OOO13

0.62 i5 4.21

-j117ff
Af0.07 0.17i

AfijjPBi
036%

035%

27

28

j7

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

Jic
RMROOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

At-f7c A-jc A7c
Renminbi 816538 2623585 264732 1636815

HK Dollars 470234 9433 469465 5812

US Dollars 253716 494249 224095 441671

Euro 43519 126695 28588 95622

Japanese Yen 30889 37657 11006 22705

Singapore Dollars jfl 11126 42617 11136 42617

Australian Dollars 9666 18922 9141 18915

Pounds
Sterling

7860 11016 7878 11016

Canadian Dollars iU 3834 12394 8789 12245

Others ftl 87806 74442 82800 74523

29 TRADE PAYABLES AND NOTES PAYABLE

The aging analysis of trade payables and notes payable is as follows

1135248 3451010 1118230 2361941

29 YJ1tJ4ftp
Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008Wi
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

Afjr
Within 90 days ft 5161021 3518572 5100826 3479830

91 to l8Odays ft-f f\ 712255 1271555 164457 1267886

181 to365days j\-1 iEEftILiI 157856 317695 114581 166562

Over 365 days ft 389321 351272 313684 305725

6480459 5459094 6293548 5220003
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29 TRADE PAYABLES AND NOTES PAYABLE continued

As at 31 December 2009 the trade payables and notes payable balances of the

Group and the Company included amounts due to related companies of AMB1 013

million 2008 RMB1692 million and RMB1 091 million 2008 RMB1 851 million

respectively Note 45bXii

As at 31 December 2009 notes payable totaling RMB4936 million 2DD8

RMB3840 million were unsecured Part of notes payables effective interests

rates ranged from 1.6% to 5.9% 2008 2.9% to 5.9% and all notes are repayable

within six months

30 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

29 flUI
ftnTTttn

14 ft ff1 ft 64 53 ft ft ft

10i364ftnVT\t Aft16.921%

ftAft14410.9164tnflftt
ft 6418.51 64 ft ft t45bfU

ftnWWLtH-n 6414

A49.3664ftn6464A
A644438.40647t 646464

flfl1.6%5.9%nTW
At 2.9%ft5.9%

10 .14 ft ft 140

30 14flfl

Accrued fuel cost

Accrued take-off and landing

charges

Accrued expenses related to

aircraft overhaul conducted

Other accrued operating expenses

Accrued salaries wages and

benefits

Duties and levies payable

Staff housing allowance

Note 37b

Deposits received from ticket

sales agents

Payable to the Bureau of 2010

Expo Shanghai Note 18b

Current
portion

of other long-term

liabilities Note 34

Current
portion

of
post-retirement

benefit obligations Note 36b
Amounts due to related companies

Note 45bii

Others

6464 64l%ft64 2196652

64645106464646464

6464164 0064

6464 50146464

645050641 ft 64 ft 5064

4164

nTI 11646450
fO 1464646418b

641% 6464646464 04641%

646434

1% 1% 64 tO lii 6464

ft 104641% fl3sb
f014 SOft 640564

646445bxii

644th

2331111

401322

Group

fl
Company

6401

2009 2008 2009 2008

njt64 nflAt cit
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AflfSO A64641%A Aflfit A64641%A

3841660 2043083 3534281

1879751 1191485 1563049

1389906 1256115 1098160 986055

1181390 1417988 988611 1251514

1481264 1058895 1262011 860981

159446 545482 602215 423527

386065 331563 317918

286180 320624 204131 229770

116158 116158

16511 130460 69255 121178

51226 46461 48193 43801

136259 106890 346133 311438

1108513 1255674 911840 1104006

11511204 12246065 9815104 10747518
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31 OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

As at 31 December 2009 the Group and the Company had 55 and 59 aircraft

2008 68 and 61 aircraft respectively under finance leases Under the terms of

the leases the Group/the Company has the
option

to purchase at or near the end

of the lease terms certain aircraft at fair market value and others at either fair

market value or percentage of the
respective

lessors defined cost of the aircraft

The obligations
under finance leases are principally denominated in US Dollars

OOO3

b7LL A-h 2I
68t0061U1

I-h

II

11 ij tH

Group

Present

value of

minimum

lease

Interest payments

fi

RMBOIJO

Present

value of

minimum

lease

payments

ft

RMBOOO

Ij196.81II.AII
177.04II..IA AIl210.37
ftAII186.401L

31

The future minimum lease payments including interest and the present value of

the minimum lease payments under finance leases are as follows

2009

Minimum

lease

payments

RMBOOO

2008

Interest

ft

RMBOOORMBOOO

Minimum

lease

payments

ft

RMBOOO

Within one year

In the second year

In the third to fifth year
inclusive

After the fifth year

Total

Less amount repayable
within

one year

Long-term portion

2466415 340985 2125430 2765969 848980 1916989

2388362 294733 2093629 2704499 688327 2016172

7405048 620147 6184901 7805669 1602339 6203330

8152681 386412 8366275 11868053 1195645 10672408

21012512 1642277 19310235 25144190 4335291 20808899

2466415 340985 2125430 2765969 848980 1916989

18546091 1301292 17244805 22378221 3486311 18891910

Company

i1
2009 2008

Minimum

lease

payments

fl

RMBOOO

Present

value of

minimum

lease

Interest payments

1_ fi

RMB DUO RMBOOO

Present

value of

minimum

lease

Interest payments

ft

RMBOOO

2213131 297316 1915815 2458559 743497 1715062

2130374 256296 1874078 2400584 594223 1806361

Minimum

lease

payments

lift

RMBOOO

Within one year

In the second year

In the third to fifth year inclusive

After the fifth
year

Total

Less amount repayable within

one year

Long-term portion

RMBOOO

6600565 538862 6061103 6892822 1380412 5512410

1802646 351018 7451628 10534868 1039530 9495338

18746716 1443492 17303224 22286833 3757662 18529171

2213131 291316 1915815 2458559 743497 171 5062

16533585 1146176 15387409 19828274 3014165 16814109

The fair value of obligations under finance leases of the Group and the Company

are RMB19681 million and RMB17704 million 2008 RMB21037 million and

RMB1 8640 million respectively
which are determined using the expected future

payments discounted at market interest rates prevailing at the year end

io 135



000u
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 -/- .LE

32 BORROWINGS .r
.L TA

Non-current

Long-term bank borrowings

secured

unsecured

Current

Long-term bank borrowings

secured

unsecured

Short-term bank borrowings

secured

unsecured

Total borrowings

The borrowings are repayable

as follows

Within one year

In the second year

In the third to fifth year inclusive

After the fifth year

Total borrowings

Notes

1IJ

7566853

5438021

Company

3350114 5695606

5237938 5206178

2189950

4855130

As at 31 December2009 the secured bank borrowings of the Group and the Company for the

purchases of aircraft were secured by the related aircrafts and buildings with an aggregate

net book amount of RMB13678 million and RMB1 1273 mi/lion respectively 2008 RMB8723

million and RMB7209 million Note 19

Certain unsecured bank borrowings of the Group and the Company totaling of RMB447

million and Nil million respectively 2008 RMB957 million and Nil were guaranteed by CEA

Holding Note 45c

136 781 112.73

19

l2ly tI1A
447/f 1957l1R it45c

Group

2009 2008 2009 2008

WWJL
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOOA7c A-f7

ft

If
flit wi P1 iJJ

ff

13004874 8588052 10901784 7045080

1221829 1133836 857512 742176

2701640 5905655 2495811 5772969

1284236 1222953

8406606 18189593 6866606 16325335

12330075 26513320 10219929 24063433

25334949 35101372 21121713 31108513

12330075 26513320 10219929 24063433

2714006 4147845 2354008 3569348

6165512 3665352 5295118 2977920

4125356 774855 3252658 497812

25334949 35101372 21121713 31108513
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32 BORROWINGS continued 32

The terms of the long-term bank loans are summarised as follows

Total long-term bank loans

Note

Interest rates ranging from month

LIBOR 0.25% to month LIBOR4%

per
annum with final maturities through

to 2021

.l LIBOR 0.25

Interest rate is months LIBOR 0.6%

with final maturity through 2010

tj

LlBOR0.6JJ

The fair value of long-term borrowing of the Group and the Company are RMBI7051

million and RMB14332 million 2008 RMB15826 million and RMB13684 million

which are determined using the expected future payments discounted at prevailing

market interest rates available to the Group and the Company for financial

instruments with substantially the same terms and characteristics at the balance

sheet date

Short-term borrowings of the Group and the Company are repayable within one year

with interest charged at the prevailing market rates based on the rates quoted by the

Peoples Bank of China As at 31 December 2009 the interest rates relating to such

borrowings ranged from 0.33% to 7.47% per annum 2008 2.7% to 747% per

annum During the
year

ended 31 December2009 the weighted average
interest rate

on short-term bank loans was 5.14% per annum 2008 6.36 per annum

The carlying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following currencies

JT iL
51A%170.51 143.32

yL 2008 A158.26ITMA
136.84 .yrtsI%

JP0.33%
7.47%20O8 2.7%7.47%

6.36%

6JI

Currency

Interest rate and

final maturities

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008Wi A5
RMBOOO RMBOOD RMBOOO RMBOOO

Interest rates ranging from 4.37% to

6.97%
per annum with final maturities

through to 2017

IJ437697

RMB denominated

U.S dollar denominated

EURO denominated

6535520

10279569

113254

6898178 5057500 5042498

8617707 9084353 8406069

111658 113254 111658

16928343 15627543 14255107 13560225

Group Company

sej

2009 2008 2009 2008

jE
RMBOOO RMBVOO RMBOOO RMSOOOAf

flenminbi 12064354 21955769 9046335 18262088

US Dollars 13157341 13007688 11962 124 12734767

Euro 113254 111658 113254 111658

HKDollar 26257

25334949 35101372 21121713 31108513
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33 PROVISION FOR RETURN CONDITION CHECKS FOR AIRCRAFT

AND ENGINES UNDER OPERATING LEASES

33 bll

Long-term duties and levies payable

Fair value of unredeemed points

awarded under the Groups

frequent flyer program

Payable to the Bureau of 2010

Expo Shanghai Note 18b

Long-term payable to Aviation

China Civil
Flight

Institute

Deferred gains on sale and

leaseback transactions of aircraft

Other long-term payable

Less Current portion Note 30

Long-term portion

18b

130

CompanyGroup

2009 2008 2009 2008JL
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOOAF

34

At January 1534018 956910 1168690 737371

Additional provisions -- 588145 618555 234529 431319

Utilisation 2l 275008 41447 120817

At 31 December .lE 1847155 1534018 1282402 1168690

Less current portion it ffit 609884 213830 183099 139710

Long-term portion 8lt 1231811 1320188 1099303 1028980

Provision of operating lease aircraft and engines return condition check represents l5 flt

the present value of estimated costs of major return check for aircraft and engines

under operating leases as the Group has the
responsibility to fulfill certain return ft 14 tkb

conditions under relevant leases

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 34 14

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008i4 t4
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO444

737369 805794 652378 713522

442623 364858 442623 364858

177883 177883

30000 30000

8138 14549 8138 14549

91870 58135 87524 56319

1280000 1451219 1190663 1357131

16577 130460 69255 121178

1203423 1320759 1121408 1235953
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35 DEFERRED TAXATION 35

0001

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is legally

enforceable
right

of offset and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same

authority The following amounts determined after appropriate offsetting are

shown in the balance sheets

ff1

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax asset to be

utilised after 12 months

Deferred tax asset to be

utilised within 12 months

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liability to be

realised after 12 months

Deferred tax liability to be

realised within 12 months

12ff

12Lff

Group Company

Movements in the net deferred taxation asset/liabilityl are as follows

2009 2008 2009 2008

Wii
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO71 A-f

12ff JJffffj

12 ff

82272 79802

1476 2145

83748 81947

51539 55444

2145

51539 57589

Group

AtiJanuary

Credited/chargedl to income

statement Note 14

At31 December

Company

ff

i14

2009 2008 2009 2008

ii WA ii
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOOAII

24358

7851

62842

38484

32209 24358
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Deferred tax assets

Tax losses carried forward

Impairment provision for obsolete

flight equipment spare parts

Impairment provision for

receivables

Impairment provision
for property

plant and equipment

Provision for return condition

checks for aircraft and engines

under operating leases

Provision for frequent flyer program

Financial derivative liabilities

Provision for post-retirement

benefits

Deferred tax liabilities

Depreciation and amortisation

Financial derivative assets

fi ij

Movements of the net deferred tax assets/Iiabilities of the Group for the year

For the year ended

31 December 2009

Tax losses carried forward

Impairment provision
for obsolete

flight equipment spare parts

Impairment provision
for

receivables

Impairment provision
for property

plant and equipment

Provision for return condition

checks for aircraft and

engines under operating leases

Provision for frequent flyer program

Financial derivative liabilities

Provision for post-retirement

benefits

Depreciation and amortisation

Financial derivative assets

Net deferred tax assets

Ij

Charged
credited

to income

statement

5r fi1/
RMBOOO

152231

13619

313488 180756

271672

78634

68553

170808

152231

13619

132732

271672

35 DEFERRED TAXATION continued 35 Iff
The deferred tax assets and liabilities prior to the offsetting of balances within

the same tax jurisdiction were made up of the taxation effects of the following ff ff1

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008WWL
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

1846

78634 78634 74872 74872

68553 68553 52872 52872

170808 170808 170451 170451

152231 152231 135196 135196

13619 13619 13619 13619

132732 313488 132732 313488

271672 271672 247424 247424

888249 1070851 827166 1007922

855272 1024173 826398 985602

768 22320 768 22320

856040 1046493 827166 1007922

At the

beginning

of the year

Charged

credited

to equity

WE
RMBOOORMBOOO

Atthe end

of the year

RMBOOO

1846 1846

78634

68553

170808

1070851 182602 888249

1024173 168901 855272

22320 21552 768

24358 7851 32209
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35 DEFERRED TAXATION continued 35

000j

For the year ended

31 December 2008

Tax losses carried forward

Impairment provision for obsolete

flight equipment spare parts

Impairment provision for

receivables

Impairment provision for property

plant and equipment

Provision for return condition

checks for aircraft and engines

under
operating

leases

Provision for frequent flyer program

Financial derivative liabilities

Provision for
post-retirement

benefits

Depreciation and amortisation

Financial derivative assets

Net deferred tax assets/Iiabilities

xm .izmLwIm

Charged

credited

to income

statement

2tf

RMBOOO

317.392 315.546

60149

10.642

170808

55397

13.6 19

303039

Charged

credited

to equity

RMBOOO

1846

78634

68553

170808

152231

13619

313488

In accordance with the PRC tax law tax losses can be carried forward to offset

against future taxable income for
period

of five years As at 31 December 2009

the Group and the Company had tax losses carried forward of approximately

RMB12586 million and RMB9469 million respectively 2008 RMB11465 million

and IRMB8778 million respectively which will expire between 2010 and 2014

and which are available to set off against the Group companies and the Companys

future taxable income As at 31 December 2009 the Group and the Company did

not recognise RMB3147 million and RMB2367 million respectively 2008

RMB2864 million and RMB2195 million respectively of deferred tax assets

arising from tax losses available as management did not consider it probable that

such tax losses would be realised before they expire

A94.69-A

Hfl GG
IjA31.47A23.671A

At the

beginning

of the year

RMBOOO

At the end

of the year

RMBOOO

138783

79195

96834

10449

351283 79611 271672

993936 76915 1070851

931094 93079 1024173

22320 22320

62842 38484 24358
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36 RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS AND POST-RETIREMENT

BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement schemes

ii Peisii

36 R14
The Group companies participate in defined contribution retirement

schemes organised by municipal governments of the various

provinces in which the Group companies operate and substantially

all of the Groups PRC employees are eligible to participate in the

Group companies retirement schemes The Group companies are

required to make annual contributions to the schemes at rates

ranging from 20% to 22% on the employees prior year salary
and

allowances Employees are required
to contribute to the schemes at

rates ranging from 7% to 8% of their basic salaries For the year

ended 31 December 2009 the Groups pension cost charged to the

consolidated income statement amounted to RMB39O million 2008

RMB360 million

Mec/ia/isurace

The Majority of the Groups PRC employees participate in the medical

insurance schemes organised by the municipal governments under

which the Group companies and their employees are required to

contribute to the schemes approximately 12% and 2% respectively

of the employees basic salaries For those employees who

participate
in these schemes the Group has no other obligation for

the payment of medical expense beyond the annual contributions

For the year ended 31 December 2009 the Groups medical insurance

contributions charged to the income statement amounted to RMB132

million 2008 8MB93 million

Post-retirement benefits

In addition to the above defined contribution retirement schemes the Group

provides retirees with other post-retirement benefits including

transportation subsidies social function activities subsidies and other

welfares The expected cost of
providing

these post-retirement benefits is

actuarially
determined and recognised by using the projected unit credit

method which involves number of assumptions and estimates including

inflation rate discount rate and employees turnover ratio

flifjo22%
Xo ih

3.90tA
A3.60b

ii

Ij2i12%2%bi
ii-hE--

A0.93

Ijo
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36 RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS AND POST-RETIREMENT

BENEFITS continued

Post-retirement benefits continued

The post-retirement benefit
obligations recognised in the balance sheets

are as follows

36

Ij

tjfrJf
Ij

Group Company

Present value of unfunded

post-retirement benefit

obligations

Unrecognised actuarial losses

Post-retirement benefit

obligations

Less current portion Note 30

2009 2008 2009 2008WJt
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOOf7 Afrc AATb

/I/J P1 I2J$30

4490411 4481420 3918333

2640544 2965835 2333591

Long-term portion

Changes in post-retirement benefit
obligations are as follows

3941724

2611045

1849933 1515585 1644142 1330679

51226 46461 48193 43801

1798701 1469124 1596549 1286878

Group Company

At January

Costs charged in the income

statement

Payments

At31 December

2009 2008 2009 2008

-Wit
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AfrA AfrA

tf

1515585

440878

106530

1405127

200603

90145

The costs of
post-retirement

benefits are recognised under wages salaries

and benefits in the income statements as follows

1330679

405468

91405

1226777

181309

77407

1849933 1515585 1644142 1330679

Group

iiiAI
Ij

Company

2009 2008 2009 2008Wii ii
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

Current service cost Illif 156000 74478 152854 71552
Interest cost ij 169318 102009 149684 89145
Actuarial losses recognised Ii3 titj 115560 24116 102930 20612

Total Note 19 440818 200603 405468 181309

The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date are as

follows fl

Group and Company

2009 2008

Discount rate 4.25% 3.75%

Annual rate of increase of per capita benefit payment bt Ij 3.00% 3.00%

Employee turnover rate 3.00% 3.00%

Mortality rate it 9.07% 8.80%

Medical inflation rate 5.00% 5.00%
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31 STAFF HOUSING BENEFITS 31

Staff housing fund

In accordance with the PFIC housing reform regulations the Group is

required to contribute to the State-sponsored housing fund for its

employees at rates ranging from 7% to 15% 2008 7% to 15% of the

specified salary amounts of its PRC employees At the same time the

employees are required to contribute an amount equal to the Groups

contribution The employees are entitled to claim the entire sum of the fund

contributed under certain specified withdrawal circumstances For the year

ended 31 December 2009 the Groups contributions to the housing funds

amounted to RMB323 million 2008 RMB282 million which has been

charged to the consolidated income statement The staff housing fund

payable as at 31 December 2009 is RMB2O million 2008 RMB25 million

The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further

contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all

employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior

periods

Staff housing allowances

The Group also provides staff housing allowances in cash to eligible

employees who have not been allocated with any housing quarters or who

have not been allocated with quarter above the minimum standard as set

out in the Groups staff housing allowance policy introduced in October

2003 the Housing Policy based on the area of quarter to which they are

entitled and the unit price as set out in the Housing Policy

The total entitlement of an eligible employee is principally vested over

period of 20 years Upon an eligible employees resignation his or her

entitlement would cease and any unpaid entitlement related to past service

up to the date of resignation would be paid As at 31 December 2009 the

present obligation of the provision for employees staff housing entitlement

is RMB4O1 million 2008 RMB386 million

For the year ended 31 December 2009 the staff housing benefit provided

under the Housing Policy amounted to RMB1O6 million 2008 RMB123

million which has been charged to the consolidated income statement

lM74S

15%.A 7%15%l

WL a-h Hiil

IA3.23
A2.82ff

A0.25S
Ijt

M0

aj%T
Ht

A4.01
386fff

L-E-h
ilJ T1MTIA1.06

A1.23ff
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At31 December

Interest rate swaps Note

Forward foreign exchange

contracts Note

Crude oil
option contracts Note

Total

Less current portion

Interest rate swaps

Forward
foreign

exchange contracts

Crude oil contracts

iiii/J ni inIf

Assets

Group and CompanyTh-

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of the

derivative assets in the balance sheet

Notes

Interest rate swaps

The Group uses interest rate swaps to reduce the risk of changes in market interest

rates Note 3aii The Groups interest rate swaps qualify for hedge accounting The

interest rate swaps entered into by the Group are generally for swapping variable

rates usually referenced to LIBOR into fixed rates and are accounted for as cash flow

hedges Other interest rate swaps are for swapping fixed rates into variable rates and

are accounted for as fair value hedges As at 31 December2009 the notional amount

of the outstanding interest rate swap agreements was approximately US$388 million

2008 US$471 million These agreements will expire between 2010 and 2018

Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from the valuation of these interest

rate swaps have been dealt with in the income statements as follows

if 3aii

f1.o LIBOR JU

$3.88i 4.71

2008

RMBOOO

Realised losses/gains recognised in profit and loss

Unrealised mark to market gains/losses

cash flow hedges recognised in equity

fair value hedges recognised in profit and loss

ZTfl PAQ
Til iaA1lf

38 DER NATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38

000i

Liabilities

2009 2008 2009 2008

-ii
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOOI5i

988 154811 182971

77016 138760

3490 123010 897744 6319868

Non-current portion

3490 123998 1129631 6641599

61128 41668

40814 94539

3490 123010 891744 6319868

3490 123010 1006286 6456075

988 123345 185524

Group

2009

RMBOOO

77047 10083

56112

27530

126138

49535

48465 165590
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38 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued 38

Notes continued

Forward foreign exchange contracts

The Group uses foiward foreign exchange contracts to reduce the risk of changes in

currency exchange rates in respect of ticket sales and expenses denominated in

foreign currencies Note 3ai The Groups forward foreign exchange contracts

qualify for hedge accounting These contracts are generally for selling Japanese Yen

and purchasing U.S dollars at fixed exchange rates and are accounted for as cash

flow hedges Other forward foreign exchange contracts are for purchasing Japanese

Yen and selling U.S dollars at fixed exchange rates and are accounted for as fair

value hedges As at 31 December 2009 the notional amount of the outstanding

currency
forward contracts was approximately US$82 million 2008 US$121 million

which will expire between 2010 and 2017

Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from the valuation of these contracts

have been dealt with in the income statements as follows

j3ai

pflq
0.821

121

Group

Realised gains recognised in profit and loss

Unrealised mark to marketgains/losses

cash flow hedges recognised in equity

fair value hedges recognised in profit and loss

fil1-ARil/frA71
S1-A

107121 125129

Crude oil option contracts

The Group enters into crude oil
option contracts to reduce the risk of changes in

market oil/petroleum prices as hedge against aircraft fuel costs The crude oil

option contracts used by the Group are normally structured to include combination

of both put and call options which allow the Group to lock in fuel
prices

for
specified

volumes within price range In each option contract the call options price at which

the Group is effectively entitled to buy fuel will be higher than that at which the

counterparfi is effectively entitled to sell

The Group did not enter into crude oil option contracts in 2009 All existing crude oil

option contracts as at 31 December 2009 were entered into by the Group prior to

2009 None of the crude oil option contracts entered into by the Group qualified for

hedge accounting the realised and unrealised mark to market gains/losses of the

crude oil option contracts during the
year were recognised in the consolidated income

statement

-I-HJ

2009

RMBOOO

2008

RMBOOO

45983 14759

3272

58472

44222

95566
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OOOi
Prepared/n accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 ft7 L1

Crude oil option contracts continued

Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from the valuation of these contracts

have been dealt with in the income statements

3743746 6264368

The fair value of crude oil option contracts is determined by reference to mark-to-

market values provided by counterparties applying appropriate option valuation

models i.e mean regression model using the Monte Carlo Simulation Process Key

parameters used in the valuation models include volatility credit spread long run

mean and mean reverting ratio at date of valuation

ffU 7/jIi

38 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued 38 tr

Notes continued

Group

2009

RMBOOO

Realised losses 1558858 8577

Unrealised mark to market gains/losses 5302604 6255791

2008

RMBOOO

39 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Group

39

Assets at fair

value through Derivatives

Loans and the profit used for Available-

receivables and loss hedging for-sale Total

tit
stIll

ilIA

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBVOO RMBOOO

Af2 A7r 7i A7O
Balance 31 December 2009 -1-

Assetsasperbalancesheet YI
Available-for-sale financialassets 57.269 57269

Derivative financial instruments ./ 3490 3490

Trade receivables 1310871 1370811

Prepayments deposits and other 11 IA ftli

receivables excluding it
prepayments

1993096 1993095

Cash and cash equivalents t. IA t.P 1735248 1135248

Total 5099215 3490 57269 5159974
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NOTES TO THE FINANCJAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 -H LLt

39 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY continued

Group continued

39 flflfll

Balance 31 December 20DB

Liabilities as per balance sheet

Borrnwings

Obligations ander finance leases

Derivative financial instruments

Trade payables and nofes payable

Other payables and accrued

eupenses

Total

Ii

i-A

Ii

1$ 14

1Th 14

AM-

Liabilities at

fair value

through

Loans and the profit

receivahles and loss

flhifl
RMBUOO

Afl

25334949

19310235

6480459

11511204

Derivatives Other tinancial

used tor liahitities at

hedging amortised cost

RMHOOO

El
RMHUOO

25334949

19310235

1129631

6480459

11511204

Balance 31 December 2008

Assets as per
balance sheet

Available-for-sale financial assets

Derivative financial instremeots

Trade receivables

Prepayments deposits
and

other receivables
eocladiog

prepeymeots

Cash and cash equivalents

Total

At

$11 hg IA

LII HA IA

nfl
14

At AAA14t

Assets at fair

valee
through

the

Loans and profit

receivables and loss

it

IA IA

tHAI
flMBOOO

3854188

345101

Derivatives

used for

hedging

no
flMSUOU

31288 31288

988 988

1155308

3854108

3451010

nfl
RAIBOOO

AflO

Total

niH
lilA

HMBOIIO

1129631

62102841 1129631 63832418

Available-

for-sale

tb
i-A

flAt
RMBOOO

At A-Fit

fltb
iii

RMSOOO

AiF

Total

ALIt

flMSCOO

-Myt

ii 55308

8470428 888 31288 8502582
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000 15J
Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards /AffA$4MMO2All4ISA

For the year ended 31 December2009 liL

39 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY continued 39 Ufi

Group continued

Company A41

Liabilities at fair Other financial

Laans and valve thraugh the Derivatives used liabilities at

receivables prutit and Inns tar hedging amartised cant Tatal

tAAftfl

1111 Althfl

hAl flflhu AMA
filM IAM 1111 BAA

8MB DUO HMBOOO 8MB DUO 8MB DUO BMBOOO

Afl1 KMA1 AflA AMAfA

Balance 31 December 2006

Liabilities as per
balance sheet

Barrawings

Obligatians
under finance leases

Derivative financial instruments

Trade payables and nnten payable

Other payables
and accreed

enpenses

Tatal

1H
1ff th

Ia

0111

031 AlA
141

lb 14

35101372

2a80B899

5459094

6641599

35101372

20606999

6641599

5459094

12246065 12246065

73615430 6641599 80257029

Assets at fair

value
through

Derivatives

Loans and the
profit

used for Availahie

receivahles and loss hedging
for-sale Total

flftlfl

AlA
BA fl8AA Afifi
fill BbfIU i30A BI

RMBUOO RMBOOO RMBOUO RMBVOO RMBOOU

AAIAA AflAA AflAJT AAIAA A1IA

Balance 31 December 2009

Assets as per
balance sheet

Available-far-sale financial assets

Derivative financial instruments

Trade receivables

Prepayments depanits and ather

receivables encluding

prepayments

Cash and cash eqeivalents

Tatal

1H
IA IA hI

31 AlA
fin

141-41 lb

44th
IJ TA

3490

1611660

2989129

1118230

45520 45520

3490

1611660

2989129

1118230

5125619 3490 45520 5114629
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 EE-1-

39 FINANCtAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY continued 39

Company continued 1i
Liabilities at

fair value

through
Derivatives Other financial

Loans and the profit used for liabilities at

receivables and loss hedging amortised cost TotaldJt
I-

LhtA 1bh
8t9tX 5fI P2

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO2V yr Af

Total

Balance 31 December 2009

H-H
Liabilities as

per
balance sheet

Borromings 21121113 21121113

Obligations under finance leases 9393 93 11303224 11303224

Derivative financial instruments 93 1129631 1129631

Trade
payables

and notes
payable 931405939393149393 6293548 6293548

Other
payables

and accrued 93 tS 93493 9393

expenses 9815104 9815104

54594189 1129631 55123820

Assets at fair

value through the

Luans and
profit

Derivatives used Available-

receivables and luss fur
hedging

fur-sale Total

tAf9393

Il-I- II

9393 93593IA 930505
$5939393 9393931193 5I93 930193 930

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

A9393 193YC A93YC kI93
Balance 31 December 2008 9393 93

Assets as per
balance sheet 9393939393 939393

Available-fur-sale financial assets 9393 93 939393 15520 15520

Derivative financial instruments 31 93193 988 988

Trade receivables $5193 f5 93 1534044 1534044

Prepayments deposits and 931493 9393939311515

otherreceivablesexcluding 19393 939393931493

prepayments 4066738 4066738

Cash and cash equivalents 2351941 2351941

Total 7962723 988 15520 7979231

Liabilities at fair

value through the Other financial

Loans and profit Derivatives used liabilities at

receivables and loss for hedging amortised cost Total

C93 93 115

9311 93115930

11591093 939393i0A 93939393 939393

y51939393 009393 11793193 By70 930

RMSOOO RMBUOU RMBOOU 9418OOO RMBOOO

k930593 A9393fy /0939370 A9393r A9393r

Balance 31 December 2008 9393093 11EH
Liabilities as per balance sheet 9393931193 939393

Borrowings 9393 31108513 31108513

Obligations under finance leases 939393939393 18529171 18529171

Derivative financial instruments 493193 6641599 6841599

Trade
payables

and notes
payable 93140593939349393 5220003 5220003

Other payables and accrued 931 $511939395939393

expenses 10747518 10747518

Total 1930-I- 65605205 6641599 72246804
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For the year ended 31 December2009

40 SHARE CAPITAL 40

OOO1L

Registered issued and fully paid of

RMB1 00 each

shares listed on The Shanghai

Stock Exchange Shares

Tradable shares held by CEA Holding

with trading moratorium

Tradable Shares held by other investors

with trading moratorium

Tradable Shares without trading

moratorium

shares listed on The Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited Shares

Tradable Shares held by CES Global

with
trading

moratorium

Tradable shares without trading

moratorium

fflf

Mb
/L

Il
jLj p19

2.5

2009

RMBOOO

Pursuant to articles 49 and 50 of the Companys Articles of Association each of

the listed shares and the listed shares are all registered ordinary shares and

carry equal rights

On January 2007 the Companys share reform plan was approved by the

Ministry of Commerce and implemented on January 2007 In this

connection CEA Holding granted 96 million shares in total to the holders of

the circulating shares and the original 2904000000 non-circulating
shares

held by CEA Holding were granted the status of listing
with lock up period

of 36 months from the effective date of the share reform

On 19 May 2009 China Securities Regulatory Commission the CSRC
approved the Companys application for additional issuance of

1437375000 Shares of par value of RMB1.00 each CES Global

subscribed for all the shares under this issue and undertook that it would

not transfer the subscribed Shares within 36 months from the completion

date of the issuance The issue price was HKD1.13
per

share and the total

proceed of HKD1630342000 equivalent to RMB1 437375000 the

Proceeds of 1st Shares issuance from the issuance was received by

the Company on 26 June 2009 and verified by PRC Certified Public

Accountants firm

al I9HA
2.If2.LT

iH96000000
1J

290400000095 1211 ff1 36 f12 .11 .512

bI LI
--i jI1ff1J

143737.5195

HI36I
2.2

ffff1630342T.5CHAIA
1437375

.7\H51f 1.52

2008

RMBOOO

6087375 3300000

abc

12.1 ff 11121

11 95

ff11 115

4831375 2904000

860000

396000 396000

3494325 1566950

1437375

2056950 1566950

9581700 4866950

hf51I112 WJL$I 151



0001
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
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40 SHARE CAPITAL continued 40 22li

continued

On June 2009 CSRC approved the Companys application for non-public

issuance of 1437375000 Shares of
par

value of RMB1.00 each to CEA

Holding The issue price was RMB3.87
per

share and the total proceed of

RMB5562641 000 the Proceeds of 1st Shares issuance from the issue

was received by the Company on 25 June 2009 and verified by PRC

Certified Public Accountants firm According to the commitment of CEA

Holding it would not transfer the shares of the Company in which it owns

interests including the original 2904000000 non-circulating shares as

mentioned in Note above within years after the completion of this

non-public issue

The total amount of the aforementioned Proceeds of 1st Shares issuance

and Proceeds of 1st Shares issuance were RMB7000016000 after

deducting the share issue expenses of RMB14878000 the net proceeds

raised from the above share issues amounted to RMB6985138000 of

which RMB2874750000 is recorded as share capital and the remaining

RMB41 10388000 is recorded as share premium

On 27 November 2009 CSRC approved the Companys application for

additional issuance of 490000000 new Shares of par value of 8MB 1.00

each to CES Holding The issue price was HKD1.56
per

share and the total

proceed of HKD764400000 equivalent to RMB63383000 the Proceeds

of 2nd Shares issuance was received by the Company on 10 December

2009 and has been verified by PRC Certified Public Accountants firm

On December 2009 CSRC approved the Companys application for non

public issuance of 1350000000 Shares of
par

value of RMB1.00 each

490000000 shares of which were subscribed by CEA Holding which

undertook that it would not transfer the subscribed Shares within 36

months from the completion date of the issuance The remaining

860000000 shares under this issue were subscribed by other investors

which undertook that it would not transfer the subscribed Shares within

12 months from the completion date of the issuance The issue price was

RMB4.75
per

share and the total proceed of HMB6412500000 from this

issue the Proceeds of 2nd Shares issuance was received by the

Company on 15 December 2009 and has been verified by PRC Certified

Public Accountants firm

The total amount of the aforementioned Proceeds of 2nd Shares issuance

and Proceeds of the second Shares issuance were RMB7085883000
after deducting the share issue expenses of RMB14854000 the net

proceeds raised from the above share issues amounted to

HMB7071029000 of which HMB1840000000 is recorded as share

capital and the remaining RMB5231 029000 is recorded as share premium

ftt
21 FIft
A91AAA
5143737.5
A3.87
5562641 lA

2904000000fAHH
bA7000016

99 HA914878
698513899
28747509991
4110388A94

-AII9
H49000 99fA

9if76440099

6733831

btIJI9-9
99

hA91350009
f4900000009 99

9369 li19.9
A999 ffj
860000000999
9129 999A9
f4.75A A9
641 2500 .1

L9 21 Si9

9A9l70858839
99 99A 97071029

991840000999A9 fiIi9A995231029T9
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NOTESTOTHEFINANCIALSIATEMENTS 0001

Prepared/n accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 1BPflb8bB$flJ4Bt

For the year ended 31 December 2009 WWhB-fl5 HILtS

41 RESERVES 41 bM

AelJanuary2009

Unreelised loss on cesht low hedges UN UN Nh

Note 38 B138
Realised goins on casht low hedges lb

Note 38 fl38
Foiroaloe wooemeoto ot soollable tsr sale 00 BR

inoestmenes held by associates 07 ftno
Loss attribotahle go eqoity holders otthe BR Al

Gompasy BUN

At3tDecewber200R

Bib
_________________________________________________

AslJanoasy2009

Unrealised gain on cashtlow hedges UN UN

Note 38 Ofl$38

Realised loss on cashtlow
hedges UN El UN Nh UN

Note 38 11138

Capisal reseroe attribosed by RN BR lb Nb

shareholders stan associate

Fair valse wooements ot aoailable tsr sale BUN BR lb

investments held by associates BIB ft

000
lsssance ot new shares Note 4Qt UN lb UN 11140

Protit attribstable to equity holders ot RB Al
theCompany II

At31 December2009

Bib
__________________________________________

lB
Share

Capital Hedging

premium reserve reserve Accumulated

Note 40 Note Note 38 losses Total

ifl WIfl tBfl
11540 115b 11538 ni-fl tNt

8M8OOO RMBOOO RMBOOO 8M8OOO RMBOOO

ktfIfIL A51IL AtSft AtYI
Atl Janeary2008 LUNt7tvB Bib 1006455

inrealised loss on cashtlow hedges UN UN BUN BiB

Note 38 11538
Realised gains on cashtlaw hedges UN El UN II 11

Note 38 11538
Loss for the

year UN

At31 December2008

1-H Bib 1006455 720057 195390 15350135 162591 27

At Jansary 2009 ft ft BIB 1006455 120051 195390 16350135 16259121

Unrealised
gain an cashflsw hedges SB BiB 151111

Note 38 11538 59384 59384

Realised loss an cashtlaw hedges UN lIBEl UN

Note 38 11538 1410 1410

IsseanceatnewsharesNote4O 5bNftPsN.11540 9341411 9341411

Profit tar the
year

51 1014021 1014021

At31 December2005

Bib 10341812 120051 131416 5216108 5185169

Group

Share Capital Hedgiog

premium Revaluatiuu reserve reserve Other Accumulated

Note 40 reserve Note Note 38 reserves lasses Total

Bfl BItIB BBNNIM

fltO IBIM 111b 11538 0BRNS lot

8M8OOO 8848000 8M8OOO HMBOOO 8848000 8848000 8M8OOO

AM111 AUNOJI ASSAil ASSAHI ASSAB ASSAB ASSAil

1006455 23016 720057 25030 22167 2013730 12506379

170525 170525

165 165

190001 t9000

152605321 152605321

1606455 23016 720057 195350 3067 10092262 17964351

1006455 23816 120051 195390 3081 18082262 11964351

59304 59304

1410 1410

49692 49692

585 585

9341411 9341411

160166 160166

10341812 23816 120051 131416 52194 11913496 8341141

Company

720057 25030 2472747 2211379

170525 170525

165 165

13877388 13877388

tBBBUN.tH111PilE n55jtUNfl 153
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41 RESERVES continued

Notes

41

Statutory and Discretionary Reserves

Pursuant to the PRC regulations and the Companies Articles of Association each of

the Group companies is required to transfer 10% of its profit for the year as

determined under the PRC Accounting Standards to statutory common reserve fund

until the fund balance exceeds 50% of the Group companys registered capital The

statutory common resenie fund can be used to make good previous years losses if

any and to issue new shares to shareholders in proportion to their existing

shareholdings or to increase the par value of the shares currently held by them

provided that the balance after such issue is not less than 25% of the registered

capital

Each of the Group companies is
permitted to transfer 5% of its profit for the

year as

determined under the PRC Accounting Standards to discretionay common reserve

fund The transfer to this reserve is subject to approval at shareholders meetings

No profit appropriation by the Company to the discretionary common reserve fund

was made for the year ended 31 December2009 f2008 nil

10% 3%kA1
50%

ff17 i7VIilh25%

57 57Iftn7
i57J7bh 5%

57I$M J757

Capita reserve WIV

Capital reserve represents
the difference between the fair value of the net assets

injected and the nominal amount of the Companys share capital issued in
respect of

group restructuring carried out in June 1996 for the purpose of the Companys

listing

42 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

In December 2006 the Board passed resolution to dispose of certain older

aircrafts and related flight equipments in the forthcoming 12-months Accordingly

these aircrafts together with related flight equipments and spare parts were

classified as non-current assets held for sale as at 31 December 2006 Since then

the Company has been
actively seeking buyers for these assets In December

2009 the Company signed sales and purchase agreement with
third-party

to

dispose these aircraft in 2010 An impairment loss of RMB35 million has been

recognised in the income statement in relation to these assets with reference to

the contract price Note 10

121_L
tfti %ff

5ll

42
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial fleporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 7E-I- Li

43 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Cash generated from operations

43 tIt

Profit/Ioss before income tax

Adjustments for

Depreciation of property plant and equipment

and intangible assets

Gains on disposals of property plant and

equipment

Share of results of associates

Share of results of jointly controlled entities

Amortisation of lease prepayments

Net foreign exchange gains

Amortisation of deferred revenue

Unrealised gain/loss arising from fair value

movements of financial derivatives

Consumption of flight equipment spare parts

Impairment provision of trade and

other receivables

Provision for post-retirement benefits

Provision for return condition checks for aircraft

and engines under operating leases

Impairment loss

Interest income

Interest expenses

Gain on disposal of an associate and

available-for-sale financial assets

tyj1Jfi
tT hi fiR

RI

TA At

fiR fA RI

q/flR

At At RI iR

fiR IA fiR

RI VRV tfl

RI VRS

IA IA At IA fA RI

249205 15256009

4755622

267084

69668

24050

25940

1970990

19965

Changes in working capital

Flight equipment spare parts

Trade receivables

Prepayments deposits and other receivables

Sales in advance of carriage

Trade payables and notes payables

Other payables and accrued expenses

Other long-term liabilities

Provision for return condition checks for aircraft

and engines under operating leases

Staff housing allowances

Post-retirement benefit obligations

Operating lease deposits

At IA IA

TI

IA At At Rh

IA IA IA IA

0001

2009

RMBOOO

2008

RMBOOO

5177149

46602

23803

25686

95379

71354

5333546

351151

8807

440878

588745

109417

109925

1754640

6400992

476282

39338

200603

618556

2976678

89275

2328147

Operating profit before working capital changes IA IA At II ffifi RI

13557

3260981 111560

2009

RMBOOO

2008

9MBOOO

465626

210188

540134

406305

1021365

481798

224075

275008

90514

106530

132644

Cash generated from operations

529068

922431

452548

197331

1792556

1928495

431956

41448

100428

90145

30348

246709 2830906

3507690 2942466

iiRiRAt 155
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 LIE

43 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

continued

Non-cash transactions

43

2009

RMBOOO

2008

RMBOOO

44 COMMITMENTS 44

Capital commitments

The Group and the Company had the following capital commitments

Authorised and contracted for

Aircraft engines and

flight equipment

Other property plant and

equipment

Authorised but not contracted for

Other property plant and

equipment

Investment

Group Company

Contracted expenditures for the above aircraft engines and flight

equipment including deposits prior to delivery subject
to future inflation

increases built into the contracts and any discounts available upon delivery

of the aircraft if any were expected to be paid as follows ojfl

Financing activities not affecting cash

Finance lease obligations incurred for

acquisition of aircraft 7964792

2009 2008 2009 2008

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AFtft

1J
TZ
ix

1x

74161006 52533736 74161006 52533736

544490 130180 544490 111810

74705496 52663916 74705496 52645546

3856033 5235712 3737320 4874680

2700100

3856033 5235712 6438020 4874680

78561529 57899628 81143516 57520226

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

qwj TTA WWii
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

A-77 A7c Afi A3F7t
Within one year 10480635 8852380 10480635 8852380

In the second year 11082051 13174190 11082051 13174190

In the third year 16661512 9051539 16661512 9051539

In the fourth year 18802713 9224482 18802713 9224482

Over four years 17134095 12231145 17134095 12231145

74161006 52533736 74161006 52533736
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Heporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 4VrtcMH SJ.ftt

44 COMMITMENTS continued 44 flt

OOcn

Operating ease cnmmitments ftfiwkr

As at the balance sheet date the Group and the Company had commitments

under operating leases to pay future minimum lease rentals as follows

oflM
IJnlTflttIt

fl

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

nflj1EjE nWWAt nfljtlj nfl\t
RMBOOO HMHOOO RMBOOO HMBOOO

Aflf AflC Aflfi6 Afl
Aircraft engines and

flight equipment

Within one year

In the second year

In the third to fifth year inclusive

After the fifth year

Land and buildings

Within one year

In the second year

In the third to fifth year inclusive

After the fifth year

tSflt

tt

CA

2404916 2671355 2134163 2145554

1901941 2330080 1828203 2008984

4468013 4598624 4370015 4432529

3398064 4100560 3356624 4028862

12172934 13700619 11689005 12615929

153453 202540 30592 46701

124160 124643 13024 21066

335059 325423 25890 16323

2404003 2398361 34915 29276

3016675 3050967 104421 113366

15189609 16751586 11793426 12729295

t1IW WJttt8 157
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial
Ileporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 H-I-i1J

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group is controlled by CEA Holding which owns approximately 50.42% of the

Companys shares as at 31 December 20092008 59.67%

Related party transactions

Ijo
50.42%A

59.67%

R\

With CEA Holding or companies directly or

indirectly held by CEA Holding

Income/expense or paymentsA/I

Interest income on deposits at an average rate

of 0.36% per annum 2008 0.36%
per annum

ii0.36
36 1%

Interest expense on loans at rate of 4.67%

per annum 2008 4.87% per annum

IJ4.67J
j4.87J%

Commission expense on air tickets sold on behalf

of the Group at rates ranging from 3% to 9% of

the value of tickets sold

3%9%

Handling charges of 0.1% to 2% for purchase of

aircraft flight equipment flight equipment spare

parts other property plant
and equipment

Repairs and maintenance expense for aircraft

and engines

Kunming Dongmei Aviation Travel Co Ltd

SDATC

Shanghai Tourism HK Co Ltd

45

Nature of transaction Related party 2009 2008

ttL
RMBOOO RMBOOO

EAGF

EAGF

17536

148648

11697

3996

30766

22267

11468

610

52 1696

48489 47257

60598 64653

137273 131081

Wheels Brakes

STA

1%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS fl fl

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued 45

Related party transactions continued

Incomelexpense or payments

Nature of transaction Related party 2009 2008AR
RMBOOO RMBOOO

Supply of food and beverages Shanghai Eastern Air Catering Co Ltd 238772 267117

Xian Eastern Air Catering
Investment Co Ltd 37834 36526

Yunnan Eastern Air Catering Investment 31812 40836

Co Ltd

Qingdao Eastern Air Catering Investment 24583 27480

Co Ltd

Wuxi Eastern Air Catering and Beverage 15249 15183

Investment Co Ltd

Wuhan Eastern Air Catering Investment 14943 14718

Co Ltd

Ningbo Eastern Air Catering Investment 14666 14071

Co Ltd

Jiangxi
Eastern Air

Catering
Investment 13468 12105

Co Ltd

Anhui Eastern Air Catering Investment 11624 10838

Co Ltd

Shanxi Eastern Air Catering Investment 10667 40181

Co Ltd

Gansu Eastern Air Catering Investment 10333 7952

Co Ltd

Qilu Eastern Air
Catering

Investment 7371 7546

Co Ltd

Heibei Eastern Air Catering Investment 5235 1902

Co Ltd

Shanghai Meixin Eastern Air Catering 4010 3233

Investment Co Ltd

Yantai Eastern Air
Catering

Investment 229 144

Co Ltd

Wuxi Eastern Air Catering Investment 504 335

Co Ltd
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 tt YL-j--H/-- II

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued

Related party transactions continued

45

Nature of transaction

Disposal of an associate

ftl

Advertising expense

Automobile maintenance fee

Equipment maintenance fee

Land and building rental

Related party

CEA Holding

CMSC

CEA Development Co Ltd

Shanghai Eastern Aviation Equipment

Manufacturing Corporation

CEA Holding

lncome/expense or payments

Balances with related companies

Amounts due from related companies JA

2009.ji
RMBOOO

2008

RMBOOO

33972

13002 3595

32301 23595

5258 8958

55140 55399

Group

Nature Company 2009 2008 2009 2008

RMBIOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOOAI AII

Company

Trade receivables Note 26

I.I26

Prepayments deposits

and other receivables

Note 27

13177

11012

3164

13234

5028 13171

11012 11012

9714 3164

759421

17246 15287

5028

11012

9714

730978

51031

Kunming Dongmei Aviation Travel

Co Ltd

Shanghai Eastern Aviation

International Travel and

Transportation Co Ltd

fl

RI

SDATC

China Cargo

Others

II

EAIEC

Eastern China Kaiya System

Integration

RI

China Cargo

CEAWuhan

1111
Others

II

40587 43000 802067 807763

52016 181788 51909 181788

4613 2871 4239 2871

590915 389981

679888 191286

4168 4719 2438 6396

61391 189378 1329389 772322
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009

Except for the amounts due to CEA Holding which are

reimbursement in nature all other amounts due to related companies

are trade in nature Except for the notes payable to which are

with discount rates ranging from 1.74% to 2.70% 2008 3.30% to

5.91% and repayable within six months all other amounts due to

related companies are interest free and payable within normal credit

terms given by trade creditors

M1.74%2.70%AM
3.3O%5.91%FM2F
1tF

Mi lE

P13k

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued 45 Mi

Balances with related companies continued

Amounts due from related companies continued fMM PRAM

All the amounts due from related companies are trade in nature

interest free and payable within normal credit terms given to trade

customers

ii Amounts due to related companies

Nature Company

MiFF F0MM

ii fR

CompanyGroup

2009 2008 2009 2008

tLM MWAF WWL MA
RMBOJJO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOOAMJ AFfF

Trade payables and

notes payable Note 29

Mi Mi

FF29

Other payables
and accrued

expenses Note 30

Mi

907817 1507760 803524 1448477

94215 148471 94215 148471

1115 665 1115 665

1616 4216 1616 4216

140 16353 140 16353

131909 65895

10420 138230

8180 14968 41751 28663

EAIEC

Shanghai Eastern Air Catering

Co Ltd

RI

Yunnan Eastern Air Catering

Investment Co Ltd

1RI

Yunnan Eastern China
Kaiya System

Integration Co Ltd

MM ML

Wheels Brakes

RI

CEA Jiangsu

MM
Eastern Logistic

M31RJRL

Others

CEA Holding

CEA Northwest Co Ltd

MM JR

Eastern China
Kaiya System

Integration Co Ltd

MM MM Mi

MM
EAIEC

MFMFFF
CEA Jiangsu

MM
Others

MM

1013143 1692433 1090756 1850870

122257 69497 122257 69497

8000 8000 8000 8000

3376 11334 3376 11344

10106 10106

8174 113258

2626 7953 204926 99233

136259 106890 346133 311438
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 E-1-

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIIONS continued

Balances with related companies continued

iii Short-term deposits and borrowings with an associate and CEA

Holding

45

dh%
iii

Guarantees by holding company

As at 31 December 2009 bank loans of the Companys subsidiaries with an

aggregate amount of F1MB447 million 12008 RMB957 million were

guaranteed by CEA Holding Note 321

Key management compensation

t1hiit4

A9.57b

2009

RMBOOO

1374

1350

2008

RMBOOO

977

1234

2724 2211

46 ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The Directors regard CEA Holding state-owned enterprise established in the

PRC as being the ultimate holding company

46 MLl
ff10

Average interest rate Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

TAhi zUt
RMHOhJO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBUOO

/7r Affff

Short-term deposits lincluded

in Prepayments Deposits

and Other Receivables

EAGF

Short-term loans included in

Borrowings
EAGF

Long-term
loans included in

Borrowings EAGF

Long-term loans included in

Borrowings
CEA

Holding

0.40% 0.40% 465238 1202892 42661 427363lb lb lb lb lb

lb hi lb lb lb lb

lb lb lb

lb lb lb lb lb lb lb

lb lb lb lb lb lb lb

lb lb lb lb lb lb lb

lb lb i% lb lb

4.40% 4.30% 595110 295181 515110 295181

4.61% 4.87% 230000

4.61% 4.87% 162000 162000

Directors and supervisors Note 9a

Senior management

tbyI
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

00016
Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009

41 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 47

The family members of certain victims in the aircraft accident the aircraft was

then owned and operated by China Eastern Air Yunnan Company which occurred

in Baotou on 21 November 2004 sued the Company in U.S court for

compensation After the case entered the procedures on appeal the California

Court of Appeal dismissed the appeal of the plaintiff
and affirmed the original

order Subsequent to that on 16 March 2009 the plaintiff sued the Company in

the Beijing
No Intermediate Peoples Court On 18 August 2009 Beijing

No

Intermediate Peoples Court accepted the case Legal documents including

summons prosecution notifications and others have been served on the Company

Trial is yet to begin The management of the Group believes that any outcome for

this case will not have an adverse effect on the financial condition and results of

operations of the Company

As at 31 December 2009 except of the above the Group was not involved in any

other litigation
arbitration or claim of material importance

48 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On 10 July 2009 the Company entered into an absorption agreement the

Absorption Agreement with Shanghai Airlines Co Ltd Shanghai Airlines in

relation to proposed acquisition of Shanghai Airlines the Proposed

Acquisition Pursuant to the Absorption Agreement the Company will issue

maximum of 1694838860 Shares of the Company to the shareholders of

Shanghai Airlines in exchange for all the
existing

issued shares of Shanghai

Airlines On October 2009 the Company convened the relevant shareholders

meeting in which the Proposed Acquisition was approved

On 30 December 2009 the Proposed Acquisition was approved by CSRC On 28

January 2010 the Acquisition Date the Company issued 1694838860

Shares to the shareholders of Shanghai Airlines in exchange for all issued shares

of Shanghai Airlines
resulting

in Shanghai Airlines becoming wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities the Acquired Assets and

Liabilities of Shanghai Airlines as at the Acquisition Date were estimated by the

Board through valuation conducted by an independent valuer in respect
of the

Acquired Assets and Liabilities as at 31 December 2009

29

A.CbSff WLbIE

iH--E--

48

om
-T 1694838860 I-bJuYL fL

fo
1694838860thb

iti
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2009 flE1--- iL7

48

Carrying

Amount

RMBOOO

Fair

Value

RMBOOO

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Property plant and equipment

Lease prepayments

Advances payments on acquisition of aircraft

Investment in an associates

Investment in jointly controlled entities

Available-for-sale financial assets

Other long term assets

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Flight equipment spare parts

Trade receivables

Prepayments deposits and other receivables

Cash and cash
equivalents

Total assets

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Sales in advance of carriage

Trade payables and notes payable

Other payables and accrued expenses

Current portion of obligations under finance leases

Current portion of borrowings

Income tax payable

Current
portion

of
provision for return condition

checks for aircraft under
operating

leases

Derivative liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Obligations under finance leases

Borrowings

Provision for return condition checks for aircraft

under operating leases

Other long-term liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Post-retirement benefit obligations

Total liabilities

Net liabilities

Minority interests

Net liabilities acquired

tt
ft Ij

J_

fth tf

Il
l7

filL /J P1 7J

IluI
Tk

11

48 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS continued

The carrying amount and fair value of the Acquired Assets and Liabilities

provisionally determined are as follows

Assets

21352

10274572

115804

1072367

59714

19184

181780

526659

510

21352

8549043

551336

1072367

59714

19184

181780

526659

510

12271942 10981945

333043 333043

698362 698362

1398095 1398095

1167565 1167565

3597065 3597065

5869007 14579010

311170 311170

1383575 1383575

2492280 2492280

73691 73691

5711604 5711604

16433 16433

46378 46378

18004 18004

10053135 10053135

1010646 1010646

4209955 4209955

639556 639556

248218 248218

1163 1163

417369 417369

6526907 6526907

6580042 16580042

711035 2001032

53920 53920

764955 2054952
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 000

The following consolidated financial information is extracted from the consolidated ff1 tiff tiff ti

financial statements of the Group prepared under the PRC Accounting Standards Ph

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT Ii

Prepared in accordance with PHC Accounting Standards 51 5555

Forthewc/od3//ecember2I1/Y9 --ii tEE --

2009 2008

A55
RMBOOO RMBUOO

Revenue 39831331 41842361

Less Cost of operation tiff 55 55 37248315 43075888

Taxes and levies 5555 55 1018791 891064

Selling and distribution expenses 55 55 2969537 2522136

General and administrative expense 555555 1538851 1524864

Finance expenses net 5555 55 5555 1639336 357410

Impairment loss 5555115555 118224 2022178

Add Fair value gain/floss 5555555555 /55 55 3774688 6400992

Investment loss/income 5555 55 55 /5555 22149 105837

Operating loss 949790 14846334

Add Non-operating income 55 55 555555 1604096 906238

Less Non-operating expenses 55 55 555555 14185 45012

Total profit/Ioss 640121 13985108

Less Income tax tiff 55555555 80874 60795

Net profit/floss 55 /55 55 tiff 559241 14045903

Attribute to

Equity
holders of the Company 55 ff155555555 539743 13927656

Minorityinterests 5555555555 19504 118247

559247 14045903

M15555 55L5555 165
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SUPPLEMENTARY HNANCAL NFORMATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET Ih

Prepared in accordance with PRC Accounting Standards

Fort/e/earendY/crner2/Yg ALA AAJc

2009 2008

Wjt1E AA
RMBOOO RMBOOU

Assets

Total current assets 6863939 10401069

Long-term investment 1152521 1373356

Fixed assets construction in progress Iii 61578262 58807070

Intangible assets non-current assets 2366518 2524594

Deferred tax assets lft 57441 77917

Total assets -1- 72018681 73184006

Liabilities shareholders equity Jj

Current liabilities 35663041 54076709

Non-current liabilities 5it 32690973 30120909

Deferred tax liabilities II 51539 51539

Total liabilities -1- 68405553 84249157

Minority interests 509543 534195

Total shareholders
equity 3103585 11599346

Total equity 3613128 11065151

Total liabilities shareholders equity j- 72018681 73184006
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SUPPLEMENTARY HNANGAL NFORMA11ON

SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN NTERNATWNAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS FRS AND PRC

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Groups accounting policies which conform with IFRS differ in certain aspects

from PRC Accounting Regulations Differences between IFRS and PRC Accounting

Standards which have significant effect on the consolidated profit/Ioss

attributable to equity holders and consolidated net assets of the Group are

summarised as follows

00017

SSSa4aSSQP511S
51

nwasnt

Consolidated profit/loss aftrihutable to

equity holders of the Company

As stated in accordance with

PRC Accounting Standards

Impact of IFRS and other adjustments

Difference in depreciation
and impairment

charges for flight equipment due to different

depreciation lives used previously

Difference in depreciation and impairment

charges for aircraft and engines due to

different depreciation lives

Provision for post-retirement benefits

Difference in goodwill impairment

Reversal of additional amortisation due to the

revaluation
surplus relating to land use rights

Dthers

Deferred tax adjustments

Minority interests

145 51 51

1ff

nan
514$nan

iamaan
14 am

$5
n$Afl

2009

Note RMBXO

fl AflfJ5

2008

I9M8OOO

383192

110458

688311

8420

37178

13121

56854

539143 13927656

55406 134538

51

9582

334348

8420

28321

8388

As stated in accordance with IFRS 145 5551 511 168166 5268532

Consolidated net assets attrihutahle to equity 41 41 1ff

holders of the Company 41

As stated in accordance with St St 51 51

PRO Accounting Standards 3103585 11599346

Impact of IRS and other adjustments 51515 S14
Difference in depreciation

and impairment 1ff

charges for flight equipment due to ff111145 51 SQ 115 114

different depreciation lives used previously
14183 129589

Difference in depreciation and impairment 5151 114 ii fit

charges for aircraft and engines due to SIT tt 115 SQ 114 ifi

different depreciation lives as as iff 93129 103311

Provision for post-retirement benefits fi 1849933 151 5585

Reversal of revaluation surplus relating to 115 it it

land use rights
360626 369046

Dthers 5111
19393 79393

Deferred tax adjustments 1114 SQ 5155 51t
26301 2020

Minority interests 51 515155515 51 61915 76303

As stated in accordance with IFRS 55 551514% 51515 $511 5155 1234553 13097401

nr5ft5.5 5517
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS IFRS AND PRC

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS continued

Prior to 15 February 2006 under the PRC Accounting Standards rotables

were classified as current assets and the costs are amortised on straight-

line basis over period of years Under IFRS rotables were accounted for

as property plant and equipment and were depreciated on straight-line

basis to write off the cost to their residual value over their estimated useful

lives and annual provision for scrap was made Since January 2007 under

the PRC Accounting Standards rotables have been classified as property

plant and equipment and is depreciated over 10 years Under IFRS the

useful life of rotables was also changed to 10 years with no further annual

provision for scraps in 2007 This change of accounting estimate was

applied prospectively Despite the useful life of rotables has been unified

under IFRS and the PRC Accounting Standards from 2007 the carrying

amounts of rotables at the time of the change were different under IFRS

and the PRC Accounting Standards These differences will be reduced

progressively
in the coming years and will be fully eliminated when the

related assets are fully depreciated or disposed

Under the PRC Accounting Standards on or before 30 June 2001

depreciation of aircraft was calculated to write off their costs on straight-

line basis over their expected useful lives of 10 to 15 years to their residual

values of 3% With effect from July 2001 depreciation of aircraft under

the PRC Accounting Standards was aligned with that under IFRS and is

calculated to write off their costs on straight-line basis over their

expected useful lives of 15 to 20 years to their residual values of 5% of

costs the change was applied prospectively which resulted in the

difference in the carrying amounts under IFFIS and the PRC Accounting

Standards These differences will be reduced
progressively

in the coming

years and will be fully eliminated when the related assets are fully

depreciated or disposed

Under the PRC Accounting Standards employees post-retirement benefits

are recognised upon payment Under IFRS such post-retirement benefits

under defined benefit schemes are required to be recognised over the

employees service period using projected unit credit method

The basis of recognising the value of underlying assets and liabilities

acquired in
prior years was different under IFFIS and the PRC Accounting

Standards Accordingly the amount and impairment of goodwill was

different

Ij
LjIj

hUffft

Ijo
$jo -l---H 1-
tIj1

-Ef--

Ij
7tff

-I

$ffi
1520flfttff

$iI1iT

ci tIiTiI
tIjIj%

5ft71IH mt
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS IFRS AND PRC

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS continued

Under the PRC Accounting Standards the land use rights inlected by the

parent company as capital
contribution upon restructuring

for
listing are

stated at valuation less accumulated amortisation Under IERS the land use

rights are recorded as prepaid operating leases at historical cost which was

nil at the time of listing

In addition of the above the application of IFRS differ in certain other

respects from the PRC Accounting Standards

This represents the corresponding deferred tax effects related to the items

above

This represents the corresponding impact minority interest related to the

items above

0001 7J

1i12i
1k

iff.
LftI
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Liu Shaoyong Chairman P1 P1
Li JunVice Chairman

Ma Xulun Director President P1 P1 1P1 P11P1
Luo Chaogeng Director P1 P1 P11 P1
Luo Zhuping Director Company Secretary P1 P1 P1 1$ P1 P1

Wu Baiwang Independent Non-executive Director P1 P1 P1 QP1 P1 P1
Xie Hong Independent Non-executive Director P1 P1 P1P1 P1P1 P1
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Yan Taisheng Supervisor P1 P1 P1 P1
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Li Yangrnin Vice President P1 P1 P1 P1IP11IP1

Fan RuVice President P1

Zhao Jinyu Vice President P1 P1 P1 P1/P11
Tang BingVice President P1

Wu Yongliang Chief Financial Officer P1 P1 P1 flP11
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LuoZhuping P1P1P1
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Liu Shaoyong P1 P1 P1
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CORPORATEINFORMATION 0001

AUDITORS

International Auditor PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

22nd Floor Princes Building

Central Hong Kong

Domestic Auditor PricewaterhouseCoopers ff1

Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company fT

11/F PricewaterhouseCoopers Center

2O2HuBinRoad

Shanghai 200021 202

PRC

200021

LEGAL ADVISERS

Hong Kong BakerMcKenzie

USA BakerMcKenzie

China
Beijing

Commerce Finance Law Office ff1 iT

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Shanghai Branch IL f1

China Construction Bank Shanghai Branch 13

The Bank of China Shanghai Branch

SHARE REGISTRAR fT

Hong Kong Registrars Limited

Rooms 1712-1716 17th Floor Hopewell Centre

183 Queens Road East Hong Kong

The Bank of New York The Bank of New York

101 Barclay Street 101 Barclay Street

New York NY 10286 USA New York NY 10286 USA

China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation Limited fIB

Shanghai Branch

166 East Lu Jiazui Road Pudong New Area Shanghai 11 166 fL
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CORPORATE INFORMA1IONj4

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Since July 2009 the principal place of business in Hong Kong has been changed

to Unit 31/F United Centre 95 Queensway Hong Kong

CUSTODIAN FOR LISTED SHARES WITH TRADING MORATORIUM

China Securities Depository and
Clearing Corporation Limited

Shanghai Branch

F1ANEOF BUSINESS LICENSE REGISTRATION

The Company changed its business license
registration

due to changes in the

registered capithl of the Company

Registered capital
of the Company is RMB9.5817 billion at the end of the

Reporting Period

Business License Registration Number of the Corporation Legal Person

310000400111686

Tax Registration Number 310046741602981

2D0973C

ffflL

\95.817
310000400111686

310046741602981

Shareholders can obtain copy of the Companys annual report for the year 2009 through the Internet addresses shown below

http//www.ceair.com httpI/www.irasia.com/Iistco/hk/chinaeast
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